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At a Glance
CBI offers a comprehensive 

portfolio of banking products,  
as well as tailor-made 
financial solutions in 

Wholesale, Retail  
and Islamic Banking, ranging  
from lending, trade services,  

cash management and 
Treasury & Markets

solutions to personal account 
services and credit cards.



AED 11.8 Billion
Gross Loans & Advances

AED 12.6 Billion
Customer Deposits

AED 20.8 Billion
Total Assets
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Fitch BBB+  

[Stable Outlook]

Net Operating Income

AED 630 Million
Net Profit

AED 131 Million 
(+288%)
Revenue

AED 832 Million
Capital Adequacy Ratio

14.8%

01
Financial 
Highlights
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 Message



CBI has emerged as a 
stronger and more 
focused UAE bank in 
2021, ensuring a solid 
foundation to deliver 
sustainable long-term 
growth, high quality 
services for our 
customers, and strong 
results for our 
shareholders and the  
UAE economy.

In 2021, we have acquired new 
clients and deepened our existing 
relationships through our continued 
focus on engagement, technological 
enhancement, and excellence in 
customer service and support, 
establishing a more agile and client-
centric banking proposition. 

Our heightened customer focus was 
also evident through our continued 
support and involvement in the UAE 
Central Bank’s Targeted Economic 
Support Scheme (TESS), which 
provided additional relief for our 
customers, to help them better 
address the challenges resulting 
from the pandemic.

In line with our strategic priorities, 
our Bank-wide technological 
transformation gathered pace in 
2021, exemplified by our increasingly 
efficient digital client services and 
the Bank’s involvement alongside six 
other major banks in UAE Trade 
Connect, a new blockchain-based 
national trade finance platform 
launched by Etisalat.

We have also continued to invest in 
the development of our Emirati 
talent, through recruitment and 
advancing our ‘Banking on Emiratis’ 
leadership and training programme.

Our focus in the year ahead will be to 
build upon the successes we 
achieved in 2021, by strongly 
supporting our corporate and retail 
customers to help them realise their 
ambitions and dreams, through our 
client centric business model and 
excellent services, while continuing 
to support the development and 
growth of the UAE economy.

CBI delivered a stellar performance in 
2021, despite a challenging operating 
environment, substantially growing our 
business and profitability, and providing 
our customers with excellent services.

“

“

In this landmark year for CBI, I wish to 
express the Board’s gratitude to our 
executive management for their 
astute decision-making and 
leadership, as well as to our 
employees for their hard work and 
resilience in what remains a 
challenging operating environment 
for our Bank and our industry.

In addition, I would like to express my 
deep appreciation for His Highness 
Sheikh Khalifa bin Zayed Al Nahyan, 
President of the UAE, and the leaders 
of the Emirates – His Highness Sheikh 
Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum, 
Vice President and Prime Minister of 
the UAE and Ruler of Dubai; His 
Highness Sheikh Saud bin Saqr Al 
Qasimi, Ruler of Ras Al Khaimah; and 
His Highness Sheikh Mohammed bin 
Saud bin Saqr Al Qasimi, Crown 
Prince of Ras Al Khaimah, for their 
exceptional leadership during this 
challenging period.

Saif Ali Al Shehhi
Chairman
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The past year has marked 
a successful period for 
CBI, as we have 
substantially grown our 
business and delivered 
exceptional results across 
all key performance 
metrics, safeguarding 
long-term value for our 
customers and 
shareholders.

By remaining steadfast in the face of 
continued market disruption, whilst 
leveraging the economic rebound 
witnessed in 2021, we maintained 
our robust strategic trajectory to 
diversify revenue streams, 
successfully mitigate major credit, 
market and operational risks, and 
continue to improve our customer 
services through our focus on digital 
transformation.

We have been successful in striking 
the right balance between growth 
and risk management, maintaining 
our BBB+ stable outlook rating from 
Fitch Ratings. By leveraging our 
relationship management credentials 
and expertise, we have grown our 
assets and loan books substantially 
and funded the growth through 
customer deposits. 

We have also driven increasing value 
creation by delivering further cost 
efficiency improvements during the 
year, streamlining our processes with 
a focus on digital platforms and 
improving turnaround times to boost 
customer satisfaction and 
profitability. 

Strong Financial Performance
We have grown our assets by 21.3% 
to AED 20.8 billion in 2021, mainly 
through expanding our loan 
portfolio, which increased by 13.6% 
year on year to AED 11.8 billion. The 
growth in our lending mainly 
originated from our corporate 
banking franchise, which remains 
core to our strategy. We have 
managed to fund the expansion in 
assets and loans through growth in 
our customer deposits, which grew 
by 20.0% year-on-year to AED 12.6 
billion. 

Asset quality and effective risk 
management have continued to be 
among our key strategic priorities 
and focus areas. By implementing 
prudent credit risk management 
practices, we have reduced our  
credit provisions by 50.5% to AED 
198 million.

As a result of the growth in our 
assets and loans, and stronger risk 
management driving lower credit 
provisions, our profitability in 2021 
was marked by a phenomenal 288% 
increase in net profit over 2020 to 
reach AED 131 million. We have 

generated a net operating income  
of AED 631 million, and our 
operating expenses have been AED 
201 million. Meanwhile, our capital 
adequacy ratio (CAR) remains strong 
at 14.78% and we have ample 
liquidity to fund further loan growth. 

A Year of Strategic Progress
Our Retail Banking Group (RBG) 
continued to leverage its robust 
strategy in 2021 to secure continued 
growth within our key CBI First and 
Edge client segments, capitalising on 
the improving market throughout 
the year. 

With an increasing transition and 
focus away from unsecured lending 
to secured lending and continued 
focus on our top-tier and affluent 
client base, RBG achieved 
considerable progress in funding and 
liabilities, as liquidity rebounded 
progressively throughout 2021. 

We continued to deepen our 
Wholesale Banking customer 
relationships throughout 2021, 
acquiring new clients and growing 
our corporate loan book, as 
economic recovery gathered pace. 

Powered by our strategy combining 
aggressive and low-risk lending, 
focused particularly on government 
and public sector entities, the 
Wholesale Banking Group 
successfully boosted its healthy 

Placing our customers at the heart of everything 
we do, and providing them with creative, 
innovative and results-oriented financing 
solutions, has enabled us to differentiate 
successfully from our competitors and deliver 
strong results in 2021.

“

“
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assets to deliver sustainable 
profitability achieving a strong 
performance in 2021. 

Meanwhile, our Treasury & Markets 
business maintained its stable 
trajectory and prudent liquidity 
management to increase 
net income by 42.40% from the 
previous year, capitalising on the low 
interest rate environment to raise 
liabilities at a lower cost, and 
prioritising close relationship 
management and client engagement 
to increase our share from our 
customers’ banking needs and 
maximise our overall market share.

Progressing our Digitisation 
Agenda
A continuing theme across the Bank 
in 2021 was the consistent 
advancement of our digitisation 
ambitions, as our recent investments 
in a variety of digitisation initiatives 
resulted in an increasing rate of 
migration to digital banking channels 
among our key client segments. 

The transition from customer-facing 
touchpoints to online service 
windows among our Retail Banking 
clients continued apace in 2021, 
complemented by a major milestone 
achieved in our Electronic Banking 
Unit (EBU) Transformation Project 
that saw the conversion of a fully 
operational physical branch in Al Ain 
to a digital branch in Q4. 

The EBU concept features a Get 
Connected wall, which supports 
screen–mobile connectivity to 
provide a full range of banking 
services. Furthermore, the 
accelerating pace of our digitisation 
activities brought increasing 

efficiency to our Wholesale Banking 
Group operations, boosting the 
quality of our customer services 
across all transactional banking 
products.

Supporting our People
The health, safety and well-being of 
our people and customers remained 
a key priority for CBI throughout 
2021, with new COVID-19 strains 
creating further disruption as the 
year progressed. We continued to 
deliver comprehensive vaccination 
campaigns and protective measures 
for our employees to safely return to 
the office. 

We also maintained our flexible and 
remote working arrangements, 
where required, and continued to 
invest heavily in technological 
infrastructure to ensure the 
resilience of our operations and 
client services. 

Charting a Path to Sustainable 
Growth in 2022
CBI enters 2022 on a robust growth 
path, as we continue to focus on the 
key foundations of our long-term 
profitability and our comprehensive 
range of initiatives to deliver the 
bank of tomorrow. 

As we begin this exciting phase of 
growth, we will continue to build on 
the success achieved in diversifying 
our Wholesale Banking Group 
portfolio, whilst also capitalising on 
improved cross-selling opportunities 
going forward. 

We are  committed to further 

enhancing our customer-centric 
service offering through the 
progressive digitisation of our 
banking channels, with a concerted 
focus on meeting the evolving 
requirements of our corporate and 
high-net-worth clients. 

As we grow with our customers, 
while mitigating risks to achieve 
resilience in a volatile environment, 
CBI will deliver on its commitments 
by securing increasingly stable and 
profitable long-term returns for our 
shareholders. 

Acknowledgements
As we take stock of our extensive 
achievements in 2021 and prepare  
to capitalise on the momentum 
generated to achieve further growth 
in the coming year, I wish to express 
my appreciation to the Central Bank 
of the UAE for their continued 
support and guidance, our 
shareholders, Board of Directors,  
our customers and other 
stakeholders for their continued 
trust in CBI and our vision for a 
future-ready bank.

I am also indebted to our 
shareholders for their ongoing 
support, and to our dedicated 
employees across the Bank for their 
staunch commitment and dedication 
to our collective goals in another 
challenging year.

Together, we continue to build the 
CBI of the future as a cohesive and 
unified team, fit to capture the many 
opportunities available in our rapidly 
changing industry in the years to 
come.

Ali Sultan Rakkad Al Amri
Chief Executive Officer
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CBI’s corporate  
strategy consists of three 

pillars – Streamline, 
Focus & Grow – to chart  
a course for the Bank to 
sustainable growth and 
value creation for our 

shareholders as well as 
our people, customers 

and community.

STREAMLINE 
•	 Optimise capital allocation.
•	 Strengthen assets quality.
•	 Improve cost efficiency.
•	 Optimise distribution channels.

Optimise Capital Allocation
•	 We will allocate our capital to areas that  

deliver the highest risk-adjusted returns.

•	 In Wholesale Banking Group, we will continue 
to rationalise the loan portfolio.

•	 In Retail Banking Group (RBG), we will focus  
on liabilities and secured lending.

•	 We will dispose of non-core assets and re-
deploy the capital to higher yielding assets.

Strengthen Asset Quality
•	 We will improve the risk adjusted returns  

on capital.

•	 We will increase the weightage of secured 
lending and de-prioritise unsecured lending.

Improve Cost Efficiency
•	 We will improve our cost income ratio through 

sustainable cost savings, optimisation, 
streamlining, digitisation and productivity 
enhancements.

•	 We will continue to re-design our branches  
to offer best-in-class services and experiences 
to our customers.

•	 We will reduce bureaucracy and streamline our 
processes and procedures.
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FOCUS 
•	 Focus on priority customers and segmentation.
•	 Differentiate through customer experience.
•	 Establish long-term, value-adding customer 

relationships.

Focus on Priority Customers and Segmentation
•	 We will implement a “customer experience” 

focused strategy and provide target customer 
segments with superior services.

•	 We will place our customers at the centre of 
everything we do.

•	 As a relationship focused Bank, we will build 
and retain long-term relationships with our 
target customers. 

GROW 
•	 Diversify and increase revenues.
•	 Acquire and retain upwardly mobile clients.
•	 Invest in digital and affluent banking.
•	 Grow product and service offerings.
•	 Invest in our people, UAE Nationals and 

community.

Diversify & Increase Revenues
•	 We will penetrate our existing relationships  

and focus on cross-sale.

•	 In Wholesale Banking, we will expand the size 
of our top tier clients, by new-to-bank 
acquisitions  
and deepening our existing relationships.

•	 In Retail Banking, we will continue to grow our 
CBI First customer base. We will focus on 
building our newly launched Edge segment, to 
feed into the growth of CBI First and capture 
our target customers’ life cycles.

•	 We will enhance our digital banking capabilities.  
We will use our digital channels not only to 
serve our existing customers better, but also to 
acquire new customers.

•	 We will increase our revenues, by growth  
in both assets and commission generating 
products and services, such as trade services, 
transaction banking, cash management,  
foreign exchange, remittances and insurance.

Invest in Our People and Community
•	 We will invest in our people by developing  

and implementing world-class talent 
management practices, and executing learning  
and development strategies.

•	 We will continue to prioritise our Emiratisation 
strategy.

•	 We will transform the Bank’s culture to enable 
a client-centric, collaborative and high-
performance organisation.

•	 We will continue to invest into the community  
and help support the development of the UAE 
economy.
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WBG Performance in 2021
As market activity across all sectors 
gradually returned toward pre-
pandemic levels in 2021, supported 
by rising vaccination rates and a 
return to day-to-day business 
operations, and boosted by the 
successful launch of Expo 2020 
Dubai, WBG leveraged the stable 
foundations established in the 
previous year to capitalise on the 
return to growth. 

The Group succeeded in normalising 
its operations by implementing a 
strategy combining aggressive and 
low-risk lending targeting 
government and a broad range of 
public sector entities, as projects 
began to revive, leading to asset 
book growth, the acquisition of new 
clients and exceptional lending levels 
in Q4 2021. 

This approach was complemented by 
our continued focus on maintaining 
liquidity, closing the year with a 
record-high Eligible Liquid Assets 
Ratio (ELAR) of AED 3,870 million 
(21.58%). With possible rate hikes on 
the horizon, this surplus liquidity 
provides CBI with the confidence and 
flexibility to adapt to a higher 
interest environment.

Net income from Wholesale Banking 
totalled AED 228.9 million in 2021, 
compared to net income of AED 
279.2 million in the previous year, 
representing a 18% fall over that of 
2020. 

The robust Balance Scorecard 
approach introduced in 2020 to 
measure KPIs in a more efficient and 
accurate manner provided enhanced 
visibility on WBG’s performance over 
the year. This best practice approach 
leverages metrics based on financial 
performance and non-financial 
parameters that reflect evolving UAE 
Central Bank regulations and more 
stringent compliance benchmarks. 

Building on the proactive client engagement and perceptive liquidity management undertaken since the onset  
of the pandemic, the Wholesale Banking Group and Treasury & Markets was ideally positioned in 2021 to 
capitalise on the green shoots of economic recovery seen throughout the year.

Ensuring High Quality Customer 
Engagement
Customer engagement remains a key 
focus for WBG. We continue to 
explore and develop innovative 
methods of communication to 
optimise efficiency, whilst delivering 
exceptional client relationship 
management to better understand 
our customers’ requirements and 
provide smart and bespoke solutions 
to them. Our involvement in Bank-
wide technological transformation 
and innovation continued in 2021, 
including through an engagement 
alongside six other major banking 
partners in UAE Trade Connect, the 
national trade finance platform led 
by Etisalat. The platform leverages 
blockchain in the trade services space 
to authenticate and validate trade 
documents, prevent  fraud and 
shorten turnaround times, delivering 
an efficient and seamless service for 
its banking partners.

Our dedication to customer 
engagement continued in 2021, 
resulting in an increasing share-of-
wallet, while the accelerating pace  
of our technological and digital 
development activities brought 
increasing efficiency to WBG 
operations and the quality of services 
across our existing transactional 
banking products. 

The technological enhancements 
implemented throughout the 
COVID-19 pandemic have provided a 
valuable platform from which to 
achieve business continuity amid the 
unprecedented headwinds facing the 
banking sector. Nonetheless, as 
vaccination rates climbed, the return 
to face-to-face interaction with key 
clients through a hybrid remote-
physical working model from Q3 
2021 provided a welcome 
opportunity to accelerate growth 
through our key client relationships 
in H2. 

Our new hybrid model, which 
balances dynamic digital 
communication channels with 
pre-pandemic face-to-face 
interaction, has served to establish a 
more customer-centric and efficient 
approach to client engagement, 
whilst maintaining the personal 
nature of our relationships. 

CBI Wholesale Banking in 2022
As business momentum gathers pace 
in the coming year, leveraging a 
robust pipeline of opportunities 
generated in H2 2021, we expect 
exponential improvement 

We’ve leveraged the stable 
foundations established in the 
previous year to capitalise on the 
return to growth.

“

“

WHOLESALE BANKING GROUP AND TREASURY & MARKETS
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throughout 2022. WBG is ideally 
positioned to capitalise on this 
resurgence in growth, building on 
the progress achieved across all 
aspects of our operations. 

Furthermore, building on the success 
achieved by the Group in balancing 
its physical and virtual client 
interactions, we envisage a large-
scale IT framework overhaul in 2022 
to further support our new hybrid-
working model, leading to 
personalised service complemented 
by significant cost optimisation – 
reflecting a Bank-wide focus and a 
key element across our culture and 
processes.

Above all, WBG remains committed 
to our energetic approach to 
business development and 
relationship management, through 
which we will continue to improve 
our asset quality by onboarding new 
high-quality assets, while also 
enhancing capital and delivering 
further top line growth for the Bank.

Treasury & Markets 
Treasury & Markets remained 
committed to our strategy of 
prudent liquidity management and 
funding cost reduction throughout 
2021, resulting in an increase in the 
division’s net income of 42.4% 
compared to 2020. 

While the prolonged effects of the 
pandemic led to an overall decrease 
in economic activity during the year, 
which impacted Treasury & Markets’ 
sales franchise, the low interest rate 
environment allowed us to raise 
liabilities at a lower cost, further 
reducing the cost of funding  
for the Bank. 

Our strategic focus remained 
unchanged, as we continued to 
prioritise strong relationship 
management and interaction with 
our clients to maximise our market 
share. Net income from Treasury & 
Markets for 2021 was AED 98.5 
million, compared to AED 69.2 
million in 2020. 

As we enter 2022, Treasury & 
Markets will continue to exercise 
prudent liquidity management to 
meet projected global monetary 
policy tightening this year, whilst 
further reducing the cost of funding 
for the Bank. We will place increasing 
emphasis on growing foreign 
exchange (FX) revenues and 
augmenting our fixed income 
portfolio, while continuing to  
explore further funding 
diversification to better mitigate 
liability concentration risks.
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Amid another year of disruption across our markets in 2021, Retail Banking Group (RBG) continued to execute 
our strategy by delivering significant improvements across all of our annual targets and achieving considerable 
progress in advancing our digitisation ambitions and accentuating our top-tier offering.

The re-segmentation of our client base remained a key focus area for the Group, marked by our ongoing exit 
from the mass segment and the continued growth achieved in the CBI First and Edge categories, capitalising  
on the rebounding market environment in 2021. Consequently, the majority of our new clients acquired in 2021 
were in our target affluent, business and priority account segments.

RETAIL BANKING GROUP

RBG Performance in 2021
RBG delivered a highly successful year of results in 2021, 
exceeding all our annual KPIs and marking a dramatic and 
successful rebound from the disrupted pandemic 
environment.

Total RBG net income in 2021 was AED 72.3 million, as 
compared to AED 91.5 million in 2020, representing a fall 
of 21% over 2020. Provisions fell to AED 22.2 million, 
from AED 57 million in the previous year, while our CASA 
ratio increased to 75.9% compared to 73.6% in 2020.  

RBG also successfully raised cost efficient funding for the 
Bank through our retail liability book in 2021, and grew 
our base in the affluent segment, contributing to higher 
revenue lines.
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Accelerating our Digital 
Transformation
As the COVID-19 pandemic 
continued to impact our people, 
customers and other stakeholders, 
we maintained vigilance in applying  
a comprehensive range of health  
and safety measures across our 
branch network, while accelerating 
our digital transformation, in line 
with the needs of our customers and 
the Bank’s digital innovation journey. 

While we maintained the complete 
service propositions offered through 
our physical customer service touch 
points at branches, in response to 
the ongoing disruption to day-to-day 
business, we also continued to 
encourage our customers to perform 
transactions via online and mobile 
channels. This drove further 
migration from customer-facing 
touchpoints and reduced branch 
footfall. Our online service windows 
were also complemented by our 
Contact Centre, ATMs & CCDMs. 

Supporting our transition to digital 
channels, and marking a major 
milestone in our Electronic Banking 
Unit (EBU) Transformation Project, 
we converted a fully operational 
physical branch in Al Ain to a digital 
branch in Q4 2021, providing 24/7 
services and placing customers at the 
heart of the new solution. The EBU 
concept features our Get Connected 
wall, which supports screen–mobile 
connectivity to provide a full range  
of banking services.

To further enhance our online service 
proposition, RBG introduced a 
personal contact details update 
function through our Online Banking 
Channel to gather up-to-date 
telephone and email contact details 
without the need for customers to 
visit our branches, successfully 
digitalised our loan settlement 
processes, and introduced a 
Donation Service across our channels 
to support Emirates Red Crescent 
charitable payments.

New Products and Increasing 
Efficiencies 
During 2021, we introduced home 
loan rate promotions to facilitate 
new bookings, generating many 
additional applications totalling AED 
112 million, while our robust 
retention programme helped to stem 
portfolio attrition. 

We also implemented Emirates ID 
integration, as part of our CCDM 
project to identify depositors in 
accordance with the anti-money 
laundering legislation, making EID 
mandatory when cash deposits are 
made via the CCDM channel. Overall, 
our ATM/CCDM fleet up-time was 
above 98% throughout the year, 
ensuring that our customers get the 
support and service they need.  

Retail Banking Group in 2022
Throughout 2022, our Retail Banking 
Group will continue to build upon the 
solid foundations achieved in 2021 
by delivering stable and cost-efficient 
liquidity and funding through CASA 
growth, and leveraging the ongoing 
expansion of our CBI First and Edge 
customer segments.

In pursuit of our key objective to 
deliver an unparalleled end-to-end 
customer experience journey, our 
digital transformation will gather 
pace in the coming year, as we shift 
more of our customers to our digital 
channels, offering increasingly 

efficient remote services and 
developing opportunities for the 
introduction of enhanced digital 
products.

RBG will continue to deliver on the 
goals of our EBU project with new 
branch conversions, whilst exploring 
digital branch concepts, and will also 
introduce a new CCDM model to 
expand our footprint across the UAE 
and provide extended self-service 
functionalities to facilitate the 
migration of branch-based 
transactions to electronic channels, 
further optimising operational costs.

We are planning to launch a full 
digital onboarding process for new 
customers in the coming year, as well 
as near instant, digital loan 
application process for credit cards 
and mortgages. We will also continue 
to enhance our branches to offer our 
customers an unparalleled 
experience and a pleasant journey 
when they visit us. We have an 
exciting pipeline of products and 
services due for launch in 2022.
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OUR PEOPLE

In yet another year characterised  
by the challenging and 
unprecedented threats  from the 
COVID-19 pandemic, CBI continued 
to safeguard our people and 
customers from the virus, whilst 
maintaining a dynamic suite of 
blended working arrangements  
to ensure increasing flexibility  
for our staff.

Our people are at the very heart of 
CBI’s comprehensive strategy and 
vision for growth and success going 
forward. Their health and wellbeing 
therefore remained our primary 
focus throughout 2021, as we 
gradually began to move back 
toward normal pre-pandemic 
working arrangements, mindful of 
the concerns surrounding new 
COVID-19 variants as the economic 
recovery gathered pace.

Agility and Adaptability in 2021
Following the shocks and challenges 
for people and businesses around 
the world stemming from the 
pandemic’s arrival in 2020, the past 
year has seen a transition back 
toward normal operations in our 
markets, despite the continuing 
threat. 

Leveraging our agility, adaptability 
and experience, as well as our robust 
HR infrastructure and policies, we 
capitalised on this rebound to deliver 
on the Bank’s corporate strategy, 
which emphasises our mission to 
attract and retain key talent across 
the Bank’s divisions, whilst upskilling 
our workforce through a 
comprehensive suite of training and 
professional development schemes 
and certification programmes. 

We are proud of the expanding range 
of globally recognised certifications 
attained by our staff, which cover all 
aspects of our business and testify to 
the experience and achievements of 
our people with the focus on our 
Compliance, Risk and Business. 

The momentum of our HR initiatives 
accelerated in 2021, supported by 
new ways of working that offer 
heightened support for our 
employees, whilst also attracting 
talent in a competitive marketplace 
characterised by accelerated hiring 
and new businesses development in 
the UAE, necessitating concerted 
efforts to retain top talent and 
attract key personnel for critical 
roles.

This is illustrated by our decision to 
lead the sector by being the only 
Bank to commit to implementing 
half-day working on Fridays, in line 
with the new weekend policies 
announced by the UAE government 
from 1 January 2022 onwards. 

Our substantive progress in the 
roll-out of adaptable digital 
infrastructure also represents a key 
competitive advantage in this regard, 
as talented candidates seek 
increased flexibility to suit the 
transformation in working practices 
inspired by the original restrictions of 
the pandemic. 

Meanwhile, our digital 
transformation progress  has also 
resulted in more effective risk 
mitigation to ensure employee safety 
and business continuity going 
forward. 

These aspects reflect the key pillars 
of our people strategy, which is 
driven by the key pillars of Transition, 
Adaptability and Flexibility, as we 
create an HR division that is open and 
empathetic, and aims to deliver 
meaningful individual experiences 
that result in a successful and 
cohesive employee proposition.

Our People Strategy and Values 
Our HR activities continue to be 
guided by our overarching ACT 
values, which accentuates our values 
of Accountability, Customer Focus 
and Trust. Launched in 2019, this 
robust approach continued to refine 
the focus of our initiatives 
throughout 2021 to establish and 
maintain an increasingly attractive 
employee proposition. 

Strategic advancements toward this 
goal included employee workshops, 
learning opportunities and 
engagement activities to strengthen 
the communication of our values 
throughout CBI, backed by the 
further integration of the ACT 
framework across performance 
assessments.

CBI continues to devote 
considerable resources to ensure 
to transform the Bank into an 
increasingly performance-driven 
organisation.

“

“

CBI is dedicated to establishing unrivalled standards of workplace safety, continuing professional development 
and job satisfaction by maintaining an increasingly attractive and supportive working environment for all our 
employees.
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CBI continues to devote considerable 
resources to transform the Bank into 
an increasingly performance-driven 
organisation, defining goals, 
establishing clarity of procedures, 
and increasing transparency and 
accountability among our people. 

The ACT values are also deeply 
embedded in our talent acquisition 
processes, enabling us to successfully 
identify new hires and provide 
guidance concerning our culture and 
values.

We also continued to deliver a host 
of customer focused initiatives, 
continued revamping our branches 
to provide better experiences for our 
clients, and worked to enhance our 
workplace culture to establish a 
single community built on 
collaboration and cooperation to 
develop trust among our customers 
and the community. 

A Diverse and Equitable 
Working Environment
As well as providing exceptional 
employee satisfaction and career 
progression prospects, CBI strives to 
ensure a fair and fulfilling workplace 
for our people, built upon the 
foundations of equity and diversity. 
At year-end, we employed 392 
people across our operations, 
comprising of staff with 34 
nationalities and with an 
Emiratisation percentage of 22%. 
Male and female colleagues 
accounted for 58% and 42% of  
our workforce respectively in 2021.

Our Emiratisation initiatives were 
ramped up in 2021, reflecting the 
national focus on developing and 
diversifying Emirati talent in the 
private sector. We redoubled our 
efforts to provide training and skills 
progression for our UAE national 
colleagues through our ‘Banking on 
Emiratis’ programme, with a focus on 
learning and development to ensure 
we continue to attract, train and 
retain key national talent. 

Our equitable employee proposition 
is a major factor in the pursuit of our 
aim to attract the right talent to suit 
our culture and goals going forward. 
We continued to focus on 
improvements to our total rewards 
system in 2021, our philosophy of 

reward is not only compensation but 
also creating  a comprehensive range 
of benefits to ensure a highly 
competitive package.

This comprises the right combination 
of a working environment conducive 
to personal growth, staunch health 
and safety protocols, perceptive 
employee care, flexible working 
opportunities, competitive benefits 
and exceptional learning 
opportunities. Above all, we aim to 
build a corporate community that is 
both dynamic and competitive to 
meet the demands of the talent 
market.
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Employee Case Study:  
Delivering Meaningful and Progressive Experiences for our People

Name and current role: Safia Abbas, Head of Retail Credit Risk 

Tenure: 19 years

Nationality: Emirati

First role in the Bank: Card Center Supervisor

Favourite aspect of working at CBI: “Everyone in the organisation shares the 
same vision and we always inspire each other to reach our full potential. We have 
a collaborative environment and there are many opportunities to work with 
different departments and expand our skill sets. I feel like I am learning something 
new every day.”

Career progression: “I have been with CBI since 2003. I have been given 
numerous opportunities in different divisions, with an upward career trajectory, 
providing progressive and challenging experiences during my 19-year service.”

Overall experience: “CBI has evolved drastically and in the most encouraging way 
possible. CBI faced numerous challenges in various aspects related to banking in 
the past. However, the Bank has always been very open to new ideas and very 
welcoming to all the members of the CBI family. Many ideas shared by employees 
have been put into action, providing a wider reach than ever before. CBI is still 
evolving to become a flagbearer for customer-focused banking in UAE.”

“

“



2021 Annual Report

33

Establishing a Strong Employee 
Value Proposition in 2022
We remain committed to building 
the right culture to carry the Bank 
forwards to further success and 
progress in the years ahead. Our 
guiding aim is to establish an 
unparalleled employee proposition 
capable of attracting the dynamic 
young minds and capable expertise 
that are charting the future of our 
industry.

Our strong culture provides the  
ideal springboard for achieving  
this ambition, providing the stability, 
support and flexibility to allow our 
people to grow and innovate, thus 
positioning the Bank to capitalise 
on the extensive opportunities our 
rapidly developing industry has  
to offer. 

Some of the specific initiatives 
planned for 2022 include new tools 
to ensure efficient two-way dialogue 
with our employees, ensuring active 
listening, adapting to their needs  
and strengthening employee 
engagement to enhance  
our business.

We will build on our Emiratisation 
strategy to provide further support 
to the UAE nationals entering and 
engaging in the banking sector, while 
also maintaining our focus on 
creating an inclusive and diverse 
talent base drawn from a variety of 
different backgrounds and industries 
to power our progress.

Above all, CBI will continue its path 
to greater competitiveness in our 
marketplace, enhancing our ability to 
attract key talent through a growing 
proposition of rewards, experiences 
and training aligned with the 
demands of the evolving banking 
landscape and our changing business 
needs.
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Commercial Bank International PSC and its Group companies (CBI) considers sound corporate governance to be  
a key factor to enhance its image, both locally and internationally, through a commitment to corporate culture 
that motivates directors, managers and employees to comply with sound principles of conduct. Corporate 
governance involves a set of relationships between a company’s management, its Board of Directors (Board),  
its shareholders and its other stakeholders.

Corporate governance also provides the structure through which the objectives of the company are set,  
and the means of attaining those objectives and monitoring performance are determined. Effective corporate 
governance is not an end, it is a means to the proper functioning of a financial institution and the banking sector 
overall. CBI’s safety and soundness are key to its financial stability and the way it conducts its business; 
therefore, it is central to creating market confidence and business integrity.

1. CBI CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

CBI strongly believes that good corporate governance complements and significantly helps its long-term business 
success. This success has been the direct outcome of the CBI’s key business strategies, including the commitment of 
the Board to the quality, integrity and transparency of its financial reports.

1.1 Objective
The Board of Directors and the Executive Management of CBI believe that corporate governance is an essential 
element to enhance shareholders’ trust, particularly minority shareholders and stakeholders, by increasing the level  
of transparency of the ownership and control, and the implementation of effective monitoring systems for strategic 
business management. Hence, all necessary efforts were combined to create awareness of the importance of 
corporate governance within CBI.

CBI has adopted the corporate governance framework to support the effective functioning of the Board and its 
committees, to promote the interests of shareholders, and to ensure a common set of expectations as to how the 
Board, its various committees, individual directors and the Executive Management should perform their functions. 
The Board of Directors and the Executive Management believe that the primary objective of corporate governance is 
safeguarding stakeholders’ and depositors’ interest in conformity with public interest on a sustainable basis, with a 
view to contribute to improved corporate performance and accountability in creating long-term shareholder value.

1.2 Commitment to Comply with Corporate Governance
In order to achieve CBI’s objectives, the Board of Directors, the Executive Management and the employees of CBI 
commit themselves to the governance principles and best practices as detailed in the CBI Corporate Governance 
Code. The Board ensures that functioning of CBI complies with the principles of corporate governance and also 
promotes the institutional values, policies and other internal procedures that apply to all members of the Board, 
Executive Management and employees of CBI.

1.3 Applying Corporate Governance Principles
Corporate governance standards in CBI are naturally pursued in a manner consistent with the applicable national laws, 
regulations and codes. CBI is subject to the regulations issued by Central Bank of United Arab Emirates (CBUAE) and 
the Securities and Commodities Authority (SCA) as well as guidelines and international best practices issued by the 
Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) and the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development 
(OECD).

CBI follows a comprehensive set of corporate governance policies and procedures within CBI. The roles and 
responsibilities of the Board of Directors are segregated from the functions of the Executive Management. Whilst the 
Board assumes the overall supervision of CBI and provides strategic direction through the approval of the strategic 
initiatives, key policies and objectives, the daily affairs of CBI are carried out by CBI’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and 
the Executive Management Team.

In September 2019, the Central Bank of the UAE issued a new “Corporate Governance Regulation” and accompanying 
“Corporate Governance Standards” for all banks operating in the UAE in line with leading international practice. A 
phased-wise implementation plan was approved by the Board in December 2019 to ensure CBI’s full compliance with 
the regulation and standards within a period of 18 months. Since, meaningful and timely progress has been made on 
such implementation plan consisting of a number of key policies applicable to CBI.
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1.4 The Scope
CBI’s Corporate Governance program incorporates the application of wide-ranging measures of governance and 
contains the preparation of overall policies, procedures, manuals, organizational structure and accurate job 
descriptions, key performance indicators, the determination of the authorities and responsibilities, the internal and 
external reporting requirements and the roles, responsibilities and the Board Charter, the Board’s committees and 
the committees of the Executive Management.

In this context, this Annual Corporate Governance Report aims to ensure a transparent disclosure of the governance 
practices within CBI. It embodies the values of CBI and the policies that all stakeholders must abide by. The report 
includes the capital structure, controls, shareholders’ rights, development of the Board Charter and its committees 
systems, related parties’ transactions policy, and the periodic review of the principles of professional conduct, in order 
to ensure the application of best professional practices that meet the needs and objectives of CBI.

2. CBI ACHIEVEMENTS DURING 2020 TO ENHANCE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE APPROACH

CBI is continuously working on developing the inbuilt corporate governance framework with a vision to maintain a 
healthy corporate governance environment and adopt best practices. The year 2021 was an unprecedented year and 
despite the challenges due to the global pandemic, the Board and Executive Management ensured that sound 
corporate governance practices are adopted by enhancing and applying the corporate governance principles across all 
Bank’s functions. The below topics summarizes CBI’s 2021 key efforts with respect to the enhancement of the 
corporate governance framework.

3. THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (BOARD)

The Board meets at least six (6) times a year to review and approve the annual budgets, capital expenditures, the 
strategic and business plans, periodic financial results and all new and renewed risk policies. Moreover, the Board 
regularly monitors CBI’s progress towards achieving its strategic goals and objectives, and recommends the necessary 
adjustments where applicable. As part of its duties, the Board also ensures the implementation of an internal control 
system, including risk management, risk appetite, compliance, financial control and Internal Audit.

3.1 Board of Directors Structure
In compliance with CBI’s Articles of Association, nine (9) members of the Board are elected or nominated for three (3) 
years renewable for the same period. The Board has the widest authority to oversee the Management of CBI and the 
right to appoint several managers or authorized persons and to vest in them the right to sign, solely or jointly, on 
behalf of CBI. Members of the Board must have the necessary expertise and skills that qualify them to conduct their 
duties towards CBI’s best interests. They are also committed to spending the required amount of time and attention 
towards the accomplishment of their duties for the duration of their tenure.

3.2 Board Composition and Size
At the General Assembly held on 30th March  2020, nine (9) Members of the Board were elected for a period of three 
(3) years.  In March 2021, the Board appointed Mr. Mohamed Ali Mussabah Al Nuaimi as a Board member following 
the resignation of Mr. Abdul Rahim Mohammed Al Awadhi and his appointment was ratified at the General Assembly 
meeting held on 22nd March 2021. On 19th December 2021, Mrs. Fareeda Ali Abulfath resigned from the Board of 
Directors and a replacement will be appointed following the approval of CBUAE and later ratified at the General 
Assembly. As at 31st December 2021, there is one female representative in the Board of Directors of CBI (Ms. Maitha 
Saeed Al Falasi). 
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NAME NATIONALITY POSITION/
CATEGORY BRIEF PROFILE DATE OF 

APPOINTMENT

1 Mr. Saif Ali Al Shehhi UAE Chairman 
Independent

Mr. Saif holds a BA in Management 
& Technology from the Central of 
New England College Worcester, 
USA. He held various Board and 
executive management roles in 
Aafaq Islamic Finance, National 
Bank of  Abu Dhabi and Central 
Bank of UAE.

Board Member Etihad Credit 
Insurance and ex CEO and 
Board Member of Aafaq 
Islamic Finance

2 Mr. Ali Rashid Al Mohannadi Qatar Vice Chairman 
Rep. of QNB

Mr. Ali holds a BSc. in Computer 
Science. He is the Executive 
General Manager and Chief 
Operating Officer of QNB and  
Member of the Board of Directors 
of QNB Tunisia, QNB Turkey and 
QNB Alahli (Egypt).

Executive General Manager 
and Chief Operating Officer 
of QNB

3 Mr. Mubarak Bin Fahad
Al Mheiri

UAE Member  
Independent

Mr. Mubarak holds an MBA 
in Strategic Management 
from Birmingham, UK. He is 
an entrepreneur with various 
businesses in the UAE and sits on 
the Board of Seera Investment 
Bank.

Entrepreneur

4 Mr. Mohamed Ali Musabbeh 
Al Nuaimi 

UAE Member Mr. Mohamed holds a BA in 
Business Management from 
Newbury College, USA. He is 
the Chairman of RAK Chamber 
of Commerce and Ex-CEO of 
Mawarid Finance. 

Ex-Chief Executive Officer 
(resigned in Jan 2021)

5 Mrs. Fareeda Ali Abulfath
(resigned on 19/12/2021)

Qatar Member Rep. 
of QNB

Ms. Fareeda Abulfath holds an MA 
in Business Administration from 
Manchester Business School, UK. 
She served as the Group Chief 
Credit Officer of QNB up until 
January 2021.

Vice Chairman of Al Ghaith 
Holding Company and member 
of the National Consultative 
Council

6 Dr. Ghaith Hammel Al Ghaith 
Al Qubaisi

UAE Member  
Independent

Dr. Gaith holds a PHD in Business 
Management from Cambridge 
International College and 
a member of the National 
Consultative Council in Abu Dhabi 
. He sits on the Board of Al Ain Al 
Ahliya Insurance Company and Al 
Gaith Holding and runs Makaseb 
Islamic Financial Services.

Art Investment Advisor

7 Ms. Maitha Saeed Al Falasi UAE Member  
Independent

Ms. Maitha holds an Executive 
MBA in Business Leadership from 
London Business School and 
runs her own Art Management 
Company. She held various roles 
in Dubai International Financial 
Center in the Asset Management 
field handling Arts and other 
Financial Investments in addition 
to being a Board Director for 3 
subsidiary companies.

Country General Manager – 
QNB Oman

8 Mr. Faisal Ali Al Tamimi Oman Member  
Independent

Mr. Faisal holds an MBA from the 
University of Liverpool, UK. He is 
the Country General Manager of 
QNB Oman.

9 Mr. Hamad Salah Al Turkait Kuwait Member Rep. 
of QNB

Mr. Hamad holds a BSc. in 
Computer Systems from Bradley 
University, USA. He is the Head of 
Corporate & Institutional Banking 
– QNB Kuwait.
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3.3 Board Responsibilities and Fiduciary Duties
Each Board Member owes CBI the fiduciary duties of care, loyalty and compliance with the rules set out in related laws
and regulations. Board Members act on an informed basis, in good faith, with due diligence and in the best interests 
of CBI and all shareholders and act effectively to fulfil their responsibilities towards CBI.

3.4 The Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board
The Chairman is responsible for heading the Board Meetings and ensuring the proper functioning of the Board in an 
appropriate and effective manner, including timely receipt by the Board Members of complete and accurate 
information. He approves the agenda of every meeting of the Board taking into consideration any matter proposed by 
any other Board Member. This task may be delegated by the Chairman to the Vice Chairman or any other Board 
Member, but the Chairman remains responsible for the proper discharge of this duty by the said Board Member. The 
duties of the Chairman, in addition to the provisions of the Board’s Charter, also endeavour to encourage all Board 
Members to fully and effectively participate in dealing with the affairs of the Board for ensuring that the Board is 
working in the best interest of CBI in addition to ensure effective communication with shareholders and the 
communication of their opinions to the Board.

3.5 Company Secretary
The Company Secretary is entrusted to work with the Chairman of the Board, the Chairpersons of each Board 
Committee and the Executive Management to ensure implementation of proper and effective corporate governance 
within the Bank and its Group Companies. The Company Secretary is also responsible to record, coordinate and 
register all the Board meetings, in addition to keeping custody of records, books and reports communicated to the 
Board. The Company Secretary’s functions include the distribution of information and coordination among Board 
Members and between the Board and the respective members of the Executive Management to ensure the timely 
access of Board Members to all minutes of meetings and the implementation of the resolutions of the Board and the 
recommendations of its respective Committees. The Board appointed Mrs. Hala Al Safadi as the Company Secretary of 
CBI on 7th April 2020.

3.6 Board Meetings
In 2021, the Board of Directors held six (6) meetings:

Board Member 10th February 24th March 6th May 29th July 2nd November 19th December

Mr. Saif Ali Al Shehhi √ √ √ √ √ √

Mr. Ali Rashid Al Mohannadi √ √ √ √ √ √

Mr. Mubarak Ahmad Bin 
Fahad Al Mheiri √ √ √ √ √ √

Mr. Mohamed Ali Musabbeh 
Al Nuaimi* x √ √ √ √ √

Mrs. Fareeda Ali Abulfath √ √ √
x (proxy to 
Mr. Hamad Al 
Turkait)

√ x

Dr. Ghaith Hammel Al Ghaith 
Al Qubaisi √ √ √ √

x (proxy to 
Mr. Ali Al 
Mohannadi)

√

Ms. Maitha Saeed Al Falasi √ √ √ √ √ √

Mr. Faisal Ali Al Tamimi √ √ √ √ √ √

Mr. Hamad Salah Al Turkait √ √ √ √ √ √

*Mr. Mohamed Al Nuaimi was appointed on 24th March 2021
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3.7 The Committees of the Board
The Board of Directors at its meeting held on 24th March 2021 resolved to restructure Board Committees to increase 
the effectiveness of Board Committees and leverage on the experience of Board members. The Board further 
resolved to cancel the Board Governance, Nomination and Remuneration Committee (BGNRC) and Board Special 
Assets Committee (BSAC) and formed the Board Executive Committee.

As of 24th March 2021, the Board Committees are as follows:
•	 Board Audit Committee
•	 Board Risk Committee
•	 Board Credit Committee
•	 Board Nomination and Remuneration Committee
•	 Board Executive Committee. 

Below is a summary on the composition, duties and the working mechanism of these committees:

Board Audit Committee (BAC) 
The Audit Committee monitors the quality and integrity of CBI’s accounting policies, financial reporting and 
disclosure, the soundness of the internal controls framework, compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,  
independence and qualifications of the external auditors and performance, output and reports submitted by the 
internal audit function. The Committee obtains explanation from Management and Internal Audit Department and 
external auditors about the functioning of the control mechanisms within CBI and oversees special investigations, as 
and when needed.

The Committee held four (4) meetings during the year 2021.

Membership

NAME POSITION ATTENDANCE

Mr. Faisal Ali Al Tamimi Vice Chairperson 1/1

Ms. Maitha Saeed Al Falasi Member 1/1

As of 24th March 2021

NAME POSITION ATTENDANCE

Mr. Mohamed Ali Al Nuaimi Chairperson 3/3

Ms. Fareeda Ali Abulfath Vice Chairperson 2/3

Mr. Hamad Salah Al Turkait Member 3/3
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Board Risk Committee (BRC)
The Board Risk Committee reviews and endorses the risk management strategy, risk management and compliance 
frameworks and policies, risk appetite profile and risk concentrations and trends. BRC oversees and evaluates the 
monitoring process performed by Management Risk Committee and directly oversees the Compliance and Risk 
functions. 

The Committee held five (5) meetings during the year 2021.

Board Credit Committee (BCC)
The Board Credit Committee oversees CBI’s credit risk portfolio and guides CBI’s core lending operations by 
supervising and reviewing overall customer credit, inter-group investment exposures and portfolio concentration. The 
Committee also authorizes individual transactions, credit proposals, credit facilities and sectoral limits falling within 
the authority delegated by the Board to the Committee and above the authorized limit set for Management. The 
Committee recommends action to be taken on impaired loans, in line with the delegated limits and reviews the status 
of pending litigation matters, on a quarterly basis.

The Committee held five (5) meetings during the year 2021.

Membership

NAME POSITION ATTENDANCE

Mr. Mubarak Bin Fahad Al Mheiri Chairperson 2/2

Mr. Hamad Salah Alturkait Vice Chairperson 2/2

Dr. Ghaith Hammel Al Ghaith Member 1/2

As of 24th March 2021

NAME POSITION ATTENDANCE

Mr. Mubarak Bin Fahad Al Mheiri Chairperson 3/3

Mr. Faisal Ali Al Tamimi Vice Chairperson 3/3

Dr. Ghaith Hammel Al Ghaith Member 3/3

Membership

NAME POSITION ATTENDANCE

Ms. Fareeda Ali Abulfath Chairperson 2/2

Mr. Mubarak Bin Fahad Al Mheiri Vice Chairperson 2/2

As of 24th March 2021

NAME POSITION ATTENDANCE

Ms. Fareeda Ali Abulfath Chairperson 2/3

Mr. Mubarak Bin Fahad Al Mheiri Vice Chairperson 3/3

Mr. Mohamed Ali Al Nuaimi Member 3/3
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Board Nomination and Remuneration Committee (BNRC)
The Board Nomination and Remuneration Committee reviews and approves policies in relation to the for nomination 
of the Board members and appointment of CEO Direct Reports and other related HR policies, the composition and 
diversity of the Board, its mix of skills, knowledge and experience, and the relative proportion of Independent and 
Non-Executive Director, the needed skills required for Board membership and identify the suitable profile and future 
needs and the independence of Independent Directors and the strategy and business plans related to human 
resources, Emiratization and training and monitor their implementation and recommends remuneration to the Board 
of directors.

The Committee held one (1) meeting during the year 2021.

Board Executive Committee (BEXCO)
The Board Executive Committee is primarily responsible for the development and overseeing of the CBI’s long-term 
strategy and its implementation. The Committee reviews CBI’s annual budgets, delegation of authorities, business 
plans and expenditure limits for Centralized Purchasing Committee, business planning, corporate social responsibility, 
marketing and communications, CBI’s internal policies. The Committee further reviews  the real estate portfolio, 
adjust the Reserve Value (as defined in the Real Estate Policy) for each of the Special Assets, subject to Board’s 
approval. The Committee further oversees negotiations with sellers, buyers, vendors and consultants in order to 
conclude all relevant transactions in relation to  real estate portfolio and approve the sale and disposal of special 
assets as deemed appropriate. 

3.8 Assessment of the Board and its Committees
In March 2021, an external third party was appointed to perform an assessment of the CBI Board as a whole, its 
committees, and individual members as per the Corporate Governance Standards issued by the Central Bank of the 
UAE in September 2019. 

4. CBI EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
In July 2020, the Board confirmed Mr. Ali Sultan Rakkad Al Amri as the Chief Executive Officer after having served as 
Acting Chief Executive Officer since June 2019. 

Mr. Al Amri is a versatile banker with over 21 years of financial services experience across various senior management 
roles with leading local and foreign financial institutions. He started his career at CBI as a Senior Corporate Officer in 

Membership

NAME POSITION ATTENDANCE

Mr. Saif Ali Al Shehhi Chairperson 1/1

Mr. Ali Rashid Al Mohannadi Vice Chairperson 1/1

Mr. Mubarak Ahmad Fahad Al Mheiri Member 1/1

Membership

NAME POSITION ATTENDANCE

Mr. Ali Rashid Al Mohannadi Chairperson 2/2

Mr. Saif Ali Al Shehhi Vice Chairperson 2/2

Mr. Mohamed Ali Alnuaimi Member 2/2

Ms. Maitha Saeed Al Falasi Member 2/2

Dr. Ghaith Hammel Al Ghaith Member 1/2
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2000, then spent the next eight years working with banks such as Emirates NBD, as a Manager in Corporate Banking. 
He was also a Senior Relationship Manager at Barclays, and the Head of Business Development at Noor Islamic Bank, 
prior to returning to CBI in 2010 as the Chief Wholesale Banking Officer. He received Executive Education in 
Management from IESE Business School in Spain. He also holds an MBA from the University of Jordan and completed 
his Bachelor’s degree in Marketing from Ajman University’s School of Business.

The CEO is assisted in his duties by a specialized and highly qualified team from the Executive Management. Ten (10) 
Heads of Department report directly to the CEO: Chief Risk Officer; Chief Financial Officer; Chief Operating Officer; 
Head of Wholesale Banking; Head of Retail Banking; Head of Compliance, Head of Strategy and Transformation and 
Head of Legal. The Head of Internal Audit and the Company Secretary are part of the Executive Management 
Committee and report administratively to the CEO.  

CBI’s Executive Management is fully aware of its role in terms of corporate governance through its commitment to 
implementing the legislative requirements and the Board’s instructions in a way that strengthens the control 
environment in the various processes and banking activities; this includes determining the deviations from the 
objectives, ensuring the convergence of operations to achieve the desired goals, and implementing corrective actions 
when required.

Executive Management is also committed to assessing the behaviour of individuals and organizational units through 
the development of effective internal controls, which enhance the monitoring of business performance and risk 
measurement. In addition, supplementary controls have been implemented, such as incremental audit checks, 
segregation of duties, and restriction of powers, in addition to the implementation of limits on all banking operations 
through the adoption and monitoring of an authority matrix. The CEO relies on a number of multi-function internal 
committees in the execution of his functions.

CBI has ten (10) specialized committees at the management level. The Committees’ meetings are held if a quorum of 
majority of the Committee Members is achieved, including the Chairman of the Committee. If any member is absent, a 
senior representative must be nominated to attend the meeting. 

A summary of the tasks of the various committees is highlighted below:

4.1 Executive Management Committee
The Executive Management Committee is responsible for the overall management, including day-to-day operations 
and administration of the Bank and its subsidiaries, within the framework of the Bank’s policies, its terms of reference 
and such other directives as the Board of the Directors may determine from time to time.

1 Chief Executive Officer Chairperson 

2 Chief Financial Officer Member

3 Chief Risk Officer Member

4 Chief Operating Officer Member

5 Chief Credit Officer Member

6 Head of Wholesale Banking Member

7 Head of Retail Banking Member

8 Head of Legal Member

9 Company Secretary Member

10 Head of Compliance Member

11 Head of Internal Audit Member

12 Head of Strategy and Transformation Member 
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4.2 Management Risk Committee
The Management Risk Committee is responsible for reviewing risk management strategy of CBI and the risk control 
framework, evaluating the monitoring process and reports CBI’s annual CBUAE and ICAAP regulatory requirements 
and compliance-related programmes that due to its size and complexity are jointly owned by second line functions 
(e.g. the embedding of consumer protection regulation during 2021), at the management level.

1 Chief Executive Officer Chairperson

2 Chief Risk Officer Deputy Chairperson

3 Chief Financial Officer Member

4 Chief Operating Officer Member

5 Head of Legal Member

6 Head of Compliance Member

7 Chief Credit Officer Member

8 Head of Centralized Control & Governance Member

9 Chief Operating Officer Permanent Invitee

10 Head of Internal Audit Permanent Invitee

11 Head of Wholesale Banking Group Permanent Invitee

12 Head of Retail Banking Group Permanent Invitee

13 Head of Treasury & Markets By Invitation

14 Risk Management Secretary

1 Chief Executive Officer Chairperson

2 Chief Financial Officer Vice Chairperson

3 Head of Treasury Member

4 Chief Risk Officer Member

5 Chief Operating Officer Member

6 Head of Retail Banking Member

7 Head Wholesale Banking Member 

8 Head of Market Risk Member / Secretary

 4.3 Assets and Liabilities Committee
The Assets and Liabilities Committee is responsible for monitoring all treasury & market activities, interest rate risk, 
liquidity, and foreign exchange risks across CBI and reviews and recommends strategies, policies and procedures 
relating to asset liability management across CBI, including reporting to the Board as and when required. The 
Committee is also responsible for ensuring compliance with treasury limits and ratios approved by the Board and 
required by the Central Bank. The committee reviews movement of interest rates which effects funding, liquidity and 
profitability.
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1 Chief Executive Officer Chairperson

2 Chief Financial Officer Vice Chairperson

3 Chief Operating Officer Member 

4 Head of Legal Member

5 Head of Retail Banking Member

6 Procurement department Secretary

7 Head of Internal Audit Observer

4.4 Central Procurement Committee
The Central Procurement Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving procurements, proposals for 
disposing movables of real estate assets, engaging suppliers for products and services requests, within the applicable 
policies and the authorized limits, overseeing the process of bids, negotiating contracts, approving vendors list and 
ensuring compliance procurement and tender policies.

4.5 Internal Credit Committee
Internal Credit Committee is responsible for reviewing and monitoring CBI’s overall credit portfolio, by recommending 
and implementing credit policies and procedures relating to all wholesale and retail department customers. The 
Committee is also responsible for monitoring and reviewing the performance of all investment activities across CBI in 
terms of profitability, credit performance, other risks, volatility and volumes. The Committee makes recommendations 
to the Board Credit Committee in relation to CBI’s credit issues and performance, country risk exposures and ensures 
compliance with investment limits and ratios approved by the Board, CBUAE or Executive Management.

1 Chief Executive Officer Chairperson

2 Chief Credit Officer Member

3 Head of Wholesale Banking Member

1 Chief Executive Officer Chairperson

2 Chief Operating Officer Vice Chairperson

3 Chief Financial Officer Member

4 Head of Legal Member

5 Head of Human Resources Secretary

4.6 Human Resources Committee 
The Human Resources committee is responsible for developing HR governance and strategy in line with the Bank’s 
overall objectives for further recommendation to the Board Governance, Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
as well as the Board of Directors, developing and overseeing the implementation of the approved HR strategic actions 
and reviewing HR related policies. In addition, the committee shall consider and decide on objections made by 
employees in relation to their respective annual performance appraisals, grievances in relation to disciplinary actions 
applied on staff and interview candidates for senior and executive roles and raise recommendations to the BNRC.
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1 Chief Executive Officer Chairperson

2 Head of Internal Audit Member

3 Chief Risk Officer  Member

4 Head of Compliance Member

5 Head of Centralized Control & Governance Member

6 Internal Audit Secretary

4.7 Internal Remediation Committee
The Internal Remediation Committee is responsible for monitoring the implementation of the recommendations and 
instructions of the Central Bank, regulatory authorities, decisions of the Board of Directors and recommendations and 
instructions issued by the Board committees. The committee shall also monitor the implementation of the internal 
and external audit’s observations and periodically review the effectiveness and adequacy of the Bank’s operational 
policies and procedures.

4.8 Products and Conduct Committee
The Products and Conduct Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving  all types of banking products and 
services currently offered and to be offered by the bank to its customers and to set the requirements and 
considerations associated with launching and decommissioning the product or service, including reviewing its 
feasibility from the perspective of operations, human resources, marketing, capital, funding, pricing, tax, accounting, 
regulatory requirements in terms of reporting, consumer protection and ethical behaviour. In addition, to review and 
identify reputational and legal risks in the current and proposed product and services offerings and to ensure that all 
bank products and services are aligned with the strategy of the bank and comply with the applicable regulations.
services are aligned with the strategy of the bank and comply with the applicable regulations.

1 Chief Risk Officer Chairperson

2 Chief Credit Officer Vice Chairperson

3 Chief Financial Officer Member

4 Chief Operating Officer Member

5 Head of Compliance Member

6 Risk Management Secretary

7 General Counsel Legal Advisor

8 Head of Internal Audit Observer
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4.9 Asset Quality Committee
The Asset Quality Committee is responsible for reviewing non-performing assets for the Wholesale Banking Group, 
and large exposures of retail customers. Allocating provisions in relation to non-performing assets in accordance with 
the Central Bank of UAE (CBUAE) regulations and Accounting/International Financial Reporting Standards and 
reviewing adequacy of collaterals available to the Bank in relation to the non-performing assets. 

Ensure classifications of non-performing accounts internally and externally, as per CBUAE regulations / any other 
applicable standards.

1 Chief Risk Officer Chairperson

2 Chief Financial Officer Vice Chairperson

3 General Counsel Member

4 Chief Credit Officer Permanent Invitee

5 Head of Wholesale Banking Permanent Invitee

6 Head of Remedial Secretary

4.10 Compliance Committee
The Compliance Committee was established in August 2020 to meet the growing demands from regulatory 
authorities with regard to management by CBI of compliance matters that have a potential bank-wide impact. 
Additionally, it serves as a high level forum to which matters, such as transactions, onboarding of prospective 
customers and reviews of existing relationships, may be escalated. The Compliance Committee also monitors  
progress of existing projects related to compliance. 

1 Chief Executive Officer Chairperson

2 Head of Compliance Vice Chairperson

3 Chief Risk Officer  Member

4 Head of Centralised Controls & Governance Member

5 Head of Wholesale Banking Group Member

6 Head of Retail Banking Group Member

7 Chief Operating Officer Member

8 Money Laundering Reporting Officer Secretary
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5. INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM
The Board assumes ultimate responsibility for CBI’s system of internal controls, whereby specific policies, guidelines 
and controls covering the entire CBI’s transactions have been devised. Moreover, the determination of delegated 
authority limits, privileges, authorization and related monitoring processes, are implemented with emphasis on 
segregation of duties and dual control. The Board is responsible for CBI’s Risk Appetite Statement and suite of risk 
policies.

The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of the operating systems and control processes by 
monitoring, overseeing, and evaluating the duties and responsibilities of the Management, the Internal Audit Function 
and the external auditors. The Audit Committee also ensures that all major issues reported by Internal Audit 
Department, external auditors and regulators have been satisfactorily addressed.

CBI’s Executive Management is delegated the responsibility for the overall control of these systems in coordination 
with the concerned Head of Departments.

The Executive Management of CBI assumes the responsibility for establishing a network of processes with the 
objective of facilitating a smooth and efficient workflow within all functions of CBI as well as establishing operational 
controls. Systems and controls are established in a manner which provides the Board with reasonable assurance that:

•	 Data and information published either internally or externally (including websites) is accurate, reliable, and timely.

•	 Actions of Board Members, Executive Management and employees are compliant with CBI’s Risk Appetite 
Statement, policies, standards, plans and procedures, and all relevant laws and regulations of the CBUAE  
and the SCA.

•	 CBI’s resources (including its people, systems, data/information bases, and customer information) are adequately 
protected.

•	 Resources are acquired and employed profitably laying special emphasis on adherence to quality and continuous 
improvement.

•	 CBI sets realistic plans, programs, goals, and objectives, which are achievable.

CBI’s business and process units, the control functions and the internal audit function comprise ‘the three lines of 
defence’. The business and process units are the first line of defence as they are expected to undertake risks within 
assigned limits of risk exposure and are responsible and accountable for identifying, assessing and controlling the 
risks of their businesses. 

The second line of defence includes the control functions, such as risk management and Compliance which ensure 
that the risks in the business and process units have been appropriately identified and managed. The Chief Risk 
Officer and the Head of Compliance report to the Chief Executive Officer, with unfettered access to the Board Risk 
Committee.

The third line of defence is the internal audit function that independently assesses the effectiveness of the processes 
created in the first and second lines of defence and provides assurance on these processes as well as value added 
recommendations to improve the process and promote best practice. The Head of the Internal Audit Department 
reports directly to the Board Audit Committee.

5.1 Compliance Department

Compliance Monitoring and Oversight
Coping with ever-growing 
In 2021 Compliance steadily continued to enhance its monitoring activities, assurance role and advisory role to its 
stakeholders. CBI has mechanisms in place to monitor and ensure proper implementation of regulatory requirements 
in a timely manner. The implementation of regulatory requirements is duly formalized and documented in CBI’s 
compliance policies, clearly specifying the role and responsibilities of the concerned parties. Progress of compliance-
driven actions are tracked via the relevant committees that gather periodically, i.e. predominantly the Compliance 
Committee and Board Risk Committee.

CBI maintains an efficient follow-up process to ensure completeness of actions required to be taken by relevant 
stakeholders across the organization. The follow-up is managed by the Compliance Department, which directly 
reports to the CEO and has unrestricted access to Board Risk Committee.
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An on-going effort is exerted to ensure compliance of new products and services initiatives, as well as development of 
the existing ones, that are offered by different business units and support functions. During 2021, the Executive 
Management continued to assist in ensuring that compliance obligations associated with a number of newly issued 
regulations are met, including compliance-driven projects to enhance existing processes and supported CBI’s business 
and operations departments to provide regulatory updates and seek approvals, where required.

Promotion of the Ethical Behaviour
Among other responsibilities of the Executive Management, is ensuring that the culture within CBI reinforces the 
ethical behaviours and integrity, which are crucial in the banking industry. The example set by individuals at the top 
will always influence how the rest of the organization behaves. CBI encourages seniors to “lead by example” and 
report any unethical behaviours and misconduct through various tools meeting the highest standards and best 
practices, including anonymous “whistleblowing” reporting. In 2021, the Executive Management continued to 
promote awareness of the importance of everyone’s obligation to observe the code of ethics and safeguard CBI’s 
interest by reporting unethical behaviours such as, but not limited to embezzlement, fraud, corruption, bribery, 
conflicts of interest, customer privacy violations, discrimination, harassment, violations of laws and misrepresentation 
of facts. Reinvigorated training was rolled out during 2021 with a view to enhance staff’s understanding of 
compliance, operational risk and information security risk bank-wide.

Healthy Relationship with Regulators: Openness is a Key Element of Transparency
CBI continued to strengthen and improve the communication channels with its regulators, to ensure that it provides 
the regulatory authorities with accurate, clear and transparent information in order to assist regulators in their 
supervisory duties. 

Regulatory Compliance
During the year 2021, CBI performed effective, timely and proper reporting to the regulatory authorities of specific 
regulatory-driven obligations, comprising new data, existing data.

Compliance Department assisted in answering or supporting the handling of regulatory enquiries and inspection 
reports and resolving the pending issues that might led to violations or financial penalties.

Regulatory Compliance and Centralised Controls & Governance took co-ownership of driving required changes for the 
bank, emanating from the Consumer Protection Regulation and Standard issued by CBUAE during the first quarter of 
2021. As the Regulation and Standard aim to inculcate a culture of consumer protection among UAE banks within a 
brief time-period, a range of changes were required to the bank’s policies, processes, systems and practices. To meet 
the increasing regulatory expectations as regards the bank’s ability to absorb additional regulation, Compliance made 
internal staff changes whereby an additional FTE was moved from the FinCrime team and added to the Regulatory 
Compliance team.

Tax Reporting & Data Security: For Better Transparency
Due to the continuing change in the tax compliance landscape across the globe, and after having effectively 
implemented FATCA requirements, CBI has implemented the Common Reporting Standard (CRS) Program, reflected 
in the revised and approved FATCA/CRS Policy. The CRS was developed by the OECD, to address tax avoidance and 
evasion and improve tax compliance. CBI has also implemented effective procedures to collect and discharge its 
duties in relation to the newly introduced Value Added Tax, in compliance with the applicable laws and guidelines of 
the CBUAE. 

International Sanctions Programs and Tools
Compliance Department continues to have a Sanctions Policy and monitoring system to support CBI’s commitment to 
comply with the relevant sanctions programs and different laws and regulations in all related jurisdictions. The 
Sanctions Policy forbids the Bank to facilitate business with a number of countries/regions irrespective of currency, 
general of specific license (which may render a transaction legally permissible) or regardless of whether such business 
is direct or indirect

The sanctions monitoring system, as well as the related embedded criteria, are regularly revisited and amended, 
considering the new updates and challenges in different sanctions programs and the applicable laws and regulations, 
taking into consideration the differences in the scope and requirements of each nature of sanctions.
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CBI is committed to ensure the on-going development, maintenance and oversight of the sanctions compliance 
function across the Bank. Moreover, the sanctions framework satisfies the requirement of maintaining a high-level/ 
restrictive monitoring system and the escalation and reporting requirements up to the Board level.

In 2021, Compliance performed a testing and tuning of its payment screening tools and its AML monitoring tools,  
with satisfactory outcomes.

As a follow-up on 2020, next to the brand-new Conflict of Interest Training, the Compliance Department created a 
reinvigorated online Financial Crime (Anti-Money Laundering and Sanctions) and Compliance training and awareness, 
which takes into account new elements that are either associated with best practice or relate to new requirements 
issued by CBUAE during the course of 2021.. The online training program focused on providing guidance on the 
Anti-Money Laundering requirements and international sanctions programs, as well as general Compliance 
requirements to enable CBI staff to have a better understanding and awareness on these subjects and be aware of 
the risks associated with breaching any of them.

Combating Financial Crime
Monitoring of compliance with laws, provisions and standards is considered the common prominent responsibility of 
the Compliance Department, Executive Management and the Board. Compliance Department is an independent 
function, characterised by an official status within CBI, which undertakes the identification, evaluation, monitoring and 
reporting of compliance risks, which include the risk of legal sanctions, legislative and financial loss, or damage to the 
reputation of CBI as a result of failure to abide by laws and regulations, the charter of professional conduct and the 
standards of good practices. In order to enable the Compliance Department to efficiently perform its functions and 
responsibilities, it has been granted authority to deal with compliance matters within CBI’s activities and has been 
given unrestricted access to all information, employee records and CBI’s operations in the UAE.

Compliance Department is also empowered to conduct investigations relevant to any possible irregularity. 
Compliance Department’s responsibilities are carried out through the implementation of a compliance program that 
specifies its activities. The Board Risk Committee approves the Compliance policies and Compliance procedures are 
approved at the appropriate management committee level. The Compliance Department submits periodic reports to 
the Board Risk Committee, Management Risk Committee and Compliance Committee concerning relevant regulatory 
updates, compliance issues, irregularities, and the corrective actions hence implemented.

In 2021, next to having its Sanctions Policy, AML/CTF/KYC Policy, FATCA/CRS Policy updated, Compliance Department 
continued to review and improve the Suspicious Transaction Reporting (STR) to CBUAE. Note that new regulation was 
issued by CBUAE with a view to render STR-reporting by banks faster and more efficient. Furthermore, in order to 
strengthen the compliance culture in CBI, a number of compliance key performance indicators was rolled out to 
virtually all staff which aims to drive more accountability for compliance bank-wide and which was linked to year-end 
deliverables.

Major highlights/accomplishments for 2021 include:

•	 Testing and tuning of the bank’s automated transaction monitoring tools and the bank’s payment screening tools;

•	 Creation of three policy documents associated with the Consumer Protection Regulation and Standard, i.e. 
Conduct Risk Framework, Code of Fair Treatment of Consumers and Market Conduct Compliance Policy;

•	 Roll-out of an important automated scenario which flags customer’s transactional behaviour that is not 
commensurate with their KYC-profile;

The Head of Compliance participates in various Management Committees, including the Compliance Committee, the 
Management Risk Committee as a voting member and routinely in other Management Committees including Internal 
Control Committee as a non-voting observer but a value- adding member. 

Mr. David Pije assumed the role of Head of Compliance in March 2020 to date.

5.2 Risk Management Department
Risk Management Department, headed by the Chief Risk Officer, undertakes the design and implementation of the 
Risk framework, as approved by the Board. Risk management policies and procedures are established in order to 
identify, assess and monitor the risks at organizational level within the Bank’s risk capacity and risk appetite. The 
process of independent risk oversight is a part of the strategic planning for CBI and includes business risks such as 
variables that may arise in the environment, technology and business.
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Risk Management Department is considered the ultimate administrative authority vested to deal with the various risk 
aspects at the organizational level. Risk Management Department undertakes the formulation and review of the risk 
management strategy, defines the risk management policies and recommends for Board approval, evaluates the 
activities of risk management and control mechanisms, and assesses and determines CBI’s operational (including 
cyber security), credit, market, strategic, legal, reputational and external risks. Risk Management Department also 
ensures the implementation of operational plans to monitor and manage these risks, reviews and monitors cases of 
fraud and operating losses, and oversees the legal disputes at all levels of CBI. In order to achieve the strategic 
objectives of CBI, the Risk Management Department has spent obvious efforts to strengthen the risk management 
environment of CBI.

Interaction of Risk Appetite with Business Strategy
The CBI risk appetite framework has been enhanced through continued progress in the development of appropriate 
quantitative and qualitative risk appetite measures. These measures provide a principle basis for determining and 
monitoring risk-based performance across the Bank as actual, forecast and stress targets. The target measures are a 
product of the CBI’s risk appetite statement and definition that aligns directly from CBI’s vision and strategy. To 
embed CBI’s risk appetite, risk adjusted performance indicators for key business units, their segments and all of CBI’s 
entities are calculated and distributed on a monthly basis to the Asset and Liability Committee and Executive 
Management. The Risk Appetite is closely monitored by Chief Risk Officer through his monthly CRO Dashboard that 
gets published to CEO and Board Risk Committee.

Mrs. Randa Kreidieh assumed the role of Acting CRO in April 2021 and was confirmed as CRO in November 2021.

5.3 Internal Audit Department
Internal Audit is an independent appraisal function established to evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of 
controls, systems, policies and procedures within CBI. The objectives of the Internal Audit Function are as follows:

•	 Review the business activities that are carried out by the respective departments within the organization and 
determine whether they are in accordance with the CBI’s objectives, policies and procedures and relevant rules 
and regulations;

•	 Review the reliability and integrity of financial and operating information and the means used to identify, 
measure, classify and report such information;

•	 Review and appraise the efficiency with which resources are employed; and

•	 Review and evaluate governance and risk management processes. 

The Internal Audit Function is accountable to the Board (through the Board Audit Committee) and:

•	 Provides a periodic assessment on the adequacy and effectiveness of CBI’s processes for controlling its activities 
and managing its risks;

•	 Reports significant issues related to governance, risk management and internal control processes, including 
improvements to those processes;

•	 Periodically provides information on the status and results of the audit plan and the sufficiency of the internal 
audit resources; and		

•	 Coordinates with and provide overview of other control and monitoring functions (e.g. risk management, 
compliance and information security).

The Head of Internal Audit Department reports functionally to the Board Audit Committee with administrative 
reporting to the CEO. The Head of Internal Audit Department is appointed by the Audit Committee and submits 
periodic reports directly to the Audit Committee of the Board. The Audit Committee is responsible for the 
appointment, removal and compensation of the Head of Internal Audit Department in order to enhance the 
independence and objectivity of the Internal Audit function. 

The Internal Audit function ensures it is free from any conflict of interest arising either from professional or personal 
relationships or other interests in CBI Group or related activity. In order to preserve its objectivity and independence, 
the Internal Audit function has no direct operational responsibility or authority over any of the activities audited and 
remains independent of the audited activities. Accordingly, the Internal Audit function does not implement internal 
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controls, develop procedures, install systems, prepare records, or engage in any other activity that may impair internal 
auditor’s judgment. However, it may, if deemed appropriate by the Audit Committee, or if requested by Executive 
Management, review systems under development or implementation and advise on appropriate controls without 
prejudicing its right to subsequently audit such systems.

The internal audit function remains free from interference by any element in CBI, including matters of audit selection, 
scope, procedures, frequency, timing, or report content to permit maintenance of a necessary independent and 
objective mental attitude. The Head of Internal Audit Department is required to disclose any such interference to the 
Audit Committee and discuss its implications.

On a regular basis, the Internal Audit function liaises with Finance Department and external auditors, to ensure timely 
release and publication of quarterly results, as per statutory requirements.

The Head of Internal Audit Department routinely participates in various committees including, Management Risk 
Committee, Compliance Committee, Internal Remediation Committee and Central Procurement Committee as a 
non-voting observer but a value-adding member.

Mr. Ziad Abdelghani served the role of Acting Head of Internal Audit in April 2020 and assumed the role of Head of 
Internal Audit Department in November 2020.

6. EXTERNAL AUDITORS
In accordance with Article 243 of the Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 concerning Commercial Companies and Chapter 7 
(in general provisions) and SCA Corporate Governance Rules; CBI’s General Assembly appoints an external auditor for 
one (1) fiscal year based on recommendations made by the Audit Committee and the Board, provided the external 
auditor is not appointed for more than three (3) years consecutively. 

The General Assembly evaluates the performance of the external auditors and approves their reappointment and 
their remuneration external auditors attend the General Assembly meeting to present their report and answer any 
queries raised by shareholders. In accordance with International Standards on Auditing, the external auditor conducts 
an audit of CBI’s financial statements, quarterly and annually. The external auditor presents their reports to the Board 
and the General Assembly in conformity with the laws of the UAE. On 22nd March 2021, the General Assembly 
reappointed Deloitte & Touche for a total audit fee of AED 685,000. 

7. CREDIT RATINGS
The following table highlights the ratings of CBI by two leading rating agencies worldwide:

CBI FITCH ISSUER DEFAULT RATING (IDR) CAPITAL INTELLIGENCE FOREIGN CURRENCY RATING (FCR)

Long-Term Rating BBB+ BBB+

Short-Term Rating F2 A2

Outlook Stable Stable

8. CAPITAL AND SHARES
The authorized, issued and fully paid up share capital of CBI totalling AED 1,737,383,050.00 (One Billion Seven 
Hundred Thirty Seven Million Three Hundred Eighty Three Thousand and Fifty Dirhams) consists of 1,737,383,050 
(One Billion Seven Hundred Thirty Seven Million Three Hundred Eighty Three Thousand and Fifty) ordinary shares of 
AED 1 (One Dirham) each.



2021 Annual Report

53

CITIZENSHIP OF OWNERS INDIVIDUALS COMPANIES GOVERNMENT TOTAL

UAE 127 23 1 151

GCC 156 12 0 168

Arab 28 0 0 28

Others 18 4 0 22

Total 329 39 1 369

SHARE OWNERSHIP VOLUME NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS NUMBER OF SHARES OWNED PERCENTAGE OF OWNED SHARES

Less than 50,000 282 1,403,837 0.09%

50,000 – 500,000 45 8,840,591 0.50%

500,000 – 5,000,000 19 30,071,738 1.73%

Above 5,000,000 23 1,697,066,884 97.68%

Total 369 1,737,383,050 100%

10. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS OF CBI
As of December 31, 2021, the following entities have more than 5% shareholding in CBI:

•	 Qatar National Bank 				    40%

•	 Bin Owaida family and Business 			  22.11%

•	 Mohd Omar Bin Haidar Investment 		  11.15%

11. SHAREHOLDERS DISTRIBUTION BASED ON VOLUME
As of December 31, 2020, the shareholding of CBI was distributed in the following volumes:

9. SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE OF CBI
As of December 31, 2020, the shareholding structure of CBI was distributed in the following manner:



2021 Annual Report

54

12. SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
The Corporate Governance practices within CBI protect and facilitate the exercise of shareholders’ rights and ensure 
the equitable treatment of all shareholders, including minority shareholders. CBI maintains open and transparent 
channels of communication with its shareholders and has published all the necessary information for investors and 
stakeholders on a regular basis through its website, as well as other media. 

CBI’s Articles of Association also confirm that all capital shares hold equal rights, without discrimination, in terms  
of ownership in CBI’s assets, profits, attendance to the General Assembly meetings and voting, in application of the 
principle of “one vote per share”.

In accordance with the Commercial Companies Law, the Articles of Association states that the General Assembly shall 
hold one (1) ordinary meeting within four (4) months following the end of each financial year. The Board may call for  
a meeting of the General Assembly at its own discretion or whenever requested to do so for a certain purpose by the 
external auditor or by shareholders holding at least 10% of CBI capital.

The General Assembly may hear any proposal included in the agenda by the Board, and such proposal may be 
presented by a number of shareholders owning not less than 5% of the total number of shares of CBI.

Shareholders have the right to vote during the General Assembly in person or be replaced by another shareholder as  
a proxy. The Board presents its suggestions on the dividends distribution to the shareholders in the General Assembly 
based on CBI’s performance and results, along with the CBI’s strategy.

13. DISCLOSURE
The Corporate Governance framework within CBI ensures timely and accurate disclosure is made on all material 
matters regarding CBI, including the financial situation, performance, ownership, and governance of CBI. It abides by 
all disclosure requirements and furnishes all financial information and audit reports accurately and transparently to 
remain in line with international best practices as well as local regulatory requirements including financial data, 
reports of CBUAE, and the disclosures made to the ADX.

CBI affirms that all statements supplied in this regard are, to the best of its knowledge and belief, true, accurate and 
not misleading. Moreover, all of the CBI’s annual financial reports comply with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and the applicable provisions of CBUAE regulations. The external auditors’ report includes 
affirmations that they have received all required information and that the audit was conducted in accordance with the 
International Standards on Auditing (ISA).

14. BOARD MEMBERS DEALINGS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Board and the Executive Management review on regular basis all transactions with related parties. In 2021, CBI 
has not recorded any single transaction with a related party that exceed 5% of CBI’s capital or a trading of CBI shares 
by the Board members.

15. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND INSIDER TRADING
As part of CBI’s policy, all Board Members, Executive Management and insiders are aware of their legal and regulatory 
duties and obligations in relation to matters of conflict of interest and insider trading transactions. 

No conflict or suspicious transactions have been reported as an insider trading. 

16. HANDLING CUSTOMERS’ COMPLAINTS
Customers’ complaints are a crucial source of information in order to enhance and develop CBI’s activities, whereby 
customers are considered key to success and prosperity. Some organizations consider the customer the backbone for 
their survival, continuity, and success; therefore, the establishment of a Customer Satisfaction Unit that addresses 
their complaints has become a major and crucial objective for executive management in developed institutions. In the 
light of progress in legislation, laws and regulations that govern the relationship with the customers, and for the 
purpose of promoting and developing the transparency with stakeholders, CBI has established the framework and the 
appropriate mechanism for an independent unit specialized in managing customers’ complaints (Complaint 
Management).

Following the guidelines and recommendations of the UAE Banks Federation (UBF), CBI has set up a Customer 
Complaint Management team to ensure complaints are expeditiously handled and to customer satisfaction as far  
as possible, in line with the main principles of UBF (i.e. Transparency, Fairness, Empathy, Reliability and Accessibility). 
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Furthermore, a number of changes were made to the Complaint Management function, in accordance with the 
requirements pursuant to the Consumer Protection Regulation and Standard.

In applying these guidelines while resolving complaints, CBI aims to increase service quality standards and contribute 
to customer confidence in the banking sector within the UAE.

In 2021, 75% of customer complaints were resolved within the target of forty-eight (48) working hours. Complaints 
were managed on a priority basis and root-cause analysis was performed to ensure continuous improvement in CBI’s 
processes and service levels.

Ensuring multiple access channels for customers raising complaints with a centralized approach to monitoring, 
managing, and resolving complaints by one team has helped in terms of understanding customer concerns and 
providing them with required assistance through their preferred communication channel.

17. BOARD’S REMUNERATION
In March 2021, the General Assembly approved the remuneration of the Board of Directors for serving on the Board 
for the year ended on 31 December 2021.  However, the Bank received a letter from SCA on 18th April 2021 with a 
rejection on the payment of the Board remuneration on the basis that the net profits  of the Bank resulted from the 
consolidation of financial statements of subsidiary companies and belong to the non-controlling shareholders; hence 
are not part of the calculation of the Board’s remuneration. 

For the 2021 remuneration, the Board Nomination and Remuneration Committee submits its recommendations 
to the Board. Upon approval by the Board, the final recommendation for aggregate Board remuneration is 
submitted for approval by the shareholders at the upcoming General Assembly.

18. SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS RAISED AT GENERAL ASSEMBLY

The following topic was raised as an item for special resolutions at the General Assembly 2021:

Items:												                  Status: Rejected

1.	 To Approve a recommendation by the Board of Directors to increase the  capital of the Bank by way of issuing 
four hundred and thirty million (430,000,000) new shares for the price of Dirham one (AED 1) per share to comply 
with Article 76(1) of the Federal Decree Law number 14 of 2018 in relation to the Central Bank and Organization 
of the Financial Institutions and Activities, which requires UAE shareholding to be not less than 60%, and to 
authorize the Board of Directors to determine the terms and the date of issuance with the objective to comply 
with the mentioned legal requirements, subject to obtaining approvals of the Central Bank of the UAE and the 
Securities and Commodities Authority.

2.	 For purposes of increasing the Company’s capital, to approve amendment of clause (5) of the Articles of 
Association to read as follow:

“The Company’s capital is Dirham (2,167,383,050) two billion, one hundred sixty-seven million, three hundred eighty-three 
thousand, and fifty dirham, distributed at two billions, one hundred sixty seven million, three hundred eighty three 
thousand, and fifty shares, at a value of one Dirham per each share, all are cash shares paid in full.”

CONCLUSION
CBI has continued its efforts to enhance its existing Corporate Governance Framework and adopt the latest best 
practices in this regard. This in turn will maintain and enhance the stability and soundness of the organization and the 
trust of the shareholders, potential investors and all the other stakeholders despite the challenging market 
conditions.

This year was a pivotal step towards preparing the next era of CBI governance and management pillars in terms of 
preparing the new set-up of the Board, the Board Committees together with related Executive Management 
supporting functionalities considering the unprecedented circumstances and the significant challenges during 2021.

As corporate governance is the business of all the financial players in the United Arab Emirates, we would like to 
extend our appreciation to the Central Bank, the Securities and Commodities Authority and the Ministry of Economy 
and Commerce, for their efforts and support to CBI in fulfilling its transitional procedures smoothly. We also would 
like to thank all CBI stakeholders for their attention, consideration and contributions to what CBI is today.
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Annual Report of the Internal Shari'ah Supervision Committee of Commercial 

Bank International Al Islami 

Issued on: 27 February 2022 

To: Shareholders of Commercial Bank International Al Islami ("the Institution") 

After greetings, 

Pursuant to requirements stipulated in the relevant laws, regulations and standards ("the 
Regulatory Requirements"), the Internal Shari'ah Supervision Committee of the Institution 
("ISSC") presents to you the ISSC 's Annual Report regarding Shari' ah compliant businesses and 
operations of the Institution for the financial year ending on 31 December 2021 ("Financial 
Year"). 

1. Responsibility of the ISSC

In accordance with the Regulatory Requirements and the ISSC's charter, the ISSC's
responsibility is stipulated as to:

a. undertake Shari'ah supervision of all businesses, activities, products, services,
contracts, documents and business charters of the Institution; and the Institution's
policies, accounting standards, operations and activities in general, memorandum of
association, charter, financial statements, allocation of expenditures and costs, and
distribution of profits between holders of investment accounts and shareholders
("Institution's Activities") and issue Shari'ah resolutions in this regard, and

b. determine Shari'ah parameters necessary for the Institution's Activities, and the
Institution's compliance with Islamic Shari'ah within the framework of the rules,
principles, and standards set by the Higher Shari'ah Authority ("HSA") to ascertain
compliance of the Institution with Islamic Shari'ah.

The senior management is responsible for compliance of the Institution with Islamic 
Shari'ah in accordance with the HSA's resolutions, fatwas, and opinions, and the ISSC's 
resolutions within the framework of the rules, principles, and standards set by the HSA 
("Compliance with Islamic Shari'ah") in all Institution's Activities, and the Board bears the 
ultimate responsibility in this regard. 

2. Shari'ah Standards

In accordance with the HSA's resolution (No. l 8/3/2018), and with effect from 01/09/2018,
the ISSC has abided by the Shari'ah standards issued by the Accounting and Auditing
Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) as minimum Shari'ah
requirements, in all fatwas, approvals, endorsements and recommendations, relating to the
Institution's Activities without exception.

3. Duties Fulfilled by the ISSC During the Financial Year
The ISSC conducted Shari'ah supervision of the Institution's Activities by reviewing those
Activities, and monitoring them through the internal Shari'ah control section, internal
Shari'ah audit, in accordance with the ISSC's authorities and responsibilities, and pursuant
to the Regulatory Requirements in this regard. The ISSC's activities included the following:

a. Convening 4 meetings during the year.
b. Issuing fatwas, resolutions and opinions on matters presented to the ISSC in relation

to the Institution's Activities.

3/4 



CBUAE Classification: Restricted 

c. Monitoring compliance of policies, procedures, accounting standards, product
structures, contracts, documentation, business charters, and other documentation
submitted by the Institution to the ISSC for approval.

d. Ascertaining the level of compliance of allocation of expenditures and costs, and
distribution of profits between investment accounts holders and shareholders with
parameters set by the ISSC.

e. Supervision through the internal Shari'ah control section, internal Shari'ah audit, of
the Institution's Activities including supervision of executed transactions and adopted
procedures on the basis of samples selected from executed transactions, and reviewing
reports submitted in this regard.

f. Providing guidance to relevant parties in the Institution - to rectify (where possible)
incidents cited in the reports prepared by internal Shari'ah control section, internal
Shari'ah audit, and issuing of resolutions to set aside revenue derived from
transactions in which non-compliances were identified for such revenue to be disposed
towards charitable purposes.

g. Approving corrective and preventive measures related to identified incidents to
preclude their reoccurrence in the future.

h. Communicating with the Board and its subcommittees, and the senior management of
the Institution (as needed) concerning the Institution's compliance with Islamic
Shari'ah.

The ISSC sought to obtain all information and interpretations deemed necessary in order to 
reach a reasonable degree of certainty that the Institution is compliant with Islamic Shari' ah. 

4. Independence of the ISSC
The ISSC acknowledges that it has carried out all of its duties independently and with the
support and cooperation of the senior management and the Board of the Institution. The
ISSC received the required assistance to access all documents and data, and to discuss all
amendments and Shari'ah requirements.

5. The ISSC's Opinion on the Shari'ah Compliance Status of the Institution

Premised on information and explanation that were provided to us with the aim of
ascertaining compliance with Islamic Shari'ah, the ISSC has concluded with a reasonable
level of confidence, that the Institution's Activities are in compliance with Islamic Shari'ah,
except for the incidents of non-compliance observed, as highlighted in the relevant reports.
The ISSC also provided directions to take appropriate measure in this regard.

The ISSC formed its opinion, as outlined above, exclusively on the basis of information 
perused by the ISSC during the financial year. 

Signatures of members of the Internal Shari'ah Supervision Committee of the Institution 

Salah Bin Fahad AlShalhoob 

Ahmed Kulaib Alteneiji 

Head of Internal Shari'ah 
Supervision Committee 

Member of Internal Shari'ah 
Supervision Committee 

(End of the Report) 
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Welcome to Commercial Bank International’s Sustainability Report for 2021 which highlights our commitment 
and performance towards environmental, social and governance parameters. This is our second report, and we 
are proud to continue our journey in becoming a more sustainable organisation. We report on our ESG and 
sustainability parameters in line with SCA, ADX ESG, and GRI Guidelines. This report highlights our initiatives to 
build reliance for our customers, employees, vendors and communities.

Feedback
We value and welcome your feedback on our report, as well as our performance, to help us improve our operations 
and reporting in the subsequent years. Please share your feedback with 

Hala Rawhi Al Safadi,  
Company Secretary 
at Hala.Alsafadi@cbi.ae

Reporting Scope and Parameters 
This report has been prepared in accordance with GRI Standards - Core Option.

Alignments 
The report aligns with SCA and ADX ESG Guidelines, GRI G4 Financial Service Sectors disclosures, United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals (UNSDGs), United Nations Global Compact (UNGC) Principles, the Paris Climate 
Agreement, UAE Vision 2021 and UAE Strategy 2050.

Comparable Data 
Certain disclosures in the report showcase our performance for the years 2019, 2020 and 2021 highlighting our 
primary initiatives.

Assurance 
We chose to follow the internal assurance process for our inaugural year of reporting providing our stakeholders  
with complete trust in the reported information.

•	 Year - This report covers our performance 
in the Environmental, Social and 
Governance chapters for the year 2021.

•	 Entities - The entity included in the scope 
of this report is Commercial Bank 
International. 

•	 Operational Boundary - This report 
covers our operation in the UAE only.
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Dear Stakeholders,

I am delighted to present our second 
sustainability report providing details on our 
performance on Environmental, Social and 
Governance initiatives for the year 2021.

The commitment to these subjects is as critical 
as ever, as countries across the globe continue  
to witness changes in the way communities, 
individuals and economies function.

CBI remains dedicated to expanding our 
sustainability efforts in alignment with the 
global and national visions, which place 
emphasis on digitisation and environmental 
responsibility. We have also received strong 
support and encouragement from our key 
stakeholders to place more focus on the ESG 
agenda. We strive to incorporate the 
international and national visions into our 
business strategies and priorities in a drive to 
make our Bank more sustainable.

I would like to thank our esteemed stakeholders 
for demonstrating their complete trust and 
confidence in CBI during the ongoing 
unpredictability of this global pandemic and for 
extending their support throughout the year. 
Myself, and the CBI team look forward to 
continuing to implement our economic and 
sustainability agendas with the essential input 
of our stakeholders.

Ali Sultan Rakkad Al Amri
Chief Executive Officer

CEO’S  
INTRODUCTION 
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KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
Environmental Performance
Our environmental performance improved in 2021 across a number of our measurements thanks to the initiatives  
put in place in 2020 along with continued remote working and the ongoing usage of virtual platforms to support our 
services. Some of the key environmental achievements/developments in 2021, compared to 2020, include the 
following: 

Other Metrics for 2021 versus 2020
•	 Increased our fuel consumption by vehicles owned or leased by the Bank by 68% in 2021

A number of our achievements from 2020 have been maintained or seen an increase in 2021. These were electricity, 
water and fuel consumption. These metrics were impacted as business and the normal associated practices returned 
to pre-pandemic levels. (e.g. returning to work in the office and levels of traffic volume).   

Social Performance
We became more selective in the talent we hired, recruiting staff that fit our culture and goals. We have a total 
rewards system, including not only compensation but also a full suite of benefits to ensure a highly competitive 
package. 

Reduced our total 
electricity consumption 
from CBI buildings by 7%

Reduced our other 
indirect emissions by 90% 
(e.g. Emission from 
business air travel)

Reduced our 
shredded paper 
consumption by 50% 

Maintained our total 
utility and drinking water 
consumption year-on-year 
in 2021

Reduced our emissions 
from the generation of 
purchased electricity, 
steam, heating, and 
cooling consumed by 3%  

Maintained our total 
electricity consumption/
employee from CBI 
buildings

76  
new staff hires in 2021

883 employee training 
sessions, an increase of 24% 
compared to 2020

A diverse work force of 392
full-time employees, across 
34 nationalities

22% 
of our employees are Emirati

42% 
of our employees are female

As part of our Paternity policy 

16 staff took leave in 2021

5,036 total hours of 
employee training provided 
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Financial Performance
In 2021, we continued to strongly support our customers and the growth of the UAE economy as the normalisation of 
our businesses and lives following the pandemic has gathered more momentum. By placing our customers at the 
centre of everything we do and through the dedication and hard work of our people, we have grown our balance 
sheet and loans significantly and tripled our net profit at AED 131 million, compared to the previous year. In 2022, our 
capital adequacy ratio remains strong at 14.8%. We will continue to focus on our customers and help them grow their 
businesses and realise their ambitions.

Net profit 

increased by  288% to AED 131 million from AED 34 million in 2020

Total assets 

increased by  21% to AED 20.8 billion from AED 17.1 billion in 2020

Loans and advances 

increased by  14% to AED 11.8 billion from AED 10.4 billion in 2020

Customer deposits 

increased by  20% to AED 12.6 billion from AED 10.5 billion in 2020

Credit provisions

decreased by 51% to AED 198 million from AED 400 million in 2020

The intention is to keep this momentum and focus on our ESG agenda in 2022 and future years. 
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ABOUT CBI
Incorporated in the year 1991, CBI is a local UAE bank serving the leading companies and ambitious people of UAE in 
personal and professional finances. Our objective is to serve our clients by assisting them in prospering in their 
personal and professional life, in support of UAE’s goal. Our aim is to connect with their consumers and address their 
needs by embracing diversity and inclusion. CBI is based in Dubai, with its headquarters in Ras Al Khaimah, and is 
publicly traded on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange. The majority of shareholders are UAE citizens, including the  
Ras Al Khaimah Government and our Board of Directors, chaired by our Chairman, Saif Ali Al Shehhi. CBI offers a 
diverse range of banking products and tailored financial solutions in corporate, retail, and Islamic banking, including 
loans, trade services, cash management, and treasury & market solutions, as well as personal account services and 
credit cards.

Our Vision 
To be recognised as a high performing UAE bank for leading companies and ambitious individuals who value long-term 
banking relationships.

Our Mission 
Banking on the people of the UAE, CBI helps them to prosper in their personal and business lives, in support of the 
Nation’s vision.

CBI continues to operate an Empathy, Reliability, and Accessibility committee in accordance with the UAE Banks 
Federation’s (UBF) norms and recommendations. CBI hopes to improve service quality standards and boost consumer 
trust in the UAE banking sector by following these principles when handling complaints. 

Customer complaints are always prioritised as customers are our primary focus. Root-cause analyses are conducted to 
ensure that CBI’s processes and service standards are continually improved. Providing customers with multiple access 
channels for filing complaints, as well as a centralised approach to monitoring, managing, and resolving complaints by 
a single team, has aided in understanding customer concerns and providing them with necessary assistance through 
their preferred communication channel.

CBI Continue to Manage the Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic
CBI is dedicated to establishing unrivalled standards of workplace safety, continuing professional development and 
job satisfaction by maintaining an increasingly attractive and supportive working environment for all our employees.

In yet another year characterised by the ever-present threat from the COVID-19 pandemic, CBI  continued to 
safeguard our people and customers from the virus, whilst maintaining a dynamic suite of blended working 
arrangements to ensure increasing flexibility for our staff.

As our most valuable asset, our people are at the very heart of CBI’s comprehensive strategy and vision for growth 
and success going forward. Our people, as well as our customers’, health and well-being therefore remained our 
primary focus throughout 2021, as we gradually began to move back toward normal pre-pandemic working 
arrangements, mindful of the concerns surrounding new COVID-19 variants as the economic recovery gathered pace.
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2022 PLANS

We will continue to invest in the community and contribute  
to the UAE economy’s growth.

Our principles of accountability, customer focus,  
and trust will continue to be strongly upheld.

We will continue to employ graduates and diploma-level 
individuals with the goal of further developing and increasing 
their skills throughout the Bank through further learning and 
development opportunities.

Our employees will continue to be at the core of our 
business, and we will continue to invest in developing their 
skills and supporting their professional growth and wellness.

We strive to fulfil the requirements of our staff, clients 
and communities across the UAE by maintaining 
human-centric approach.

We aim to focus our efforts on training and promoting UAE 
nationals to management and executive positions inside the 
company, in order to meet our aspirational goal of increasing 
the number of Emiratis at all levels.
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ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP 
CBI considers the environmental effect of our operations using environmental performance measures such as energy 
conservation, waste reduction and greenhouse gas emissions. We have a framework in place that allows us to analyse 
and incorporate environmental concerns, opportunities and problems. CBI’s senior management is actively involved in 
assessing and approving policies and actions relating to environmental issues. 

Part of our environmental goals is to continually raise awareness among all of our employees, suppliers and customers 
about the importance of reducing their carbon footprint by implementing initiatives like waste recycling, responsible 
purchasing, and increasing digital operations to encourage paperless operations. Climate change risks and 
opportunities must be managed not just for our supply chain, customers and employees, but also for our business as a 
whole.

GHG Emissions
In line with the global and national efforts to attenuate global warming-induced climate change, we have made it a 
practice of keeping a track of our GHG Emissions and constantly undertake the measures to minimise it within our 
operations and beyond. Following GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard to calculate our GHG 
Emissions: 

Our GHG emission from direct operations under the Scope 1 are 47,026 kg CO2

(68% increase in the year 2021 from 2020)

Scope 1: Direct Emissions Fuel Consumption by Vehicles Owned or Leased (tCO2)

The increase in emissions from 2020 to 2021 is due to the return to the office as working protocols return to pre-
pandemic levels.
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Our GHG emission from indirect operations under the Scope 2 are 842,637 kg CO2 

(3% reduction in the year 2021 from 2020)

Scope 2: Indirect Emissions Electricity Consumption (tCO2)

Our GHG emission from indirect operations under the Scope 3 are 329 kg CO2

Scope 3: Other Indirect Emissions Air Travel (tCO2)

The significant decrease in indirect emissions since 2020 is a result of the reduction in international air travel due to 
the ongoing pandemic restrictions.

1,361

843

0.3
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Plan and manage our organic waste by in-house 
composting awareness and systems which save 
organic waste from going into landfills and 
reduce our Carbon Dioxide (CO2) and Methane 
(CH4) emissions.

Monitor the use of natural resources  
and set corporate targets on reducing  
GHG emissions and optimising asset 
performance.

Continue to reduce our paper 
consumption and take a step closer 
to the paperless transformation.

We examined the way we manage our properties as part of our environmental commitments, with the goal of 
decreasing our carbon footprint and minimising our negative impact on the globe’s ecosystem. Electronic bank 
statements were deployed across our client base and a printer rationalisation programme was executed to guarantee 
that all spent toner cartridges were recycled in an ecologically responsible manner. These initiatives have continued 
into 2021. 

In recent years, we joined other concerned organisations and individuals across the world in turning down the lights 
to demonstrate our support for the global Earth Hour effort. Continuous monitoring and improvement of our 
emission performance and other environmental innovations are some of the important components of environment 
management managed by our employees. Our dedication to the environment extends well beyond compliance, 
allowing us to investigate all aspects of the environment.

OUR 2022 GOALS 
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Energy, Water and Paper Consumption
We intend to restrict the environmental footprint of our business operations, blending our corporate actions and 
societal impacts that we account for. In the coming years, we plan to minimise our ecological impact by implementing 
environment-friendly policies and behaviours. We continuously aim to optimise our sustainability performance in our 
operations, including energy consumption, water consumption and paper recycling.

Electricity Consumption

2,107MWh
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Fuel Consumption by Vehicles 
Owned or Leased by Bank

Utility Water Consumption

Electricity Consumption  
per Employee

Water Consumption  
per Employee 

20 Kilolitre

2,500 Kilolitre

5 MWh

6 Kilolitre

12

10

8

6

4

2

-

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

-

25

20

15

10

5

-

9,000

8,000

7,000

6,000

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

-

9

5 5

2019

2019 2019

20192020

2020 2020

20202021

2021 2021

2021

20

12

20



2021 Annual Report

73

Total Water Consumption

2,510 Kilolitre
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SOCIAL STEWARDSHIP
Our success is attributed to our employees’ hard work and dedication. They are our pillars of strength, and we have 
consistently provided an atmosphere that encourages our workers’ overall growth. We promote diversity at work, pay 
generously and appreciate employee success, promote women’s employment and provide an open learning 
environment for employees to improve their abilities.

Number of F/T Employees

Newly Hired Employees Annually  
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Number of Nationalities

Number of Female Employees 
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We planned out and fine-tuned our peripheral development and CSR programmes that have established enduring 
trust and brought smiles, always sensitive and caring to the needs, concerns, ambitions, and well-being of the 
surrounding local populations.
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Employee Well-being
CBI believes in providing a vibrant, inspirational, action-oriented office environment, and is committed to providing an 
excellent workplace for our employees. Our many employee-related programmes and policies guarantee that our 
colleagues remain engaged at work, realise their career potential, and continue to progress in parallel with the firm. 

We are constantly working to improve our employee experience, including onboarding, career advancement through 
training and development, performance-based incentives, and a variety of employee engagement activities 
throughout the year, to ensure that working with us is a rewarding and enriching experience. We launched the 
“Banking on Emiratis’” programme to attract Emirati talent to the Bank and fulfil our ambitious Emiratisation targets, 
with the number of UAE nationals in the Bank contributing to 22% in 2021.

Number of Emirati Employees
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CBI is also planning on incentivising the pay of employees in the coming years on sustainability parameters. The ratio 
of management pay scale as compared to the employees and the gender pay scale ratio is as per the industry 
standards in the UAE.
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Training and Development 
CBI recognises that talent management is both critical and necessary in today’s corporate world. The talents fostered 
in this competitive environment will be the organisation’s future leaders, and it is our primary job to encourage them. 
Our training and development programmes are well-aligned with our long-term company goals, resulting in improved 
leadership skills and general well-being. The Bank concentrates on attracting and retaining high-performing 
personnel, and considerable resources are allocated to training and development programmes for employees at all 
levels. CBI employees are given assistance to continuously improve their skills and abilities.

To improve our workers’ talents, we give on-the job technical training. In 2021, we continued our internship 
programme for people of determination, the blood donation campaign, and the promotion of the Supreme Council 
for Motherhood and Childhood’s “My Child’s Seat” campaign.

Promotion of Ethical Behaviour  
CBI ensures that our corporate culture supports ethical behaviour and integrity, which are critical to the banking 
sector. In 2021, the Executive Management continued to emphasise the importance of everyone’s responsibility to 
follow the code of ethics and protect CBI’s interests by reporting unethical behaviour such as embezzlement, fraud, 
corruption, bribery, conflicts of interest, customer privacy violations, discrimination, harassment, law violations, and 
factual misrepresentation.

Customer Focus 
Regarding our customer-focused activities, a customer education programme has been in operation for the past year. 
This was established in response to the growth of global cyber-crime and to work in parallel with our new digital 
banking channels thus ensuring greater awareness and understanding of the importance of data protection and 
security. 
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CBI will continue its path to greater competitiveness  
in our marketplace, enhancing our ability to attract key 
talent through a growing proposition of rewards, 
experiences and training aligned with the demands of  
the evolving banking landscape and our changing 
business needs.

We will also build on our Emiratisation strategy to provide 
further support to UAE nationals entering and engaging 
in the banking sector, while also maintaining our focus on 
creating an inclusive and diverse talent base drawn from  
a variety of different backgrounds and industries to 
power our progress.

Specific initiatives planned for 2022 include new tools  
to ensure efficient two-way dialogue with our employees, 
ensuring active listening, adapting to their needs and 
strengthening employee engagement to enhance  
our business.

OUR 2022 GOALS
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ETHICAL GOVERNANCE
CBI considers sound corporate governance to be a key factor to enhance its image, both locally and internationally, 
through a commitment to corporate culture that motivates directors, managers and employees to comply with sound 
principles of conduct. Corporate governance involves a set of relationships between a company’s management, its 
Board of Directors (Board), its shareholders and its other stakeholders.

Corporate governance also provides the structure through which the objectives of the company are set, and the 
means of attaining those objectives and monitoring performance are determined. Effective corporate governance is 
not an end, it is a means to the proper functioning of a financial institution and the banking sector overall. CBI’s safety 
and soundness are key to its financial stability and the way it conducts its business; therefore, it is central to creating 
market confidence and business integrity.

Corporate governance standards in CBI are naturally pursued in a manner consistent with the applicable national laws, 
regulations and codes. CBI is subject to the regulations issued by Central Bank of United Arab Emirates (CBUAE) and 
the Securities and Commodities Authority (SCA) as well as guidelines and international best practices issued by the 
Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) and the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development 
(OECD).
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Board of Directors

Board Audit 
Committee

Corporate Governance Structure

Ali Sultan Rakkad Al Amri 
Chief Executive Officer

Board Risk 
Committee

Mrs. Randa Kreidieh assumed the role of Acting CRO in April 2021 and was confirmed as CRO  in November 2021.

Please note that the above Corporate Governance Structure was valid as of 31 December 2021

Tawfiq Adnan Zuwayyed 
Head of Legal

David Abraham Pije  
Head of Compliance 

Randa Kreidieh 
Chief Risk Officer 

Giovanni Everduin  
Head of Strategy  

and Transformation

Ziad Abdelghani 
Head of Internal Audit 

Hala Rawhi Al Safadi 
Company Secretary

Hashem Mohammad  
Ali Abu-Hanak 

Chief Credit Officer

Evren Altiok 
Chief Operating Officer

Punit Chawla 
Chief Financial Officer

Kumar Mahapatra 
Head of Wholesale  

Banking Group

Hassanain Ali 
Head of Retail  
Banking Group
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Structure Of Board Of Directors
In compliance with CBI’s Articles of Association, nine (9) members of the Board are elected or nominated for three (3) 
years renewable for the same period. The Board has the widest authority to oversee the Management of CBI and the 
right to appoint several managers or authorised persons and to vest in them the right to sign, solely or jointly, on 
behalf of CBI.

Members of the Board must have the necessary expertise and skills that qualify them to conduct their duties towards 
CBI’s best interests. They are also committed to spending the required amount of time and attention towards the 
accomplishment of their duties for the duration of their tenure.

In March 2021, the Board appointed Mr. Mohamed Ali Mussabah Al Nuaimi as a Board member following the 
resignation of Mr. Abdul Rahim Mohammed Al Awadhi and his appointment will be ratified at the General Assembly 
meeting held on 22nd March 2022. On 19th December 2021, Mrs. Fareeda Ali Abulfath resigned from the Board of 
Directors and a replacement will be appointed following the approval of CBUAE and later ratified at the General 
Assembly. As of 31st December 2021, there is one female representative in the Board of Directors of CBI (Ms. Maitha 
Saeed Al Falasi).

The Board of Directors at its meeting held on 24th March 2021 resolved to restructure Board Committees to increase 
the effectiveness of Board Committees and leverage on the experience of Board members. The Board further 
resolved to cancel the Board Governance, Nomination and Remuneration Committee (BGNRC) and Board Special 
Assets Committee (BSAC) and formed the Board Executive Committee.

As of 24th March 2021, the Board Committees are as follows:

•	 Board Audit Committee

•	 Board Risk Committee

•	 Board Credit Committee

•	 Board Nomination and Remuneration Committee

•	 Board Executive Committee 

CBI has continued its efforts to enhance its existing Corporate Governance Framework and adopt the latest best 
practices in this regard. This in turn will maintain and enhance the stability and soundness of the organisation and the 
trust of the shareholders, potential investors and all the other stakeholders despite the challenging market conditions.
This year was a pivotal step towards preparing the next era of CBI governance and management pillars in terms of 
preparing the new set-up of the Board, the Board Committees together with related Executive Management 
supporting functionalities considering the unprecedented circumstances and the significant challenges during 2021.
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STAKEHOLDER CONSULTATION  
AND MATERIALITY ANALYSIS
Stakeholders are defined by CBI as organisations and individuals who are influenced by and have the capacity to 
influence the Bank’s operations. Investors, employees, suppliers, consumers, government authorities and local 
communities are among our stakeholders. Our management follows the idea of aligning societal demands with 
commercial objectives. In order to create a long-term relationship with our stakeholders, we focus on obtaining  
ideas, feedback, and concerns from them and reflecting these points in the way we operate. We make sure that  
the information received through stakeholder engagement is used to influence our approach. We try to link and 
connect with our stakeholders through a variety of formal and informal channels, as well as other continuous  
formal and social events.

CBI’s Approach To Stakeholder Engagement
Our stakeholders are our partners in producing value for a better and more sustainable world. 

We engage with all our stakeholders to help them get a better understanding of our common aims. The frequency of 
engagement is determined by the degree to which the stakeholder group will have an impact on our business. We 
engage in constructive discussion with our stakeholders and explain our company’s business goals and long-term 
vision, as well as the path we are taking and how the current market is impacting our operations. These initiatives 
contribute to our stakeholders’ belief in the business. We evaluate our progress and how stakeholder input has 
translated into effective decision making on a regular basis.

Identification of Key Stakeholder
Stakeholder groups are identified and prioritised depending on their importance to our company and capacity to 
influence CBI’s choices. The wide diversity associated with our business is also reflected in our list of stakeholders 
including customers, employees, regulators, government authorities, suppliers, local institutions and environmental 
and social advocates inside and outside our organisation.

Materiality Analysis
Understanding our stakeholders’ social, environmental, and economic concerns is critical to ensure that we stay 
focused on the important issues today and in the future. Our materiality matrix was formulated as we continued to 
develop and strengthen our internal and external stakeholder engagement approach. Economic, social, and 
environmental concerns that affect our potential to produce long-term value are major subjects of focus. This is 
assessed by considering their impact on the organisation’s strategy, governance, performance and/or future 
prospects. To update our materiality evaluation, we have set four important actions.

1.	 Questionnaire Distribution
	 Conducting an in-depth examination of the sector, reporting guidelines, peer evaluations, and assessing our ability 

to influence the UAE’s Sustainable Development Goals. The questions were based on GRI standards and also 
addressed a wide range of topics such as financial, social and environmental concerns.

2.	 Defining Topics
	 Each topic has a clear description as well as a scoring method.

3.	 Prioritisation of Issues 
	 Stakeholder consultation was carried out with different stakeholder groups to assess their perspectives on the 

relevance and priority of issues in their interactions with CBI.

4.	 Alignment of National & International Plans and Commitments 
	 The findings of the process were validated to verify that we understand what matters most to our stakeholders 

and how it matches with our prioritisation of material concerns in order to generate value today, and in the 
medium to long term align with our corporate, national and global vision.
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Materiality Matrix
The placement of issues on the materiality matrix clearly indicates a significant level of agreement between the 
opinions of internal and external stakeholders, which were obtained separately. 

The materiality matrix shows how important a number of themes connected to our business affect our stakeholders, 
such as e-banking and digital services, customer experience and satisfaction, data privacy and cybersecurity.

-



2021 Annual Report

84

ENVIRONMENTAL DISCLOSURES

ENVIRONMENTAL  
DISCLOSURES CALCULATIONS CORRESPONDING

GRI STANDARD
CORRESPONDING
SDG

PAGE NUMBERS/
URLS OR DIRECT 
ANSWERS

E1-
GHG
Emissions

E1.1) Total amount in CO2
equivalents, for Scope 1

E1.2) Total amount, in CO2
equivalents, for Scope 2 (if
applicable)

E1.3) Total amount, in CO2 
equivalents, for Scope 3 (if 
applicable)

GRI 305:
Emissions 2016

SDG 13:
Climate Action

Page 66

GHG Emissions

Disclaimer: In 2021
the improvement 
in numbers was 
mainly due to the 
“working from 
home” scheme.

E2-
Emissions
Intensity

E2.1) Total GHG emissions
per output scaling factor

E2.2) Total non-GHG
emissions per output
scaling factor

GRI 305:
Emissions 2016

SDG 13:
Climate Action

Data currently
unavailable; we are
working to provide 
requisite details in
the next report.

E3-
Energy  
Usage

E2.1) Total GHG emissions
per output scaling factor

E2.2) Total non-GHG
emissions per output
scaling factor

SGRI 302:
Energy 2016

SDG 12:
Responsible
Consumption

Pages 66-67

Electricity and Fuel
Consumption
Disclaimer: In 2021 
the improvement 
in numbers was 
mainly    due to 
the “working from 
home” scheme.

E4-
Energy
Intensity

Total direct energy usage
per output scaling factor

GRI 302:
Energy 2016

SDG 12:
Responsible
Consumption

Page 69-71
Disclaimer: In 2021
the improvement in
numbers was 
mainly
due to the “working
from home” 
scheme.

E5-
Energy
Mix

Percentage: Energy usage
by generation type

GRI 302:
Energy 2016

SDG 12:
Responsible
Consumption

CBI does not have
direct control of
energy usage mix.
Primary energy is
sourced through
national grid.

E3-
Water  
Usage

E6.1) Total amount  
of water consumed

E6.2) Total amount  
of water reclaimed

GRI 303:
Water and Effluents  
2018 and Sanitation

SDG 6:
Clean Water

Page 70-71
Water Consumption 
Disclaimer: In 2021, 
the improvement 
in numbers was 
mainly due to the 
“working from 
home” scheme.

E7-
Environmental
Operations

E7.1) Does your 
company follow a formal 
Environmental Policy? 
Yes/ No

E7.2) Does your company 
follow specific waste, 
water, energy, and/or 
recycling polices? Yes/No

E7.3) Does your company 
use a recognised energy 
management
system?

GRI 103:
Management  
Approach 2016

No Environmental 
Policy in place.

No recycling 
Policies in place.

CBI is in 
consideration   
of developing 
the sustainability 
associated policies 
in the future.
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ENVIRONMENTAL  
DISCLOSURES CALCULATIONS CORRESPONDING

GRI STANDARD
CORRESPONDING
SDG

PAGE NUMBERS/
URLS OR DIRECT 
ANSWERS

E7-
Environmental
Operations

E7.1) Does your 
company follow a formal 
Environmental Policy? 
Yes/ No

E7.2) Does your company 
follow specific waste, 
water, energy, and/or 
recycling polices? Yes/No

E7.3) Does your company 
use a recognised energy 
management
system?

GRI 103:
Management  
Approach 2016

No Environmental 
Policy in place.

No recycling 
Policies in place.

CBI is in 
consideration   
of developing 
the sustainability 
associated policies 
in the future.

E8-
Environmental  
Oversight

Does your Management
Team oversee and/or 
manage sustainability 
issues? Yes/No

GRI 102:
General Disclosures 2016

SDG 13:
Climate Action

Yes, our 
management
oversee our 
initiatives towards 
sustainability.

E9-
Environmental
Oversight

Does your Board oversee
and/ or manage
sustainability issues?
Yes/No

GRI 102:
General
Disclosures
2016

SDG 13:
Climate Action Yes

E10-
Climate Risk
Mitigation

Total amount invested,
annually, in climate-related
infrastructure, resilience,
and product development

SDG 13:
Climate Action

No amount 
invested
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SOCIAL  
DISCLOSURES CALCULATIONS CORRESPONDING

GRI STANDARD
CORRESPONDING
SDG NOTES

S1-
CEO Pay Ratio

S1.1) Ratio: CEO total
compensation to median 
Full Time Equivalent (FTE)
total compensation

S1.2) Does your company
report this metric in
regulatory filings? Yes/No

GRI 102:
General  
Disclosures 2016

SDG 10:
Reduced
Inequalities

Page 75

Data currently
unavailable; we are
working to provide 
requisite details in
the next report.

S2-
Gender  
Pay Ratio

Ratio: Median male
compensation to median
female compensation

GRI 405:
Diversity and  
Equal Opportunity
2016

SDG 5:
Gender Equality

balanced and in line
with the industry
standards.

S3-
Employee
Turnover

S3.1) Percentage: Year-
over-
year change for full-time
employees

S3.2) Percentage: Year-
over- year change for part-
time employees

S3.3) Percentage: Year-
over- year change for
contractors/consultants

GRI 401:
Employment
2016

Pages 72-73

Consumption
Disclaimer: In 2021 the 
improvement in numbers 
was mainly    due to the 
“working from home” 
scheme.
“working from home” 
scheme.

Page 72
Number of full time
employees for year
2019, 2020 and 
2021.

No Part Time
Employees

Data currently
unavailable; we are
working to provide
requisite details in
the next report.

S4- Gender
Diversity

Total direct energy usage
per output scaling factor

GRI 302:
Energy 2016

SDG 12:
Responsible
Consumption

Page 74
Disclaimer: In 2021
the improvement in
numbers was 
mainly
due to the “working
from home” 
scheme.

S5-
Temporary
Worker Ratio

S5.1) Percentage: Total
enterprise headcount held
by part-time employees

S5.2) Percentage: Total
enterprise headcount held
by contractors and/or
consultants

GRI 102:
General
Disclosures
2016

No Part Time
Employees

Data currently
unavailable; we are
working to provide
requisite details in 
the next report.

S6-
Non-
Discrimination

Does your company follow
Non-discrimination policy?
Yes/No

GRI 103:
Management
Approach
2016*

SDG 10:
Reduced
Inequalities

No. 

CBI is developing
a Non-
discrimination
Policy.

SOCIAL DISCLOSURES
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SOCIAL  
DISCLOSURES CALCULATIONS CORRESPONDING

GRI STANDARD
CORRESPONDING
SDG NOTES

S7-
Injury Rate

Does your company follow
an occupational health 
and/ or global health and 
safety policy? Yes/No

GRI 103:
Management
Approach
2016*

SDG 3:
Good Health
and Well-Being

Data currently
unavailable; we are
working to provide
requisite details in 
the next report.

S8-
Global Health
and Safety

Does your company follow
an occupational health 
and/ or global health and 
safety policy? Yes/No

GRI 103:
Management
Approach
2016*

SDG 3:
Good Health
and Well-Being

No. 

CBI adhere to
local health and
safety policy
requirements. CBI
ensures that all
employees have
health insurance.

S9-
Child and  
Forced
Labour

S9.1) Does your company
follow a child and/or 
forced labour policy?  
Yes/No

S9.2) If yes, does your child
and/or forced labour policy
also cover suppliers and
vendors? Yes/No

GRI 103:
Management
Approach 2016

SDG 8:
Decent Work
and Economic
Growth

No. 

CBI will be
developing the 
policy in the coming 
year. 

Data currently
unavailable; we are
working to provide
requisite details 
in the
next report.

S10-
Human Rights

S10.1) Does your company
follow a human rights 
policy? Yes/No

S10.2) If yes, does your
human rights policy also
cover suppliers and 
vendors? Yes/No

GRI 103:
Management  
Approach
2016

SDG 10:
Reduced
Inequalities

No

Data currently
unavailable; we are
working to provide
requisite details in 
the next report.

S11-
Nationalisation

Percentage of national
employees

SDG 8:
Decent Work and 
Economic Growth

Page 74
Number of Emirati
Employees

S12-
Community
Investment

Amount invested in the
community, as a 
percentage
of company revenues.

GRI 413:
Local 
Communities 2016

SDG 8:
Decent Work
and Economic
Growth

No amount 
invested.
Potential work 
areas
are being 
evaluated
to be considered in
future.
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GOVERNANCE  
DISCLOSURES CALCULATIONS CORRESPONDING

GRI STANDARD
CORRESPONDING
SDG NOTES

G1-
Board Diversity

G1.1) Percentage: Total 
board seats occupied by 
men and women

G1.2) Percentage: 
Committee chairs occupied 
by men and women

GRI 405:
Diversity and Equal 
Opportunity 2016

SDG 5:
Gender Equality

10:1
Data currently 
unavailable; we are 
working to provide 
requisite details in 
the next report.

Data currently
unavailable; we are
working to provide
requisite details in 
the next report.

G2-
Board
Independence

G2.1) Does company 
prohibit CEO from serving 
as board chair? Yes/No

G2.2) Percentage: Total 
board seats occupied by
independent board 
members

Data currently
unavailable; we are
working to provide
requisite details 
in the
next report.

Data currently
unavailable; we are
working to provide
requisite details in 
the next report.

G3-
Incentivised Pay

Are executives formally
incentivised to perform on
sustainability?

Page 75

G4-
Supplier Code  
of Conduct

G4.1) Are your vendors or
suppliers required to 
follow a Code of Conduct? 
Yes/ No

G4.2) If yes, what 
percentage
of your suppliers have 
formally certified their 
compliance with
the code?

SDG 12:
Responsible
Consumption

Yes

Data currently
unavailable; we are
working to provide
requisite details in 
the next report.

G5-
Ethics and 
Prevention 
of Corruption

G5.1) Does your company
follow an Ethics and/or
Prevention of Corruption
policy? Yes/No

G5.2) If yes, what 
percentage
of your workforce has 
formally certified its 
compliance with
the policy?

SDG 16:
Peace, Justice
and Strong
Institutions

Yes

Data currently
unavailable; we are
working to provide
requisite details in 
the next report.

G6-
Data Privacy

G6.1) Does your company
follow a Data Privacy 
policy? Yes/No

G6.2) Has your company 
taken steps to comply with 
GDPR rules? Yes/No

Yes

Data currently
unavailable; we are
working to provide
requisite details in 
the next report.

GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES
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GOVERNANCE  
DISCLOSURES CALCULATIONS CORRESPONDING

GRI STANDARD
CORRESPONDING
SDG NOTES

G7-
Sustainability
Reporting

Does your company 
publish a sustainability 
report? Yes/No

This is CBI’s second
sustainability 
report.

G9-
Disclosure
Practices

G9.1) Does your company 
provide sustainability data 
to sustainability reporting 
frameworks? Yes/No

G9.2) Does your company 
focus on specific UN 
Sustainable Development 
Goals (SDGs)? Yes/No

G9.3) Does your company 
set targets and report 
progress of the UN SDGs? 
Yes/No

This is the second 
report. CBI will 
be considering    
in future for 
necessary 
disclosures.
No, CBI will be 
considering 
in next report 
for necessary  
disclosures.
No, CBI will be 
considering 
in next report 
for necessary 
disclosures.

G10-
External
Assurance

Are your sustainability
disclosures assured or 
verified by a third-party 
audit firm? Yes/No

GRI 103:
Management
Approach 2016
is to be used in 
combination with the topic 
specific Standards

No, we chose 
to have internal 
assurance this Year. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

 

The Shareholders 

Commercial Bank International P.S.C 

United Arab Emirates 

 

 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Commercial Bank International P.S.C (the “Bank”) 

and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”), United Arab Emirates which comprise the consolidated 

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of 

cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies.  

 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

consolidated financial position of the Group, as at 31 December 2021, and its consolidated financial performance 

and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRSs”). 

 

Basis for Opinion  

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated 

financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International 

Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “IESBA Code”) 

together with the other ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements in the United Arab Emirates and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities. We believe that 

the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matters  

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 

the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 

audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 

provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Cont’d… 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of Commercial Bank International P.S.C (continued) 

 

Key Audit Matters  

 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

IT systems and controls over financial reporting 

We identified IT systems and controls over the 

Bank’s  financial reporting as an area of focus due to 

the extensive volume and variety of transactions 

which are processed daily by the Bank and rely on the 

effective operation of automated and IT dependent 

manual controls. There is a risk that automated 

accounting procedures and related internal controls 

are not accurately designed and operating effectively. 

In particular, the incorporated relevant controls are 

essential to limit the potential for fraud and error as a 

result of change to an application or underlying data. 

Our audit approach relies on automated controls 

and therefore the following procedures were 

designed to test access and control over IT systems: 

 

We obtained an understanding of the applications 

relevant to financial reporting and the 

infrastructure supporting these applications. 

 

We tested IT general controls relevant to automated 

controls and computer-generated information 

covering access security, program changes, data 

centre and network operations. 

 

We examined computer generated information 

used in financial reports from relevant 

applications and key controls over their report 

logics.  

 

We performed testing on the key automated 

controls on significant IT systems relevant to 

business processes. 

 

Measurement of expected credit losses 

 

The assessment of the Bank’s determination of 

impairment allowances for finance receivable 

requires management to make judgements over the 

staging of financial assets and measurement of the 

Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”). The audit was 

focused on this matter due to the materiality of the 

finance receivables to customers (representing 56.7% 

of total assets) and the complexity of the judgements, 

assumptions and estimates used in the ECL models. 

Refer to Note 3.26 to the consolidated financial 

statements for the accounting policy and Note 39.1 

for the credit risk disclosure. 

 

 

 

We performed the following audit procedures on 

the computation of the ECL included in the 

Group’s consolidated financial statements for the 

year ended 31 December 2021: 

 

• Gained an understanding of the credit risk 

management process and the estimation 

process of determining impairment allowances 

for loans and advances and tested the operating 

effectiveness of relevant controls within these 

processes. 

• For a sample of exposures, we performed a 

detailed credit review and challenged the 

appropriateness of the Group’s application of 

the staging criteria. 

• Tested the completeness and accuracy of the 

data used in the calculation of ECL;  

• Assessed the Conceptual framework used for 

developing the Group’s impairment policy in 

the context of its compliance with the 

requirements of IFRS 9. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of Commercial Bank International P.S.C (continued) 

 

Key Audit Matters (continued) 

 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Measurement of expected credit losses (continued) 

 

The finance receivables for retail and non-retail is 

assessed individually for the significant increase in 

credit risk (“SICR”) and measurement of ECL. This 

requires management to capture all qualitative and 

quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-

looking information while assessing SICR, or while 

assessing credit-impaired criteria for the exposure. 

Management judgement may also be involved in 

manual staging movements in accordance with the 

Bank’s policies and the requirements of IFRS 9 

Financial Instruments.  

 

The measurement of ECL amounts for retail and 

non-retail exposures classified as Stage 1 and Stage 

2 are carried out by the models with limited manual 

intervention, It is important that models (Probability 

of Default, Loss Given Default, Exposure at Default 

and macroeconomic adjustments) are valid 

throughout the reporting period and are subject to a 

validation process by an independent reviewer. 

 

For the defaulted exposures, management applies 

judgements to estimate the expected future cash 

flows related to individual exposures including the 

value of collateral. 

 

Measurement of ECL is considered a key audit 

matter as the Group applies significant judgements 

and makes a number of assumptions in developing 

ECL models. 

 

• Assessed ECL modelling methodology, and 

reasonableness of the assumptions. 

• Inspected the calculation methodology and 

traced a sample back to source data for a 

sample of wholesale and retail exposures. 

• We evaluated post model adjustments and 

management overlays in order to assess the 

reasonableness of these adjustments.  

• The Bank performed an external validation of 

the Probability of Default and Loss Given 

Default models, including macro-economic 

models, used in calculating the ECL during the 

reporting period. We considered the process of 

this external validation of the models and its 

impact on the results of the impairment 

estimate. 

• For the stage 3 portfolio and for a sample of 

wholesale exposures we also assessed whether 

relevant impairment events had been identified 

in a timely manner and the appropriateness of 

the provisioning assumptions such as estimated 

future cash flows, collateral valuations and 

estimates of recovery. 

• We assessed the disclosure in the consolidated 

financial statements relating to this matter 

against the requirements of IFRSs. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of Commercial Bank International P.S.C (continued) 

 

Other information 

 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the annual 

report of the Group. We obtained the Board of Directors’ report of the annual report prior to the date of this 

auditor’s report, and the remaining information of the annual report is expected to be made available to us after 

that date. The other information does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 

thereon. 

 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 

any form of assurance or conclusion thereon.  

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. 

 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this 

auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

 

When we read the remaining information of the annual report of the Group, if we conclude that there is a material 

misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 

Statements   

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with IFRSs and their preparation in compliance with applicable provisions of UAE Federal Law No. 

(2) of 2015 (as amended), and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 

has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 

our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 

to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of Commercial Bank International P.S.C (continued) 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

forgery, intentional omission, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. 

 

• Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

internal controls. 

 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by management. 

 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 

cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 

events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 

for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 

opinion. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 

we identify during our audit. 

 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

From the matters communicated with the Group’s Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of 

most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 

key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law and regulations preclude public 

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 

communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of Commercial Bank International P.S.C (continued) 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

 

As required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 (as amended), we report that for the year ended                      

31 December 2021: 

 

• We have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit; 

• The consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the 

applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 (as amended);   

• The Bank has maintained proper books of account; 

• The financial information included in the Directors’ report is consistent with the books of account and 

records of the Bank; 

• Note 12 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements discloses the Bank purchases or investments in 

shares during the year ended 31 December 2021; 

• Note 43 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party transactions and the 

terms under which they were conducted and principles of managing conflict of interest; 

• Based on the information that has been made available to us nothing has come to our attention which 

causes us to believe that the Bank has contravened during the year ended 31 December 2021 any of the 

applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 (as amended) or of its Articles of 

Association which would materially affect its activities or its financial position as at 31 December 2021; 

and 

• Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements discloses social contributions made during the year 

ended 31 December 2021. 

 

Further, as required by UAE Federal Law No. (14) of 2018, we report that we have obtained all the information 

and explanations we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit. 

 

Deloitte & Touche (M.E.) 

 

 

 

Musa Ramahi 

Registration No. 872 

31 January 2022 

Dubai 

United Arab Emirates 

 

 





 
 

The accompanying notes and appendix form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

9 Commercial Bank International P.S.C. 
Consolidated income statement  

for the year ended 31 December  

   2021  2020 
 Note  AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
      
Interest income 26  512,824  666,529 
Income from Islamic financing and investing assets 27  49,657  41,198 
Total interest income and income from Islamic financing and 

investing assets   562,481  707,727 
      
Interest expense 28  (177,737)  (274,841) 
Distribution to Islamic depositors 29  (8,669)  (15,284) 
Net interest income and income from Islamic financing and investing 

assets   376,075  417,602 
      
Fee and commission income 30  135,964  161,311 
Fee and commission expense 30  (14,820)  (15,380) 
Net fee and commission income   121,144  145,931 
      
Net gain from derecognition of financial asset measured at amortised 

cost 47  58,864  - 
Other operating income, net 31  74,566  176,590 
Net operating income   630,649  740,123 
      
General and administrative expenses 32  (302,637)  (264,120) 
Net impairment loss on financial assets 33  (198,021)  (399,831) 
Net reversal/impairment loss on non-financial assets 34  564  (37,170) 
Share of results of associates   -  (5,324) 
Profit for the year   130,555  33,678 

      
Profit for the year attributable to:      

Owners of the Bank   121,777  (27,336) 
Non-controlling interests 25  8,778  61,014 

   130,555  33,678 

      
Earnings per share:      

Basic and diluted earnings per share - continuing operations (AED) 36  0.070  (0.016) 
Basic and diluted earnings per share - continuing and discontinued 

operations (AED) 36  0.070  (0.016) 
      

 

 



 
 

The accompanying notes and appendix form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

10 Commercial Bank International P.S.C. 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income  

for the year ended 31 December  

   2021  2020 
 Note  AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
      
Profit for the year   130,555  33,678 
      
Other comprehensive income:      
      
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:      
      
Changes in fair value of financial assets measured at fair value through 

other comprehensive income   (8,692)  (11,820) 
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability   2,516  (3,134) 
Other comprehensive loss for the year   (6,176)  (14,954) 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year   124,379  18,724 

      
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:      

Owners of the Bank   115,601  (42,290) 
Non-controlling interests 25  8,778  61,014 

   124,379  18,724 

      

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

The accompanying notes and appendix form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

11 Commercial Bank International P.S.C. 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity  

for the year ended 31 December 

 

  

 
Share 

capital  

Tier 1 
Capital 

Securities  Reserves  
Accumulated 

losses  

Equity 
attributable 

to owners of 
the Bank  

Non- 
controlling 

interests  Total 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

2021              
Balance as at 31 December 2020 - restated 1,737,383  459,125  422,556  (189,876)  2,429,188  61,326  2,490,514 
              
Profit for the year -  -  -  121,777  121,777  8,778  130,555 
Other comprehensive loss for the year -  -  (8,692)  2,516  (6,176)  -  (6,176) 
Total comprehensive income for the year -  -  (8,692)  124,293  115,601  8,778  124,379 
              
Transfer to CBUAE specific provision reserve  -  -  57,502  (57,502)  -  -  - 
Balance as at 31 December 2021 1,737,383  459,125  471,366  (123,085)  2,544,789  70,104  2,614,893 



 

The accompanying notes and appendix form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

12 Commercial Bank International P.S.C. 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity (continued)  

for the year ended 31 December 

 
Share 

capital  

Tier 1 
Capital 

Securities  Reserves  
Accumulated 

losses  

Equity 
attributable 

to owners of 
the Bank  

Non- 
controlling 

interests  Total 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

2020              
Balance as at 31 December 2019 - as previously 

reported 1,737,383  459,125  481,884  (206,914)  2,471,478  312  2,471,790 
Adjustments due to control reassessment policy 

(note 46.1) -  -  (2,218)  2,218  -  -  - 
Balance as at 1 January 2020 - restated 1,737,383  459,125  479,666  (204,696)  2,471,478  312  2,471,790 

              
Profit for the year -  -  -  (27,336)  (27,336)  61,014  33,678 
Other comprehensive loss for the year -  -  (11,820)  (3,134)  (14,954)  -  (14,954) 
Total comprehensive income for the year -  -  (11,820)  (30,470)  (42,290)  61,014  18,724 

              
Transfer to statutory reserve -  -  3,368  (3,368)  -  -  - 
Transfer to general reserve -  -  3,368  (3,368)  -  -  - 
Transfer from general reserve to accumulated losses -  -  (11,104)  11,104  -  -  - 
Transfer to CBUAE specific provision reserve -  -  (7,388)  7,388  -  -  - 
Transfer to CBUAE general provision reserve -  -  (33,534)  33,534  -  -  - 
Balance as at 31 December 2020 - restated 1,737,383  459,125  422,556  (189,876)  2,429,188  61,326  2,490,514 

 

 

 



 
 

The accompanying notes and appendix form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

13 Commercial Bank International P.S.C. 
Consolidated statement of cash flows  

for the year ended 31 December 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Cash flows from operating activities      
Profit for the year   130,555  33,678 
Adjustments for:      
Depreciation of property and equipment   20,923  19,981 
Depreciation of investment property   2,823  3,126 
Amortisation of intangible assets   18,288  17,177 
Net impairment loss on financial assets   198,021  399,831 
Net impairment (gain)/loss on non-financial assets   (564)  37,170 
(Gain)/ Loss on disposal of property and equipment   (30,020)  301 
Amortisation of financial assets measured at amortised cost   2,259  8,375 
Gain on disposal of financial assets measured at amortised cost   (18,891)  - 
Gain on financial assets measured at FVTPL   -  (127,515) 
Dividend income                                                                                                                                (804)  - 
Share of results of associates   -  5,324 
Write-off of property and equipment   1,317  - 
Provision for end of service benefits   3,961  7,003 
   327,868  404,451 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:      
Decrease in balances with the Central Bank of the UAE   250,736  1,612,814 
(Increase)/decrease in loans and advances to customers   (1,558,546)  1,061,389 
Increase in Islamic financing and investing assets   (31,163)  (352,486) 
Decrease in property inventory   93,280  - 
Increase in receivables and other assets   (771,511)  (289,854) 
(Decrease) / increase in due to the Central Bank of the UAE   (289,866)  306,048 
Increase / (decrease) in deposits and balances due to banks   969,667  (399,755) 
Increase / (decrease) in customers’ deposits   1,319,714  (1,229,848) 
Increase / (decrease) in Islamic customers’ deposits   773,001  (356,218) 
Increase in payables and other liabilities   756,131  185,089 
Cash generated from operating activities   1,838,911  941,630 
End of service benefits paid   (5,924)  (7,299) 
Net cash generated from operating activities   1,832,987  934,331 

      
Cash flows from investing activities:      
Purchase of property and equipment   (31,126)  (12,159) 
Purchase of intangible assets   (5,083)  (2,417) 
Purchase of financial assets measured at amortised cost   -  (577,988) 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment   43,809  162 
Proceeds from sale of investment properties   11,895  - 
Proceeds from sale/redemption of financial assets measured at 

amortised cost   196,705  272,886 
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets measured at FVTOCI   1,143  - 
Net settlement of FVTPL assets   (722)  (293) 
Dividend received   804  - 
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities   217,425  (319,809) 

  



 

The accompanying notes and appendix form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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 Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued) 

for the year ended 31 December 

 Note  2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   2,050,412  614,522 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   997,112  382,590 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 37  3,047,524  997,112 

      
Operational cash flows from:      
Interest received   428,843  631,950 
Income from Islamic financing and investing assets received   54,847  35,738 
Interest paid   204,383  324,478 
Distribution to Islamic depositors paid   7,979  21,819 
      
Non-cash transactions:      
Repossession of real estate assets from loan and advances to property 

inventory   -  281,958 

 

  



 
 

 

15 Commercial Bank International P.S.C. 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements  

1. Status and activities 

Commercial Bank International P.S.C. (the “Bank”) is a public shareholding company with limited liability 

incorporated under an Emiri Decree Number 5/91 on 28 April 1991 by His Highness Ruler of Ras Al-Khaimah.  The 

registered office of the Bank is at P.O. Box 793, Ras Al-Khaimah. The Bank is listed on the Abu Dhabi Exchange (Ticker 

“CBI”). The Bank carries on commercial banking activities through its branches in the United Arab Emirates (“the 

UAE”). 

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries as 

disclosed below (collectively referred to as the “Group”). 

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of reporting period is as follows: 

 Principal Principal place of Place of % of ownership 
Name Activity business incorporation 2021 2020 
      
International Financial Brokerage L.L.C.* Brokerage Dubai - the UAE Dubai - the UAE 99.4 99.4 
Takamul Real Estate L.L.C. Real estate Dubai - the UAE Dubai - the UAE 100.0 100.0 
Al Khaleejiah Property Investments LLC Real estate Sharjah - the UAE Sharjah - the UAE 52.8 52.8 

Al Caribi Development Limited Real estate Antigua and Barbuda 
British Virgin 
Islands 100.0 100.0 

CBI Financial Services Limited SPV Dubai - the UAE Cayman Islands 100.0 100.0 
CBI Tier 1 Private Ltd SPV Dubai - the UAE Cayman Islands 100.0 100.0 
* under liquidation 

2. Application of new and revised IFRSs 

2.1 New and revised IFRSs applied with no material effect on the consolidated financial statements  

The following new and revised IFRSs, which became effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2020, have been adopted in these consolidated financial statements. The application of these revised IFRSs has not 

had any material impact on the amounts reported for the current and prior years but may affect the accounting for 

future transactions or arrangements. 

▪ Revised 'Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting’. 
▪ Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations to clarify the definition of a business. 
▪ Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments regarding pre-

replacement issues in the context of the IBOR reform. 
▪ Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in 

Accounting Estimates and Errors regarding the definition of material. 
 
2.2 New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted 

The Group has not yet early applied the following new standards, amendments and interpretations that have been 

issued but are not yet effective: 

 
 
New and revised IFRSs 

Effective for  

annual periods  

beginning on or after 

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments 
in Associates and Joint Ventures relating to the treatment of the sale or contribution 
of assets from an investor to its associate or joint venture. 

Effective date deferred 
indefinitely 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  

2. Application of new and revised IFRSs (continued) 

2.2 New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted (continued) 

 
 
New and revised IFRSs 

Effective for  

annual periods  

beginning on or after 

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements regarding the classification of 
liabilities. 

1 January 2023 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts and supersedes IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. 

1 January 2023 

Amendments IFRS 3 Business Combination updating a reference to the Conceptual Framework  1 January 2022 

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment prohibiting a company from deducting 
from the cost of property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced 
while the company is preparing the asset for its intended use 

1 January 2022 

Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets regarding the 
costs to include when assessing whether a contract is onerous 

1 January 2022 

Annual Improvements to IFRS 2018 – 2020 Cycle amending IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41. 1 January 2022 

Management anticipates that these new standards, interpretations and amendments will be adopted in the Group’s 

consolidated financial statements for the period of initial application and adoption of these new standards, 

interpretations and amendments may have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the 

Group in the period of initial application. 

3. Significant accounting policies  

3.1 Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

Federal Law No. 32 of 2021 on Commercial Companies (the “New Companies Law”) was issued on 20 September 

2021 and will come into effect on 2 January 2022, to entirely replace Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 on Commercial 

Companies, as amended (the “2015 Law”). The Company is in the process of reviewing the new provisions and will 

apply the requirements thereof no later than one year from the date on which the amendments came into effect. 

3.2 Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for items which are 

measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the 

consideration given in exchange for assets. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 

estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Bank takes 

into account when pricing the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account 

when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes 

in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for leasing transactions that are 

within the scope of IFRS 16 and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value such 

as net realisable value in IAS 2 or value in use in IAS 36.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  

3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into level 1, 2 or 3 based on 

the degree to which the inputs to fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the 

fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: 

▪ Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 

entity can access at the measurement date; 

▪ Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset 

or liability either directly or indirectly; and 

▪ Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Group consolidated financial statements are set 

out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented.  

3.3 Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and entities controlled by 

the Bank (its subsidiaries).  Control is achieved where the Bank has: 

▪ power over the investee,  

▪ exposure, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and  

▪ the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

The Bank reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 

to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 

When the Bank has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over the 

investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the 

investee unilaterally. The Bank considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the 

Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including: 

▪ the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other 

vote holders; 

▪ potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties; 

▪ rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

▪ any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current 

ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns 

at previous shareholders’ meetings.  

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as that of the Bank, using 

consistent accounting policies. 

All significant intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

Non‑controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Those interests 

of non‑controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share 

of net assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair value or at the non‑controlling interests’ 

proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement is made 

on an acquisition‑by‑acquisition basis. Other non‑controlling interests are initially measured at fair value. 

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non‑controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial 

recognition plus the non‑controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.   
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  

3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.3 Basis of consolidation (continued) 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Bank and to 

the non-controlling interests. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in excess of the non-controlling 

shareholders’ interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the Group except to the extent 

that the non-controlling shareholders have a binding obligation and are able to make an additional investment to 

cover the losses. 

3.4 Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. 

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 

when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of 

the item can be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance expenses are charged to the consolidated 

income statement in the period in which they are incurred. 

Capital work in progress is carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Such properties are classified to the 

appropriate categories of property and equipment when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of 

these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended 

use. 

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than land and capital work in progress, using the 

straight-line method, over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. Freehold land is not depreciated. The 

estimated useful lives of the assets for the calculation of depreciation are as follows: 

Buildings 25 years 

Property improvements 4 - 7 years 

Furniture, fixtures, equipment and vehicles 4 years 

Right of use assets 2 - 5 years 
 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 

period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 

expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an 

item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the asset and is recognised in consolidated income statement. 

3.5 Investment properties 

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, including property under 

construction for such purposes. Investment properties are measured initially at its cost, including transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 

accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of investment properties using 

the straight line method over their estimated useful lives of 25 years. 

Investment properties are accounted for as acquisitions on the date when ownership passes to the Group under the 

contract for the purchase of the relevant property, pending which event payments in respect of investment property 

acquisitions are included in ‘receivable and other assets’.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  

3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.5 Investment properties (continued) 

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property 

is permanently withdrawn from use and no future benefit is expected from its disposal. The difference between the 

net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of asset is recognised in the consolidated income statement in the 

period of derecognition. 

3.6 Impairment of tangible assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine 

whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 

recoverable amount of the assets is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash 

flows have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 

carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 

recognised in the consolidated income statement, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 

case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 

asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income 

statement. 

3.7 Intangible assets 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their 

estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives for intangible assets ranges between 4 to 10 years. The estimated 

useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes 

in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 

3.8 Property inventory 

Properties acquired or constructed with the intention of sale are classified as property inventory. These are stated 

at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes transaction costs incurred in respect of the acquisition of 

those properties. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for property inventory less all estimated 

costs necessary to make the sale. Properties acquired through repossession in settlement of loans and advances are 

recorded at fair value at the date of repossession including transactions costs incurred in respect of such 

repossession. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.9 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 

it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where 

a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 

present value of those cash flows. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 

party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 

amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

3.10 Leases 

3.10.1 The Group as lessee 

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a 

right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, 

except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. 

For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the 

term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 

benefits from the leased assets are consumed.  

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 

commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, 

the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 

▪ fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives; 

▪ variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 

commencement date; 

▪ the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 

▪ the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and 

▪ payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to 

terminate the lease. 

The lease liability is presented in ‘payables and other liabilities’ in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability 

(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.  
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3.10 Leases (continued) 

3.10.1 The Group as lessee (continued) 

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) 

whenever: 

▪ the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which 

case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount 

rate. 

▪ the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a 

guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 

payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating 

interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used). 

▪ a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which 

case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount 

rate. 

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.  

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made 

at or before the commencement day and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which 

it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a 

provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. The costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless 

those costs are incurred to produce inventories.  

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset.  

If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group 

expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the 

underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.  

The right-of-use assets are presented in ‘property and equipment’ in the consolidated statement of financial 

position. 

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified 

impairment loss.  

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and 

the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or 

condition that triggers those payments occurs.  

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account for 

any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has not used this practical 

expedient. 
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3.10 Leases (continued) 

3.10.2 The Group as lessor 

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to some of its investment properties.  

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease 

transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. 

All other leases are classified as operating leases.  

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. 

The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head 

lease. 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial 

direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 

asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group's net 

investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic 

rate of return on the Group's net investment outstanding in respect of the leases. When a contract includes lease 

and non-lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration under the contract to each 

component. 

3.11 Segment reporting 

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Bank that is engaged either in providing products or services 

(business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical 

segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. Segment income, 

segment expenses and segment performance include transfers between business segments and between 

geographical segments. Refer to note 44 on business segment reporting. 

3.12 Acceptances 

Acceptances are recognised as a financial liability in the consolidated statement of financial position with a 

contractual right of reimbursement from the customer as a financial asset. Therefore, commitments in respect of 

acceptances have been accounted for as financial assets and financial liabilities. 

3.13 Foreign currencies 

The individual financial statements of each group entity are presented in AED, which is the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated 

financial statements, the results and financial position of each entity are expressed in AED, which is the functional 

currency of the Bank, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements. 

Transaction in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates 

of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions.  At the end of each reporting period, monetary items 

denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried 

at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the 

fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 

are not retranslated. Exchange differences are recognised in consolidated income in the period in which they arise. 
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3.14 Net interest income and income from Islamic products net of distribution to depositors 

Interest income and expense for all financial instruments except for those classified as held for trading or those 

measured or designated as at FVTPL are recognised in ‘Net interest income and income from Islamic products net 

of distribution to depositors’ as ‘Interest income’, ‘Income from Islamic financing and investing assets’, ‘Interest 

expense’ and ‘Distribution to depositors’ in the profit or loss account using the effective interest method. Interest 

on financial instruments measured as at FVTPL is included within the fair value movement during the period and is 

recognised in ‘other operating income’. 

The effective interest rate (EIR) is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows of the financial 

instrument through the expected life of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net 

carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. The future cash flows are estimated taking into account 

all the contractual terms of the instrument. 

The calculation of the EIR includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are incremental and 

directly attributable to the specific lending arrangement, transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts. For 

financial assets at FVTPL transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss at initial recognition. 

The interest income/ interest expense is calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of non-credit 

impaired financial assets (i.e. at the amortised cost of the financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit 

loss allowance), or to the amortised cost of financial liabilities. For credit-impaired financial assets the interest 

income is calculated by applying the EIR to the amortised cost of the credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. the gross 

carrying amount less the allowance for expected credit losses (ECL)). For financial assets originated or purchased 

credit-impaired (POCI) the EIR reflects the ECL in determining the future cash flows expected to be received from 

the financial asset. 

3.15 Net fee and commission income 

Fee and commission income and expense include fees other than those that are an integral part of EIR (see note 

3.14). 

The fees included in this part of the Group’s consolidated income statement include among other things fees 

charged for servicing a loan, advisory fee (mainly consisting of advising to wholesale clients on loan structuring) and 

non-utilisation fees relating to loan commitments when it is unlikely that these will result in a specific lending 

arrangement. The Group recognises the fee based on five step model as defined in note 3.18. 

3.16 Net income from financial instruments at FVTPL 

Net income from other financial instruments at FVTPL includes all gains and losses from changes in the fair value of 

financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL. The Group has elected to present the full fair value movement of 

assets and liabilities at FVTPL in this line, including the related interest income, expense and dividends (if any). 
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3.17 Dividend income 

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. This is the ex-dividend date for 

listed equity securities, and usually the date when shareholders approve the dividend for unlisted equity securities. 

The presentation of dividend income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss depends on the classification 

and measurement of the equity investment, i.e.: 

▪ for equity instruments designated at FVTOCI dividend income is presented in other operating income; and 

▪ for equity instruments not designated at FVTOCI, dividend income is presented as net income from financial 

instruments at FVTPL. 

3.18 Revenue from sale of property 

The Group recognises revenue from sale of property based on a five step model: 

▪ Identify the contract(s) with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more 

parties that create enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the criteria for every contract that must 

be met. 

▪ Identify the performance obligation in the contract: A performance obligation is a promise in a contract 

with a customer to transfer a good or service to the customer. 

▪ Determine the transaction price: The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Group 

expects to be entitled in exchange of transferring promised goods or services to a customer. 

▪ Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation in the contract: For a contract that has more 

than one performance obligation, the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation 

which is an amount that depicts the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled to 

in exchange for satisfying each performance obligation. 

▪ Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation. 

For the sale of property, the performance obligation is satisfied when the title of property is transferred to the 

customer. 

3.19 Derivative financial instruments 

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and 

foreign exchange rate risk, including interest rate swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts. Further details of 

derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 41. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into and are 

subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is 

recognised in the consolidated income statement immediately. 

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset; a derivative with a negative fair value is 

recognised as a financial liability. 
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3.20 Embedded derivatives 

Derivatives embedded in financial liabilities or other non-financial asset host contracts are treated as separate 

derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host 

contracts are not measured at FVTPL. 

An embedded derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of 

the hybrid instrument to which the embedded derivative relates is more than 12 months and is not expected to be 

realised or settled within 12 months. Other embedded derivatives are presented as current assets or current 

liabilities. 

3.21 Financial guarantee contracts 

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the 

holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms 

of a debt instrument. 

Financial guarantee contracts issued by a group entity are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated 

as at FVTPL and not arising from a transfer of a financial asset, are subsequently measured at the higher of: 

▪ the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9; and 

▪ the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in 

accordance with the Group’s revenue recognition policies. 

Financial guarantee contracts not designated at FVTPL are presented as ‘ECL allowance’ in ‘payables and other 

liabilities’. 

The Group has not designated any financial guarantee contracts as at FVTPL. 

3.22 Commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate 

Commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate are initially measured at their fair values and, if not 

designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of: 

▪ the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9; and 

▪ the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised in 

accordance with the Group’s revenue recognition policies. 

Commitments to provide a loan below market rate not designated at FVTPL are presented as ‘ECL allowance’ in 

‘payables and other liabilities’. The Group has not designated any commitments to provide a loan below market 

rated designated at FVTPL. 

3.23 Retirement benefit costs 

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have 

rendered service entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to Government‑managed retirement benefit 

plans are accounted for as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans 

are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan. 

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit 

Credit Method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period. 
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3.24 Retirement benefit costs (continued) 

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return 

on plan assets (excluding interest, if any) are recognised immediately in the statement of financial position with a 

charge or credit to the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are not reclassified. Past service cost is recognised in profit 

or loss when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs, or when the Group recognises related restructuring costs 

or termination benefits, if earlier. Gains or losses on settlement of a defined benefit plan are recognised when the 

settlement occurs. 

Interest is calculated by applying a discount rate to the defined benefit liability. Defined benefit costs are split into 

three categories: 

▪ service costs, which includes current service cost, past service cost and gains and losses on curtailments 

and settlements; 

▪ interest expense; and 

▪ re-measurements. 

The Group recognises service costs within profit or loss as general and administrative expenses (see note 32). 

Interest expense is recognised within interest expense (see note 28). 

3.25 Financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position 

when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Recognised financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 

directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 

and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial 

liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial 

assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

If the transaction price differs from fair value at initial recognition, the Group will account for such difference as 

follows: 

▪ if fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability or based on 

a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then the difference is recognised in 

profit or loss on initial recognition (i.e. day 1 profit or loss); 

▪ in all other cases, the fair value will be adjusted to bring it in line with the transaction price (i.e. day 1 profit 

or loss will be deferred by including it in the initial carrying amount of the asset or liability). 

After initial recognition, the deferred gain or loss will be released to profit or loss on a rational basis, only to the 

extent that it arises from a change in a factor (including time) that market participants would take into account when 

pricing the asset or liability. 

3.26 Financial assets 

All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial asset 

is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe established by the 

market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets 

classified as at FVTPL. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets classified as at 

FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.  
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3.26 Financial assets (continued) 

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at 

amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the 

contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. 

Specifically: 

▪ debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash 

flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest  on the 

principal amount outstanding (SPPI), are subsequently measured at amortised cost; 

▪ debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is both to collect the contractual 

cash flows and to sell the debt instruments, and that have contractual cash flows that are SPPI, are 

subsequently measured at FVTOCI; 

▪ all other debt instruments (e.g. debt instruments managed on a fair value basis, or held for sale) and equity 

investments are subsequently measured at FVTPL. 

However, the Group may make the following irrevocable election / designation at initial recognition of a financial 

asset on an asset-by-asset basis: 

▪ the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment that 

is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination 

to which IFRS 3 applies, in OCI; and 

▪ the Group may irrevocably designate a debt instrument that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria 

as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch (referred to 

as the fair value option). 

3.26.1 Debt instruments at amortised cost or at FVTOCI 

The Group assesses the classification and measurement of a financial asset based on the contractual cash flow 

characteristics of the asset and the Group’s business model for managing the asset. For an asset to be classified and 

measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, its contractual terms should give rise to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding (SPPI). 

For the purpose of the SPPI test, principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. That principal 

amount may change over the life of the financial asset (e.g. if there are repayments of principal). Interest consists 

of consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding 

during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as a profit margin. The SPPI 

assessment is made in the currency in which the financial asset is denominated. 

Contractual cash flows that are SPPI are consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Contractual terms that 

introduce exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending 

arrangement, such as exposure to changes in equity prices or commodity prices, do not give rise to contractual cash 

flows that are SPPI. An originated or an acquired financial asset can be a basic lending arrangement irrespective of 

whether it is a loan in its legal form. 

An assessment of business models for managing financial assets is fundamental to the classification of a financial 

asset. The Group determines the business models at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed 

together to achieve a particular business objective. The Group’s business model does not depend on management’s 

intentions for an individual instrument, therefore the business model assessment is performed at a higher level of 

aggregation rather than on an instrument-by-instrument basis.  
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3.26 Financial assets (continued) 

3.26.1 Debt instruments at amortised cost or at FVTOCI (continued) 

The Group may have more than one business model for managing its financial instruments which reflect how the 

Group manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The Group’s business models determine whether 

cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both. 

The Group considers all relevant information available when making the business model assessment. However, this 

assessment is not performed on the basis of scenarios that the Group does not reasonably expect to occur, such as 

so-called ‘worst case’ or ‘stress case’ scenarios. The Group takes into account all relevant evidence available such 

as: 

▪ how the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are 

evaluated and reported to the entity’s key management personnel; 

▪ the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that 

business model) and, in particular, the way in which those risks are managed; and 

▪ how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether the compensation is based on the fair value 

of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected). 

At initial recognition of a financial asset, the Group determines whether newly recognised financial assets are part 

of an existing business model or whether they reflect the commencement of a new business model. The Group 

reassesses its business models each reporting period to determine whether the business models have changed since 

the preceding period. For the current and prior reporting period the Group has not identified a change in its business 

models. 

When a debt instrument measured at FVTOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain/loss previously recognised in OCI 

is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. In contrast, for an equity investment designated as measured at FVTOCI, 

the cumulative gain/loss previously recognised in OCI is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss but transferred 

within equity. Debt instruments that are subsequently measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI are subject to 

impairment. See note 39.1. 

In the current and prior reporting period, the Group has not classified any debt instrument at FVTOCI. Further, in 

the current and prior reporting period the Group has not applied the fair value option and so has not designated 

debt instruments that meet the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL. 

3.26.2 Financial assets at FVTPL 

Financial assets at FVTPL are: 

▪ assets with contractual cash flows that are not SPPI; and/or 

▪ assets that are held in a business model other than held to collect contractual cash flows or held to collect 

and sell; or 

▪ assets designated at FVTPL using the fair value option. 

These assets are measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or 

loss. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 40. 
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3.26 Financial assets (continued) 

3.26.3 Reclassifications 

If the business model under which the Group holds financial assets changes, the financial assets affected are 

reclassified. The classification and measurement requirements related to the new category apply prospectively from 

the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model that results in reclassifying the 

Group’s financial assets. During the current financial year and previous accounting period there was no change in 

the business model under which the Group holds financial assets and therefore no reclassifications were made. 

Changes in contractual cash flows are considered under the accounting policy on ‘Modification and derecognition 

of financial assets’ see note 3.26.10. 

3.26.4 Foreign exchange gains and losses 

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign 

currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically: 

▪ for financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 

exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss; 

▪ for debt instruments measured at FVTOCI that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 

differences on the amortised cost of the debt instrument are recognised in profit or loss. Other exchange 

differences are recognised in OCI in the investments revaluation reserve; 

▪ for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedge accounting relationship, 

exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss; and 

▪ for equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognised in OCI in the investments 

revaluation reserve. 

3.26.5 Impairment 

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the financial instruments that are not 

measured at FVTPL (including loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts). No impairment loss is 

recognised on equity investments. 

With the exception of ‘Purchased or Originated Credit-Impaired’ (POCI) financial assets (which are considered 

separately below), ECL are required to be measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to: 

▪ 12-month ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from those default events on the financial instrument that are 

possible within 12 months after the reporting date, (referred to as Stage 1); or 

▪ full lifetime ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from all possible default events over the life of the financial 

instrument, (referred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3). 

A loss allowance for full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the credit risk on that financial 

instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. For all other financial instruments, ECL are measured 

at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL. 

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses. These are measured as the present 

value of the difference between the cash flows due to the Group under the contract and the cash flows that the 

Group expects to receive arising from the weighting of multiple future economic scenarios, discounted at the asset’s 

EIR. 
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3.26 Financial assets (continued) 

3.26.5 Impairment (continued) 

▪ for undrawn loan commitments, the ECL is the difference between the present value of the difference 

between the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group if the holder of the commitment draws down 

the loan and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive if the loan is drawn down; and 

▪ for financial guarantee contracts, the ECL is the difference between the expected payments to reimburse 

the holder of the guaranteed debt instrument less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the 

holder, the debtor or any other party. 

The Group measures ECL on an individual basis, or on a collective basis for portfolios of loans that share similar 

economic risk characteristics. The measurement of the loss allowance is based on the present value of the asset’s 

expected cash flows using the asset’s original EIR, regardless of whether it is measured on an individual basis or a 

collective basis. 

More information on measurement of ECL is provided in note 39.1, including details on how instruments are 

grouped when they are assessed on a collective basis. 

3.26.6 Credit-impaired financial assets 

A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 

future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Credit-impaired financial assets are referred to as Stage 3 

assets. Evidence of credit-impairment includes observable data about the following events: 

▪ significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 

▪ a breach of contract such as a default or past due event; 

▪ the lender of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 

difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider; 

▪ the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties; or 

▪ the purchase of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses. 

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event, instead, the combined effect of several events may have 

caused financial assets to become credit-impaired. The Group assesses whether debt instruments that are financial 

assets measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are credit-impaired at each reporting date. To assess if sovereign and 

corporate debt instruments are credit impaired, the Group considers factors such as bond yields, credit ratings and 

the ability of the borrower to raise funding. 

A loan is considered credit-impaired when a concession is granted to the borrower due to a deterioration in the 

borrower’s financial condition, unless there is evidence that as a result of granting the concession the risk of not 

receiving the contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment. For 

financial assets where concessions are contemplated but not granted the asset is deemed credit impaired when 

there is observable evidence of credit-impairment including meeting the definition of default. The definition of 

default (see below) includes unlikeliness to pay indicators and a backstop if amounts are overdue for 90 days or 

more. 

3.26.7 Purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets 

POCI financial assets are treated differently because the asset is credit-impaired at initial recognition. For these 

assets, the Group recognises all changes in lifetime ECL since initial recognition as a loss allowance with any changes 

recognised in profit or loss. A favourable change for such assets creates an impairment gain. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.26 Financial assets (continued) 

3.26.8 Definition of default  

Critical to the determination of ECL is the definition of default. The definition of default is used in measuring the 

amount of ECL and in the determination of whether the loss allowance is based on 12-month or lifetime ECL, as 

default is a component of the probability of default (PD) which affects both the measurement of ECL and the 

identification of a significant increase in credit risk  (see note 39.1). 

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default: 

▪ the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Group; or 

▪ the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full. 

The definition of default is appropriately tailored to reflect different characteristics of different types of assets. 

Overdrafts are considered as being past due once the customer has breached an advised limit or has been advised 

of a limit smaller than the current amount outstanding. 

When assessing if the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligation, the Group takes into account both qualitative 

and quantitative indicators. The information assessed depends on the type of the asset, for example in wholesale 

lending a qualitative indicator used is the breach of covenants, which is not relevant for retail lending. Quantitative 

indicators, such as overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same counterparty are key inputs 

in this analysis. The Group uses a variety of sources of information to assess default which are either developed 

internally or obtained from external sources. More details are provided in note 39.1. 

3.26.9 Significant increase in credit risk  

The Group monitors all financial assets, issued loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are subject 

to the impairment requirements to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk the Group will measure the loss allowance based 

on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL. The Group’s accounting policy is not to use the practical expedient that 

financial assets with ‘low’ credit risk at the reporting date are deemed not to have had a significant increase in credit 

risk. As a result, the Group monitors all financial assets, issued loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts 

that are subject to impairment for significant increase in credit risk. 

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the 

Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date based on the 

remaining maturity of the instrument with the risk of a default occurring that was anticipated for the remaining 

maturity at the current reporting date when the financial instrument was first recognised. In making this assessment, 

the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including 

historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort, based on the 

Group’s historical experience and expert credit assessment including forward-looking information. See note 39.1 for 

more details about forward looking information. 

Multiple economic scenarios form the basis of determining the probability of default at initial recognition and at 

subsequent reporting dates. Different economic scenarios will lead to a different probability of default. It is the 

weighting of these different scenarios that forms the basis of a weighted average probability of default that is used 

to determine the ECL. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.26 Financial assets (continued) 

3.26.9 Significant increase in credit risk (continued) 

For wholesale lending, forward-looking information includes the future prospects of the industries in which the 

Group’s counterparties operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, 

relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of various internal and external sources 

of actual and forecast economic information. For retail lending, forward looking information includes the same 

economic forecasts as wholesale lending with additional forecasts of local economic indicators, particularly for 

regions with a concentration to certain industries, as well as internally generated information of customer payment 

behaviour. The Group allocates its counterparties to a relevant internal credit risk grade depending on their credit 

quality. The quantitative information is a primary indicator of significant increase in credit risk and is based on the 

change in credit worthiness of borrowers measured by rating downgrade which result in higher PD as per staging 

criteria. 

The PDs used are forward looking and the Group uses the same methodologies and data used to measure the loss 

allowance for ECL (please refer to note 39.1). 

The qualitative factors that indicate significant increase in credit risk are reflected in PD models on a timely basis. 

However, the Group still considers separately some qualitative factors to assess if credit risk has increased 

significantly. For wholesale lending there is particular focus on assets that are included on a ‘watch list’ given an 

exposure is on a watch list once there is a concern that the creditworthiness of the specific counterparty has 

deteriorated. For retail lending the Group considers the expectation of forbearance and payment holidays, credit 

scores and events such as unemployment, bankruptcy, divorce or death. 

As a back-stop when an asset becomes 30 days past due, the Group considers that a significant increase in credit 

risk has occurred and the asset is in stage 2 of the impairment model, i.e. the loss allowance is measured as the 

lifetime ECL, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise. 

More information about significant increase in credit risk is provided in note 39.1. 

3.26.10 Modification and derecognition of financial assets  

A modification of a financial asset occurs when the contractual terms governing the cash flows of a financial asset 

are renegotiated or otherwise modified between initial recognition and maturity of the financial asset. A 

modification affects the amount and/or timing of the contractual cash flows either immediately or at a future date. 

In addition, the introduction or adjustment of existing covenants of an existing loan would constitute a modification 

even if these new or adjusted covenants do not yet affect the cash flows immediately but may affect the cash flows 

depending on whether the covenant is or is not met (e.g. a change to the increase in the interest rate that arises 

when covenants are breached). 

The Group renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulty to maximise collection and minimise the risk of 

default. A loan forbearance is granted in cases where although the borrower made all reasonable efforts to pay 

under the original contractual terms, there is a high risk of default or default has already happened and the borrower 

is expected to be able to meet the revised terms. The revised terms in most of the cases include an extension of the 

maturity of the loan, changes to the timing of the cash flows of the loan (principal and interest repayment), reduction 

in the amount of cash flows due (principal and interest forgiveness) and amendments to covenants. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.26 Financial assets (continued) 

3.26.10 Modification and derecognition of financial assets (continued) 

When a financial asset is modified the Group assesses whether this modification results in derecognition. In 

accordance with the Group’s policy a modification results in derecognition when it gives rise to substantially 

different terms. To determine if the modified terms are substantially different from the original contractual terms 

the Group considers the following: 

▪ Qualitative factors, such as contractual cash flows after modification are no longer SPPI, change in currency 

or change of counterparty, the extent of change in interest rates, maturity and covenants. If these do not 

clearly indicate a substantial modification, then; 

▪ A quantitative assessment is performed to compare the present value of the remaining contractual cash 

flows under the original terms with the contractual cash flows under the revised terms, with both amounts 

discounted at the original effective interest. If the difference in present value is substantial the Group 

deems the arrangement is substantially different leading to derecognition. 

In the case where the financial asset is derecognised the loss allowance for ECL is remeasured at the date of 

derecognition to determine the net carrying amount of the asset at that date. The difference between this revised 

carrying amount and the fair value of the new financial asset with the new terms will lead to a gain or loss on 

derecognition. The new financial asset will have a loss allowance measured based on 12-month ECL except in the 

rare occasions where the new loan is considered to be originated credit impaired. This applies only in the case where 

the fair value of the new loan is recognised at a significant discount to its revised par amount because there remains 

a high risk of default which has not been reduced by the modification. The Group monitors credit risk of modified 

financial assets by evaluating qualitative and quantitative information, such as if the borrower is in past due status 

under the new terms. 

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in derecognition, 

the Group determines if the financial asset’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition by 

comparing: 

▪ the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data at initial recognition and the original contractual terms; 

with 

▪ the remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms. 

For financial assets modified as part of the Group’s forbearance policy, where modification did not result in 

derecognition, the estimate of PD reflects the Group’s ability to collect the modified cash flows taking into account 

the Group’s previous experience of similar forbearance action, as well as various behavioural indicators, including 

the borrower’s payment performance against the modified contractual terms. If the credit risk remains significantly 

higher than what was expected at initial recognition the loss allowance will continue to be measured at an amount 

equal to lifetime ECL. The loss allowance on forborne loans will generally only be measured based on 12-month ECL 

when there is evidence of the borrower’s improved repayment behaviour following modification leading to a 

reversal of the previous significant increase in credit risk. 

Where a modification does not lead to derecognition the Group calculates the modification gain/loss comparing the 

gross carrying amount before and after the modification (excluding the ECL allowance). Then the Group measures 

ECL for the modified asset, where the expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in 

calculating the expected cash shortfalls from the original asset. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.26 Financial assets (continued) 

3.26.10 Modification and derecognition of financial assets (continued) 

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the asset’s cash flows expire (including 

expiry arising from a modification with substantially different terms), or when the financial asset and substantially 

all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred to another entity. If the Group neither transfers 

nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the 

Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the 

Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group 

continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum 

of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain/loss that had been recognised in OCI and 

accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss, with the exception of equity investment designated as 

measured at FVTOCI, where the cumulative gain/loss previously recognised in OCI is not subsequently reclassified 

to profit or loss. 

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Group retains an option to repurchase 

part of a transferred asset), the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the 

part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the 

relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount allocated 

to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised 

and any cumulative gain/loss allocated to it that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in profit or loss. A 

cumulative gain/loss that had been recognised in OCI is allocated between the part that continues to be recognised 

and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts. This does not apply 

for equity investments designated as measured at FVTOCI, as the cumulative gain/loss previously recognised in OCI 

is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. 

3.26.11 Write-off  

Loans and debt securities are written off when the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering the financial 

asset (either in its entirety or a portion of it). This is the case when the Group determines that the borrower does 

not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the 

write-off, or in the case of retail loan, when the amounts are over 180 days past due, whichever occurs sooner. A 

write-off constitutes a derecognition event. The Group may apply enforcement activities to financial assets written 

off. Recoveries resulting from the Group’s enforcement activities will result in impairment gains. 

3.26.12 Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position 

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

▪ for financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the 

assets; 

▪ for debt instruments measured at FVTOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in the statement of financial 

position as the carrying amount is at fair value. However, the loss allowance is included as part of the 

revaluation amount in the investments revaluation reserve; 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.26 Financial assets (continued) 

3.26.12 Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position (continued) 

▪ for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: as a provision; and 

▪ where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the Group cannot 

identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn component, the 

Group presents a combined loss allowance for both components. The combined amount is presented as a 

deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn component. Any excess of the loss allowance over 

the gross amount of the drawn component is presented as a provision. 

3.27 Equity instruments and financial liabilities  

Equity and debt instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either equity or as financial liabilities in 

accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of an equity instrument and a 

financial liability. 

3.27.1 Equity instruments  

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all 

of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 

costs. 

Repurchase of the Group’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain/loss is 

recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. 

3.27.2 Financial liabilities  

A financial liability is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset or to exchange financial assets 

or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group or a 

contract that will or may be settled in the Group’s own equity instruments and is a non-derivative contract for which 

the Group is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of its own equity instruments, or a derivative contract 

over own equity that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash (or another 

financial asset) for a fixed number of the Group’s own equity instruments. 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’. 

3.27.2.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL  

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is 1) contingent consideration of an acquirer 

in a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies, 2) held for trading, or 3) it is designated as at FVTPL. 

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if: 

▪ it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or  

▪ on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 

together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or  

▪ it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective 

hedging instrument. 
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3.27 Equity instruments and financial liabilities (continued) 

3.27.2 Financial liabilities (continued) 

3.27.2.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued) 

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a 

business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:  

▪ such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that 

would otherwise arise; or  

▪ the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed 

and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group's documented risk 

management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that 

basis; or 

▪ it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the entire 

combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.  

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value recognised 

in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss 

recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liabilities. 

3.27.2.2 Other financial liabilities  

Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 

interest expense over the relevant period. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 

through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount 

on initial recognition. 

3.27.2.3 Derecognition of financial liabilities  

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 

or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 

consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 

When the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with substantially 

different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the 

recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Group accounts for substantial modification of terms of an 

existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new 

liability. 

3.27.2.4 Sale and Repurchase Agreements 

Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements (repos) are disclosed in the notes to the Group consolidated 
financial statements when the transferee has the right by contract or custom to sell or re-pledge the collateral; the 
counterparty liability is included as a separate deposit. Securities purchased under agreements to resell (reverse 
repos) are recorded as loans and receivables to either banks or customers, as appropriate. The difference between 
sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective 
interest method. 
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4. Islamic financing and investing products and Islamic customers’ deposits  

In addition to conventional banking products, the Group offers its customers certain non-interest based banking 

products, which are approved by its Sharia’a Supervisory Board. 

All Islamic banking products and related transactions are accounted for in accordance with its accounting policies 

for financial instruments and revenue recognition (see note 3). 

4.1 Definitions  

The following terms are used in the consolidated financial statements with the meaning specified: 

4.1.1 Murabaha 

A contract whereby the Group (the “Seller”) sells an asset to its customer (the “Purchaser”), on a deferred payment 

basis, after purchasing the asset and gaining possession thereof and title thereto, where the Seller has purchased 

and acquired that asset, based on a promise received from the Purchaser to buy the asset once purchased according 

to specific Murabaha terms and conditions. The Murabaha sale price comprises the cost of the asset and a pre-

agreed profit amount. The Murabaha sale price is paid by the Purchaser to the Seller on an instalment basis over 

the period of the Murabaha as stated in the contract. 

4.1.2 Ijarah 

An agreement whereby the Group (the “Lessor”) leases an asset to its customer (the “Lessee”) (after 

purchasing/acquiring the specified asset, either from a third party seller or from the customer itself, according to 

the customer’s request and based on his promise to lease), against certain rental payments for specific lease 

term/periods, payable on fixed or variable rental basis. 

The Ijarah agreement specifies the leased asset, duration of the lease term, as well as, the basis for rental calculation 

and the timing of rental payment. The Lessee undertakes under this agreement to renew the lease periods and pay 

the relevant rental payment amounts as per the agreed schedule and applicable formula throughout the lease term. 

The Lessor retains the ownership of the asset throughout the lease term. At the end of the lease term, upon 

fulfillment of all the obligations by the Lessee under the Ijarah agreement, the Lessor will sell the leased asset to the 

Lessee at nominal value or as a gift by a separate sale or gift contract at the end of the lease period. 

4.1.3 Wakala 

An agreement between two parties whereby one party is a fund provider (the “Muwakkil”) who provides a certain 

amount of money (the “Wakala Capital”) to an agent (the “Wakeel”), who invests the Wakala Capital in a Sharia’a 

compliant manner and according to the feasibility study/investment plan submitted to the Muwakkil by the Wakeel. 

The Wakeel is entitled to a fixed fee (the “Wakala Fee”) as a lump sum amount or a percentage of the Wakala Capital. 

The Wakeel may be granted any excess over and above a certain pre-agreed rate of return as a performance 

incentive. In principle, wakala profit is distributed on declaration/distribution by the Wakeel. 

The Wakeel would bear the loss in case of its default, negligence or violation of any of the terms and conditions of 

the Wakala Agreement; otherwise the loss would be borne by the Muwakkil, provided the Muwakkil receives 

satisfactory evidence that such loss was due to force majeure and that the Wakeel neither was able to predict the 

same nor could have prevented the negative consequences of the same on the Wakala. Under the Wakala 

agreement the Group may act either as Muwakkil or as Wakeel, as the case may be. 
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5. Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty  

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the management is required to 

make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 

readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 

and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of 

the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

5.1 Critical judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies 

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with separately 

below), that the management has made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have 

the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 

5.1.1 Business model assessment 

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI and the business model test 

(please see financial assets accounting policy in note 3.26). The Group determines the business model at a level that 

reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective. This 

assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence including how the performance of the assets is 

evaluated and measured, the risks that affect the performance of the assets and how these are managed and how 

the managers of the assets are compensated. The Group monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost or 

fair value through other comprehensive income that are derecognised prior to their maturity to understand the 

reason for their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of the business for which the 

asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether the business model for which 

the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate whether there has 

been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification of those assets. 

5.1.2 Significant increase of credit risk 

As explained in note 3.26.5, ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime 

ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial 

recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the 

credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative 

reasonable and supportable forward looking information. Refer to note 3.28 and note 39.1 for more details. 

5.1.3 Establishing groups of assets with similar credit risk characteristics 

When ECL are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared risk 

characteristics. Refer to note 39.1 for details of the characteristics considered in this judgement. The Group monitors 

the appropriateness of the credit risk characteristics on an ongoing basis to assess whether they continue to be 

similar. This is required in order to ensure that should credit risk characteristics change there is appropriate re-

segmentation of the assets. This may result in new portfolios being created or assets moving to an existing portfolio 

that better reflects the similar credit risk characteristics of that group of assets. Re-segmentation of portfolios and 

movement between portfolios is more common when there is a significant increase in credit risk (or when that 

significant increase reverses) and so assets move from 12-month to lifetime ECL, or vice versa, but it can also occur 

within portfolios that continue to be measured on the same basis of 12-month or lifetime ECL but the amount of 

ECL changes because the credit risk of the portfolios differ. 
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5. Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

5.1 Critical judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies (continued) 

5.1.4 Models and assumptions used 

The Group uses various models and assumptions in measuring fair value of financial assets as well as in estimating 

ECL. Judgement is applied in identifying the most appropriate model for each type of asset, as well as for determining 

the assumptions used in these models, including assumptions that relate to key drivers of credit risk. See note 3.26 

and note 39.1 for more details on ECL and note 40 for more details on fair value measurement. 

5.1.5 Determining whether it is reasonably certain that an extension or termination option in a lease 

agreement will be exercised  

Extension and termination options are included in a number of tenancy lease agreement entered into by the Group. 

These terms are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts. In determining the lease 

term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension 

option, or not exercise a termination option. The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change 

in circumstances occurs which affects this assessment.  

5.1.6     Investment in ACDL 

The Group acquired, by means of settlement of a debt by a customer, ACDL, an investment vehicle which owns 80% 

of issued share capital of ACADL. During the year, the Group reassessed control over ACADL and determined that it 

does not control ACADL and consequently concluded that the investment by ACDL in ACADL is a financial asset 

within the scope of IFRS 9. As per IFRS 5, such financial assets are outside the scope of the standard and should be 

accounted for under IFRS 9.  

5.1.7 Investment in MURJAN 

AKPI, a subsidiary of the Bank, has investment of 50% equity stake in MURJAN. In 2010, the court, on request of 

shareholders of MURJAN, issued an order to dissolve the company and approved appointment of liquidators. Since 

MURJAN is managed by liquidators, AKPI assessed that it does not exercise any control or significant influence over 

MURJAN and investment in MURJAN is classified as financial assets measured at FVTPL. 

5.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The following are key estimations that the management has used in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 

policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements: 

5.2.1 Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of 

product/market and determining the forward looking information relevant to each scenario 

When measuring ECL the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward looking information, which is based on 

assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each other. 

Refer to note 39.1 for more details, including analysis of the sensitivity of the reported ECL to changes in estimated 

forward looking information. 
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5. Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

5.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

5.2.2  Probability of default 

PD constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, 

the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions. See note 39.1 

for more details. 

5.2.3  Loss Given Default 

LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows 

due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral and integral 

credit enhancements. See note 39.1. 

5.2.4  Fair value measurement and valuation process 

Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The management 

determines the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements. In estimating the fair 

value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 

inputs are not available, the Group uses valuation models or engages third party qualified independent valuers to 

perform the valuation. Management works closely with the qualified independent valuers to establish the 

appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. Information about the valuation techniques and inputs 

used in determining the fair value of various assets and liabilities are disclosed in notes 11, 15, 12 and 40. 

5.2.5  Impairment of property and equipment and investment properties 

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the property and 

equipment and investment properties are impaired. The management estimates the market value of properties 

based on the current market conditions and comparative transactions conducted by the Group. Whenever the 

carrying amount of any property exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

6. Cash and balances with the Central Banks 

In the table below, statutory cash ratio requirements with the Central Banks of the UAE represent mandatory 

reserve deposits and are not available for use in the Group’s day-to-day operations. Cash on hand and current 

accounts and other balances are non-interest bearing. Monterey bills carry interest rate ranging between 1.2% and 

1.5 % per annum. Overnight deposits carry interest rate ranging from 0.10% to 0.15% per annum ( 2020: 0.10% per 

annum). Treasury bills carry Discount rate ranging between 1.32% to 1.41% per annum.  

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      

Cash on hand   58,684  77,151 
      

Balance due from the Central Banks:      
Statutory cash ratio requirements   354,741  205,477 
Overnight deposits   1,990,000  840,000 
Monetary Bills   740,861  - 
Treasury Bills   158,994  - 
Certificates of deposit   -  400,000 

   3,303,280  1,522,628 

      
Balance due to the Central Banks:      

Current account   16,182  1,048 
Repurchase agreement borrowings   -  305,000 

   16,182  306,048 



 

 

41 Commercial Bank International P.S.C. 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  

7. Deposits and balances due from banks  

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Demand and call deposits   98,985  79,961 
ECL allowance   (1,143)  (98) 
   97,842  79,863 

 
8. Loans and advances to customers  

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

Retail lending:      
Mortgage loans   809,161  937,741 
Credit cards   49,328  72,631 
Other   408,679  606,044 

   1,267,168  1,616,416 
ECL allowance   (47,002)  (71,077) 
   1,220,166  1,545,339 
Wholesale lending:      
Loans   8,963,880  7,078,619 
Overdrafts   1,320,118  1,309,144 
Trust receipts   358,015  274,272 
Bills discounted   357,801  375,758 
   10,999,814  9,037,793 
ECL allowance   (1,062,633)  (804,773) 
   9,937,181  8,233,020 
   11,157,347  9,778,359 

 
9. Islamic financing and investing assets 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Wholesale lending:      
Murabaha   267,502  267,831 
Ijarah    363,703  335,053 
Others   3,216  - 
   634,421  602,884 
Deferred income   (6,951)  (6,577) 
   627,470  596,307 
ECL allowance   (6,047)  (2,822) 
   621,423  593,485 
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10. Receivables and other assets  

 
Current 

assets  
Non-current 

assets  Total  
Current 

assets  
Non-current 

Assets  Total 
 2021  2021  2021  2020  2020  2020 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
            

Non-financial assets            
Prepayments 10,413  -  10,413  10,541  -  10,541 
Advances to acquire 

properties (i) 33,013  -  33,013  31,850  -  31,850 
 43,426  -  43,426  42,391  -  42,391 
Financial assets            
Interest receivable 10,177  -  10,177  7,505  -  7,505 
Profit receivable 4,638  -  4,638  6,052  -  6,052 
Customer acceptances 3,009,550  -  3,009,550  2,244,740  -  2,244,740 
Other 214,118  -  214,118  210,206  -  210,206 
 3,238,483  -  3,238,483  2,468,503  -  2,468,503 
ECL allowance     (4,607)      (2,395) 
     3,233,876      2,466,108 
     3,277,302      2,508,499 

 
(i) During the year, the Group has recovered against previously written-down advances to acquire properties, net 

of impairment charge for the year, of AED 8.9 million (2020: impairment charge of AED 2.6 million) and 

recognised in ‘net impairment loss on non-financial assets’.   

11. Property inventory  

The property inventory comprises real estate properties held by the Group for the purpose of sale in the ordinary 

course of business and is carried at lower of cost or net realisable value. The movements in property inventory 

during the year were as follows: 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Balance at 1 January   648,615  406,572 
Repossessed during the year   -  281,958 
Transfer during the year   9,399  - 
Net realisable value adjustment during the year (Note # 34)   (5,231)  (39,915) 
Disposals during the year   (93,280)  - 
Balance at 31 December   559,503  648,615 

 
The net realisable value of the Group's property inventory as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 has been 

arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates by independent valuers not related to the 

Group. Independent valuers have appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of properties in 

the relevant locations. The net realisable value was determined based on either the market comparable approach 

that reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties or on a present value calculation of the estimated future 

cash flows supported by existing lease and current market rents for similar properties at the same location. The Net 

realisable value adjustments have been included in profit or loss in the ‘Net impairment loss on non-financial assets’ 

line item. All property inventories are within the UAE. 
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12. Investment securities measured at fair value 

The Group has designated the following investments in equity instruments and investment fund as these are 

investments that the Group plans to hold in the long term for strategic reasons. The Group has also designated 

investment in equity stake in MURJAN as FVTPL (see note 5.1.7).  The table below shows fair value of these 

investments. 

   
 2021  2020  
 AED ’000  AED ’000  
   (restated)  

Investment at FVTOCI     
Investment in quoted shares 15,279  13,752  
Investment in unquoted shares (i) 92,420  102,478  
Investment in unquoted investment fund 1,391  2,695  
 109,090  118,925  
Investment at FVTPL     
Investment in unquoted shares (ii) 147,865  129,269  

 256,955  248,194  

 
(i) This includes investment in ACDL. During 2018, the Group acquired, by means of settlement of a debt by a 

customer, ACDL, an investment vehicle which owns 80% of issued share capital of ACADL. During the year, the 

Group reassessed control over ACADL and determined that it does not control ACADL and consequently 

concluded that the investment by ACDL in ACADL is a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9. As per IFRS 5, 

such financial assets are outside the scope of the standard and should be accounted for under IFRS 9. In 2020 

the investment was carried at AED 80.4 million. During the year the fair value of the investment has decreased 

and the investment is recognized at AED 72.4 million. 

 

(ii) This represents an investment in MURJAN. In 2010, the court, on request of shareholders of MURJAN, issued 

an order to dissolve the company and approve the appointment of liquidators. Liquidation proceedings were 

put on hold due to an inheritance dispute over the land owned by Murjan. During 2019, the dispute over land 

was decided with an order confirming Murjan’s title to the land. During 2019, the liquidator placed the land on 

auction at a price lower than its liabilities, however, no bids were received. The investment was, therefore, 

carried at Nil value at 31 December 2019. In 2020, to derive the maximum value from the investment in Murjan, 

the shareholders devised and agreed a plan with the liquidators to subdivide the land into smaller plots and 

sell them. Consequently, the fair value of value of land was recognised at AED 129.3 million. During the year 

the fair value of value of land has increased and the investment is recognised at AED 147.8 million. 

 
An analysis of concentration of investment securities measured at fair value by sector and by region is as follows: 

 Within the UAE  Outside the UAE 
 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
   (restated)    (restated) 
        

Financial institutions 31,563  31,160  3,722  4,611 
Real estate 149,256  131,964  72,414  80,459 
 180,819  163,124  76,136  85,070 
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13. Investment securities measured at amortised cost  

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Investment in debt instruments   755,097  704,671 
Investment in Islamic Sukuk   583,017  832,407 

   1,338,114  1,537,078 
ECL allowance   (4,338)  (3,002) 
   1,333,776  1,534,076 

 
The Group holds these investment securities with an average yield of 3.0% to 7.5 % per annum (2020: 2.1% to 7.0% 

per annum). The investment securities are redeemable at par on various maturity dates from 2022 to 2030 (2020: 

2021 to 2030). At the end of the reporting period, investment securities aggregating to AED 511.9 Million [fair value 

of AED 511.9 million] (2020: AED 364.9) were collateralised against borrowings under repurchase agreement with 

the banks. See note 18. 

14. Investment in associate 

Details of the Group's associate at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

 Principal Principal place of Place of % of ownership 
Name Activity Business incorporation 2021 2020 
      
ARZAQ Real estate Sharjah - the UAE Sharjah - the UAE 48.0 48.0 
 
This associate is accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial statements. 

Pursuant to a shareholder agreement, the Bank has the right to cast 48% of the votes at shareholder meetings of 

ARZAQ. At the end of reporting period, the net assets of ARZAQ are in deficit position, consequently investment in 

associate is carried at Nil value. 

15. Investment properties 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Cost:      
Balance at 1 January   95,990  95,990 
Disposals during the year   (26,024)  - 
Balance at 31 December   69,966  95,990 
      
Accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment:      
Balance at 1 January   43,713  39,863 
Depreciation charge for the year   2,823  3,126 
(Reversal)/Impairment during the year   (1,265)  724 
Eliminated on disposals    (14,129)  - 
Balance at 31 December   31,142  43,713 
      
Carrying value:      
Balance at 31 December   38,824  52,277 
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15. Investment properties (continued) 

Fair value of investment properties 

The fair value of the Group's investment property as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 has been arrived 

at on the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates by independent valuers not related to the Group. 

Independent valuers have appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of properties in the 

relevant locations. The fair value was determined based on a market value comparison / present value calculation 

of the estimated future cash flows supported by existing lease and current market rents for similar properties at the 

same locations. The interest rate, which is used to discount the future cash flows, reflects current market 

assessments of the uncertainty and timing of the cash flows.  

Details of the Group's investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2021 

and 31 December 2020 are as follows: 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Fair value 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
        

31 December 2021 -  -  38,824  42,600 
31 December 2020 -  -  52,277  52,277 
 
At the end of reporting period, as a result of the indication of increase in the fair value of investment properties, the 

Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount of its investment properties. The review led to the recognition 

of an impairment reversal of AED 1.3 million (2020: impairment loss of AED 0.7 million), which has been recognised 

in profit or loss in the ‘net impairment loss on non-financial assets’ line item. A 5% decrease in recoverable amount 

will lead to an impairment charge of AED 1.9 million (2020: AED 2.6 million). 

All investment properties are within the UAE. During the year the Group recognised rental income of AED 1.3 million 

(2020: AED 0.9 million) from investment properties which is included in other operating income in note 31. The 

group also incurred AED 1.4 million (2020: AED 1.0 million) operating expenses from investment property that 

generated rental income during the year. 

16. Intangible assets 

Intangible assets mainly comprise of software and licenses. Significant intangible assets include the ‘Core Banking 

System’ and ‘Digital Bank Platform’. The cost amount of these intangible assets is AED 27.1 million and AED 10.2 

million respectively (31 December 2020: AED 27.1 million and AED 10.2 million respectively) and will be fully 

amortised in 5.5 years and 0.5 years respectively (31 December 2020: 6.5 years and 1.5 years respectively). 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Cost:      
Balance at 1 January   120,271  111,180 
Additions during the year   5,082  2,417 
Transfer from capital work in progress   -  6,674 
Balance at 31 December   125,353  120,271 
      
Accumulated amortisation:      
Balance at 1 January   66,889  49,712 
Amortisation charge for the year    18,287  17,177 
Balance at 31 December   85,176  66,889 
      
Carrying value:      
Balance at 31 December   40,177  53,382 
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17. Property and equipment 

 

Freehold 
land and 
buildings  

Property 
Improvem- 

ents  

Furniture, 
fixtures, 

equipment 
and 

vehicles  
Right of use 

assets  

Capital 
work in 

progress  Total 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

Cost:            
Balance at 1 January 2020 50,060  26,953  50,691  69,038  14,099  210,841 
Additions during the year -  389  5,501  -  6,269  12,159 
Disposals during the year -  (45)  (1,304)  -  -  (1,349) 
Adjustments -  -  -  (1,283)  -  (1,283) 
Transfer -  1,379  8,125  -  (16,178)  (6,674) 
Balance at 31 December 

2020  50,060  28,676  63,013  67,755  4,190  213,694 
Additions during the year -  702  1,665  27,242  6,565  36,174 
Disposals during the year (36,737)  (173)  (1,213)  (783)  -  (38,906) 
Adjustments -  (3,404)  (768)  (5,046)  -  (9,218) 
Balance at 31 December 

2021 
13,323  25,801  62,697  89,168  10,755  201,744 

            
Accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment: 
Balance at 1 January 2020 25,720  18,609  45,329  33,443  -  123,101 
Depreciation for the year 1,525  3,738  4,001  10,717  -  19,981 
Impairment (911)  -  -  -  -  (911) 
Adjustments -  -  -  (3,236)  -  (3,236) 
Disposals -  (45)  (841)  -  -  (886) 
Balance at 31 December 

2020 26,334  22,302  48,489  40,924  -  138,049 
Depreciation for the year 1,112  2,001  4,861  12,949  -  20,923 
Adjustments -  (2,091)  (763)  -  -  (2,854) 
Disposals (23,128)  (172)  (1,033)  (783)    (25,116) 
Balance at 31 December 

2021 4,318  22,040  51,554  53,090  -  131,002 
            
Carrying value: 
Balance at 31 December 

2021 9,005  3,761  11,143  36,078  10,755  70,742 

Balance at 31 December 
2020  23,726  6,374  14,524  26,831  4,190  75,645 

 
18. Deposits and balances due to banks 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
      
Demand and call deposits   63,023  79,540 
Term borrowings   1,351,069  1,213,447 
Repurchase agreements with banks (i)   381,257  - 
Islamic inter bank borrowings   467,305  - 
   2,262,654  1,292,987 

 
 (i) The interest paid on the repo agreements ranging between 3.9% to 4.0% per annum.  
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18. Deposits and balances due to banks (continued) 

The geographical analysis of deposits and balances due to banks is as follows: 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
      
Within the UAE   985,838  183,658 
Outside the UAE   1,276,816  1,109,329 
   2,262,654  1,292,987 

 
19. Customers’ deposits 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Current accounts   1,969,941  1,890,476 
Saving accounts   958,329  1,098,015 
Time deposits   8,252,118  6,803,522 
Other   163,749  232,410 
   11,344,137  10,024,423 

 
The geographical analysis of customers’ deposits is as follows: 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Within the UAE   10,490,402  9,444,939 
Outside the UAE   853,735  579,484 
   11,344,137  10,024,423 

 
20. Islamic customers’ deposits 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Current accounts   153,251  83,304 
Saving accounts   598  - 
Investment deposits   1,048,865  344,637 
Other   27,319  29,091 
   1,230,033  457,032 

 
All Islamic customers’ deposits are from customers within the UAE. 
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21. Payables and other liabilities 

 
Current 

liabilities  
Non-current 

liabilities  Total  
Current 

liabilities  
Non-current 

Liabilities  Total 
 2021  2021  2021  2020  2020  2020 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
            

Non-financial liabilities            
Unearned commission 7,345  -  7,345  9,178  -  9,178 
Liability arising from 

defined benefit obligation 
(see 21.1.2) 36,199  -  36,199  38,162  -  38,162 

Value Added Tax (VAT) 
payable 645  -  645  408  -  408 

ECL allowance 31,864  -  31,864  21,619  -  21,619 
 76,053  -  76,053  69,367  -  69,367 
Financial liabilities            
Interest payable 41,355  -  41,355  68,001  -  68,001 
Profit payable 3,022  -  3,022  2,332  -  2,332 
Lease liability (see 21.2) 5,920  24,085  30,005  12,576  16,885  29,461 
Cheques and drafts payable 28,497  -  28,497  23,022  -  23,022 
Customer acceptances 3,009,550  -  3,009,550  2,244,740  -  2,244,740 
Zakat payable (see 21.3) 1,178  -  1,178  578  -  578 
Other 98,553  -  98,553  84,440  -  84,440 
 3,188,075  24,085  3,212,160  2,435,689  16,885  2,452,574 
 3,264,128  24,085  3,288,213  2,505,056  16,885  2,521,941 

 
21.1 Retirement benefit plans  

21.1.1 Defined contribution plan 

The UAE national employees in the United Arab Emirates are members of the Government-managed retirement 

pension and social security benefit scheme.  As per Federal Labour Law No. 7 of 1999, the Group is required to 

contribute 15% of the “contribution calculation salary” of the UAE payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to 

fund the benefits.  The employees are also required to contribute 5% of the “contribution calculation salary” to the 

scheme.  The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement pension and social security scheme is to 

make the specified contributions. The contributions are charged to the consolidated income statement. 

21.1.2 Defined benefit plan 

The Group sponsors defined benefit plan for qualifying employees as per the UAE Labour Law. Under the plan the 

employees’ entitlement to the benefit is based upon the employees’ salary and length of service, subject to 

completion of minimum service period. 

The most recent actuarial valuations of the present value of the defined benefit obligation were carried out at  

31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 by an independent Actuary. The present value of the defined benefit 

obligation, and the related current service cost and past service cost, were measured using the projected unit credit 

method. 

  



 

 

49 Commercial Bank International P.S.C. 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  

21. Payables and other liabilities (continued) 

21.1 Retirement benefit plans (continued) 

21.1.2 Defined benefit plan (continued) 

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows: 

   2021  2020 
      
Discount rate   2.56%  2.20% 
Expected rate of salary increase   3.00%  3.00% 
 
Amounts recognised in profit or loss in respect of these defined benefit plans are as follows: 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

Service cost:      
  Current service cost   5,515  5,934 
Interest expense   816  1,069 
   6,331  7,003 

 
Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows: 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in assumptions   1,571  3,134 
Other remeasurement of net defined benefit liability   945  - 
   2,516  3,134 

 
The amount included in the statement of financial position arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of its 

defined benefit plans is as follows: 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Present value of defined benefit obligation   36,199  38,162 

 
Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations in the year were as follows: 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Balance at 1 January   38,162  35,324 
Service cost   5,515  5,934 
Interest expense   816  1,069 
Remeasurement (gain) / loss   (2,516)  3,134 
Benefits paid during the year   (5,778)  (7,299) 
Balance at 31 December   36,199  38,162 

 
Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are discount rate, expected 

rate of salary increase and turnover rate. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably 

possible changes of the respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other 

assumptions constant. 
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21. Payables and other liabilities (continued) 

21.1 Retirement benefit plans (continued) 

21.1.2 Defined benefit plan (continued) 

If the discount rate is 50 basis points higher, the defined benefit obligation would decrease by 4.9% (2020: AED 

5.2%) and if the discount rate is 50 basis points lower, the defined benefit obligation would increase by 5.3% (2020: 

5.6%). 

If the expected rate of salary increase increases by 50 basis points, the defined benefit obligation would increase by 

5.1% (2020: AED 5.4% million) and If the expected rate of salary increase decreases by 50 basis points, the defined 

benefit obligation would decrease by 4.8% (2020: 5.1%). 

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit 

obligation as it is unlikely that the changes in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the 

assumptions may be correlated. 

In presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined benefit obligation has been calculated 

using the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period, which is the same as that applied in 

calculating the defined benefit obligation liability recognised in the statement of financial position. 

21.2 Lease liability 

Maturity analysis of lease liability is as follows: 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Year 1   5,920  12,576 
Year 2   7,603  9,331 
Year 3   5,810  4,335 
Year 4   2,576  3,219 
Year 5   2,307  - 
Onwards   5,789  - 
   30,005  29,461 

 
At the end of reporting period, there are no leases that are committed but not commenced. Discount rate, among 

others, is the significant assumption that is used in determination of carrying value of right of use assets and lease 

liability. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on a 50 basis points change in discount rate at 

the end of the reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant. 

 
Increase/(decrease) in 

interest expense  
Increase/(decrease) in 

depreciation expense 
 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
        

Discount rate is 50 basis points higher 164  136  181  (112) 
Discount rate is 50 basis points lower (136)  (137)  (179)  115 
 

21.3 Zakat Payable 

Zakat calculations are reviewed and approved annually by the Internal Sharia Supervisory Committee (ISSC). 

Payments for zakat are transferred to the Zakat Fund in the UAE.  
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22. Share capital 

The authorised, issued, and paid up capital of the Bank comprises 1,737,383,050 shares of AED 1 each (2020: 

1,737,383,050 shares of AED 1 each). Fully paid up shares carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends. 

23. Tier 1 Capital Securities 

On 23 December 2015, the Bank issued Tier 1 Capital Securities (the “Capital Securities”) through an SPV, CBI Tier 1 

Private Ltd, (the “Issuer”) amounting to USD 125 million (AED 459.125 million). These Capital Securities are perpetual 

and carry an interest rate of 6% revised from the earlier rate of 6.5% (calculated based on the relevant Six- Years 

Mid Swap Rate plus 4.71 percent per annum) during the “initial period”. After the initial period, at every reset date, 

interest would be calculated for the next reset period at the relevant Six-Year Mid Swap Rate plus a margin of 4.71 

percent per annum. 

Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on these Capital Securities. The “Initial Period” is the period (from and 

including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the First Call Date. The “Reset Date” is the First Call Date and every sixth 

anniversary thereafter. These Capital Securities are callable by the Bank on 23 June 2022 and every interest payment 

date thereafter.  

Tier 1 Capital Securities are perpetual, subordinated and unsecured. The Bank may elect not to pay a coupon at its 

own discretion. The holder of the Capital Securities does not have a right to claim the coupon and an election by the 

Bank not to service coupon is not considered an event of default. 

24. Reserves 

24.1 Statutory reserve 

In accordance with UAE Federal Law and the Bank’s Articles of Association, a transfer equivalent to at least 10% of 

the annual net profit is made annually to the statutory reserve until such reserve equals 50% of the paid up share 

capital. 

24.2 General reserve 

In accordance with the Bank's Articles of Association, a transfer equivalent to at least 10% of the annual net profit 

should be made to a general reserve each year until the value of the reserve is equal to 50% of the nominal value of 

the issued share capital. 

24.3 Investments revaluation reserve 

The investments revaluation reserve represents accumulated gains and losses arising on the revaluation of financial 

assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

24.4 CBUAE provision reserve 

CBUAE provision reserve comprise of following 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Specific provision reserve   273,491  215,989 
   273,491  215,989 
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24. Reserves (continued) 

24.4 CBUAE provision reserve (continued) 

24.4.1 Specific provision reserve 

In accordance with the requirements of CBUAE the excess of the credit impairment provisions calculated in 

accordance with CBUAE requirements over the ECL allowance for stage 3 exposures calculated under IFRS 9 is 

transferred to ‘specific provision reserve’ as an appropriation from retained earnings. This reserve is not available 

for payment of dividends. Had the Group taken provision in accordance with the requirements of the CBUAE, the 

profit for the year would have been Lower by 57.5 million (2020: higher by AED 7.3 million). 

24.4.2 General provision reserve 

In accordance with the requirements of CBUAE the excess of the credit impairment provisions of 1.5% of total credit 

risk weighted assets calculated in accordance with CBUAE requirements over the ECL allowance of stage 1 and stage 

2 exposures calculated under IFRS 9 is transferred to ‘general provision reserve’ as an appropriation from retained 

earnings. This reserve is not available for payment of dividends. Had the Group taken provision in accordance with 

the requirements of the CBUAE, the profit for the year would have been Nil (2020: higher by AED 33.5 million). 

The movement in these reserves is as follows: 

 
Statutory 

reserve  
General 
reserve  

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve  

CBUAE 
specific 

provision 
reserve  

CBUAE 
general 

provision 
reserve  Total 

 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
2021            
As at 1 January (restated) 272,146  3,368  (68,947)  215,989  -  422,556 
Other comprehensive loss -  -  (8,692)  -  -  (8,692) 
Transfers -  -    57,502  -  57,502 
As at 31 December 272,146  3,368  (77,639)  273,491  -  471,366 

            
2020            
As at 1 January (restated) 268,778  11,104  (57,127)  223,377  33,534  481,884 
Other comprehensive loss -  -  (11,820)  -  -  (11,820) 
Transfers 3,368  (7,736)  -  (7,388)  (33,534)  (45,290) 
As at 31 December 

(restated) 272,146  3,368  (68,947)  215,989  -  422,556 

 
25. Non-controlling interests 

Non-controlling interests in respect of the Group’s non-wholly owned subsidiary is set out below. 

 
% of ownership and voting 

rights  

Profit/(loss) allocated 
to non-controlling 

interests for the year  
Non-controlling 

interests 
 2021  2020  2021  2020  2021  2020 
     AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

            
IFB 99.4%  99.4%  1  (1)  312  311 
AKPI 52.8%  52.8%  8,777  61,015  69,762  61,015 
     8,778  61,014  70,104  61,326 
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25. Non-controlling interests (continued) 

Summarised financial information in respect of AKPI that has material non-controlling interests is set out below. The 

summarised financial information below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations. 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Current assets   147,865  129,269 
Non-current assets   -  - 
Total assets   147,865  129,269 

Current liabilities   -  - 
Non-current liabilities   -  - 
Equity attributable to the owners of AKPI   147,865  129,269 
Non-controlling interests   -  - 
Total liabilities and equity   147,865  129,269 

      
Net income from financial assets at FVTPL   18,596  129,269 
Expenses   -  - 
Profit for the year   18,596  129,269 
Other comprehensive income for the year   -  - 
Total comprehensive income for the year   18,596  129,269 

      
Profit for the year attributable to:      

Owners of AKPI   9,819  129,269 
Non-controlling interests   8,777  - 

   18,596  129,269 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:      
Owners of AKPI   9,819  129,269 
Non-controlling interests   8,777  - 

   18,596  129,269 

 
26. Interest income 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Loans and overdrafts   472,381  603,479 
Bills discounted   8,954  12,247 
Debt instruments   29,943  36,792 
Placements with banks   1,546  14,011 
   512,824  666,529 

 
27. Income from Islamic financing and investing assets 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Murabaha   11,696  14,711 
Ijarah    17,703  12,008 
Islamic sukuk   20,231  14,433 
Wakala   27  46 
   49,657  41,198 
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28. Interest expense 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Customers’ deposits   137,384  210,678 
Borrowings from banks   23,983  51,038 
Others   16,370  13,125 
   177,737  274,841 

 
29. Distribution to Islamic depositors 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Islamic customers’ deposits   7,635  15,223 
Islamic investment deposits from banks   1,034  61 
   8,669  15,284 

 
30. Net fee and commission income 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Fee and commission income:      
Commission on trade finance products   51,067  55,515 
Advisory fee   24,639  39,864 
Facility processing fee   27,172  23,339 
Account service fee   5,270  8,109 
Banking fee and commission   6,997  6,484 
Insurance commission   4,007  5,680 
Credit card related fee   8,607  13,284 
Clearing and settlement fee   6,308  5,689 
Other   1,897  3,347 

   135,964  161,311 
Fee and commission expense:      
Credit card related expenses   (7,594)  (8,233) 
Other   (7,226)  (7,147) 
   (14,820)  (15,380) 
   121,144  145,931 

 
31. Other operating income, net 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
      
Foreign exchange gains   13,377  22,193 
Net income from financial assets at FVTPL   18,891  127,515 
Amortisation of day 1 profit   7,433  22,300 
Gain on sale of properties   30,020  - 
Other   4,845  4,582 
   74,566  176,590 

 
  



 

 

55 Commercial Bank International P.S.C. 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  

32. General and administrative expenses 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
      
Payroll and related expenses   173,705  149,291 
Contributions to defined contribution plan   3,593  3,118 
Rent   3,622  1,800 
Amortisation of intangible assets   18,288  17,177 
Depreciation on property and equipment   20,923  19,981 
Depreciation on investment properties   2,823  3,126 
Directors’ expenses   81  233 
Insurance expense   9,001  7,886 
Consultation fees   13,952  10,317 
Maintenance costs   23,071  24,469 
Other   33,578  26,722 
   302,637  264,120 

 
33. Net impairment loss on financial assets 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Net ECL charge for the year   240,282  442,576 
Recoveries against written off loans   (44,818)  (44,225) 
Other   2,557  1,480 

   198,021  399,831 

 
34. Net impairment loss on non-financial assets 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Impairment loss on property inventory   5,231  39,915 
Impairment loss on investment properties   (1,265)  724 
Reversal of impairment loss on property and equipment   -  (911) 
(Reversal)/impairment loss on other non-financial assets   (3,402)  (2,558) 
   564  37,170 

 
35. Contingent liabilities and commitments 

To meet the financial needs of customers, the Group enters into various irrevocable commitments and contingent 

liabilities. These consist of financial guarantees, letters of credit and other undrawn commitments to provide a loan. 

Even though these obligations may not be recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position, they do 

contain credit risk and are therefore part of the overall risk of the Group. 

35.1 Letters of credit and guarantees 

Letters of credit and guarantees (including standby letters of credit) commit the Group to make payments on behalf 

of customers in the event of a specific act, generally related to the import or export of goods. Guarantees and 

standby letters of credit carry a similar credit risk to loans. 

The contractual amounts of contingent liabilities are set out in the following table by category. The amounts 

reflected in the table represent the maximum accounting loss that would be recognised at the end of reporting 

period if counterparties failed to perform as contracted. 
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35. Contingent liabilities and commitments (continued) 

35.1 Letters of credit and guarantees (continued) 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Guarantees   2,255,534  2,446,470 
Letters of credit   146,235  276,340 
   2,401,769  2,722,810 

 
35.2 Other commitments 

At any time, the Group has outstanding irrevocable Commitments to provide a loan. These commitments are in the 

form of approved loan facilities. The amounts reflected in the table below for commitments assume that amounts 

are fully advanced. 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Loan commitments   1,766,778  2,183,135 
Capital commitments   4,586  1,567 
   1,771,364  2,184,702 

 
36. Basic and diluted earnings per share 

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributed to the owners of the Bank less interest 

paid on Tier 1 Capital Securities by the weighted average number of shares in issue throughout the period as follows: 

 
From continuing 

operations  
From continuing and 

discontinued operations 
 2021  2020  2021  2020 
        
        

Profit/(loss) for the period attributable to owners of the 
Bank  (AED ’000) 121,777  (27,336)  121,777  (27,336) 

Interest on Tier 1 Capital Securities (AED ’000) -  -  -  - 
 121,777  (27,336)  121,777  (27,336) 

        
Weighted average number of shares in issue (’000) 1,737,383  1,737,383  1,737,383  1,737,383 

        
Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED) 0.070  (0.016)  0.070  (0.016) 

 
37. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise the following consolidated 

statement of financial position amounts: 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Cash and balances with the Central Banks   3,303,280  1,522,628 
Deposits and balances due from banks   98,985  79,961 

   3,402,265  1,602,589 
Less: Statutory reserve with the Central Bank of the UAE (note 6)   (354,741)  (205,477) 
Less: Certificates of deposit with an original maturity of more than 90 days.   -  (400,000) 
   3,047,524  997,112 
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38. Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities 

38.1 Non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities 

 At fair value  At amortised cost  Total 
 2021  2020  2021  2020  2021  2020 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
   (restated)         

Non-derivative financial 
assets            

Cash and balances with 
the Central Banks -  -  3,303,280  1,522,628  3,303,280  1,522,628 

Deposits and balances 
due from banks -  -  98,985  79,961  98,985  79,961 

Loans and advances to 
customers -  -  12,266,982  10,654,209  12,266,982  10,654,209 

Islamic financing and 
investing assets -  -  627,470  596,307  627,470  596,307 

Receivables and other 
assets -  -  3,238,483  2,468,503  3,238,483  2,468,503 

Investment securities at 
fair value 256,955  248,594  -  -  256,955  248,594 

Investment securities 
measured at amortised 
cost -  -  1,338,114  1,537,078  1,338,114  1,537,078 

 256,955  248,594  20,873,314  16,858,686  21,130,269  17,107,280 
Derivative financial 

assets - FVTPL 16,917  33,506  -  -  16,917  33,506 
 273,872  282,100  20,873,314  16,858,686  21,147,186  17,140,786 

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities            

Balance due to the Central 
Banks -  -  16,182  306,048  16,182  306,048 

Deposits and balances due 
to banks -  -  2,262,654  1,292,987  2,262,654  1,292,987 

Customers’ deposits -  -  11,344,137  10,024,423  11,344,137  10,024,423 
Islamic customers’ 

deposits -  -  1,230,033  457,032  1,230,033  457,032 
Payables and other 

liabilities -  -  3,207,785  2,452,574  3,207,785  2,452,574 
 -  -  18,060,791  14,533,064  18,060,791  14,533,064 
Derivative financial 

liabilities - FVTPL 17,976  35,584  -  -  17,976  35,584 
 17,976  35,584  18,060,791  14,533,064  18,078,767  14,568,648 
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39. Financial risk management 

The Group has exposure to the following primary risks from its use of financial instruments. The exposures to these 

risks and how they arise has remained unchanged from last year. 

▪ Credit risk 

▪ Liquidity risk 

▪ Market risk 

▪ Operational risk 

The following section discusses the Group’s risk management policies which remain unchanged from last year. 

39.1 Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial 

loss to the Group. The Group’s main income generating activity is lending to customers and therefore credit risk is 

a principal risk. Credit risk mainly arises from loans and advances to customers and other banks (including related 

commitments to lend such as loan or credit card facilities), investments in debt securities and derivatives that are 

an asset position. The Group considers all elements of credit risk exposure such as counterparty default risk, 

geographical risk and sector risk for risk management purposes. 

39.1.1 Management of credit risk 

The Group’s Asset Quality Committee is responsible for managing the Group’s credit risk by: 

▪ Ensuring that the Group has appropriate credit risk practices, which is based on an approved risk appetite 

framework, including an effective system of internal control, to consistently determine adequate 

allowances in accordance with the Group’s stated policies and procedures, IFRS and relevant supervisory 

guidance. 

▪ Identifying, assessing and measuring credit risk across the Group, from an individual instrument to a 

portfolio level. 

▪ Creating credit policies to protect the Group against the identified risks including the requirements to 

obtain collateral from borrowers, to perform robust ongoing credit assessment of borrowers and to 

continually monitor exposures against internal risk limits. 

▪ Limiting concentrations of exposure by type of asset, counterparties, industry, credit rating, geographic 

location etc. 

▪ Establishing a robust control framework regarding the authorisation structure for the approval and renewal 

of credit facilities. 

▪ Developing and maintaining the Group’s risk grading to categorise exposures according to the degree of 

risk of default. Risk grades are subject to regular reviews. 

▪ Developing and maintaining the Group’s processes for measuring ECL including monitoring of credit risk, 

incorporation of forward looking information and the method used to measure ECL. 

▪ Ensuring that the Group has policies and procedures in place to appropriately maintain and validate models 

used to assess and measure ECL. 

▪ Establishing a sound credit risk accounting assessment and measurement process that provides it with a 

strong basis for common systems, tools and data to assess credit risk and to account for ECL. Providing 

advice, guidance and specialist skills to business units to promote best practice throughout the Group in 

the management of credit risk. 

The internal audit function performs regular audits making sure that the established controls and procedures 

are adequately designed and implemented. 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.2 Significant increase in credit risk 

As explained in note 3 the Group monitors all financial assets that are subject to impairment requirements to assess 

whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a significant 

increase in credit risk the Group will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL. 

Internal credit risk ratings 

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked the Asset Quality Committee to develop and maintain the 

Group’s credit risk grading to categorise exposures according to their degree of risk of default. The Group’s credit 

risk grading framework comprises twenty-two categories. The credit rating information is based on a range of data 

that is determined to be predictive of the risk of default and applying experienced credit judgement. The nature of 

the exposure and type of borrower are taken into account in the analysis. Credit risk grades are defined using 

qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of risk of default. 

The credit risk grades are designed and calibrated to reflect the risk of default as credit risk deteriorates. As the 

credit risk increases the difference in risk of default between grades changes. Each exposure is allocated to a credit 

risk grade at initial recognition, based on the available information about the counterparty. All exposures are 

monitored and the credit risk grade is updated to reflect current information. The monitoring procedures followed 

are both general and tailored to the type of exposure. 

The following data are typically used to monitor the Group’s exposures: 

▪ Payment record, including payment ratios and ageing analysis; 

▪ Extent of utilisation of granted limit; 

▪ Forbearances (both requested and granted); 

▪ Changes in business, financial and economic conditions; 

▪ Credit rating information supplied by external rating agencies; 

▪ For retail exposures: internally generated data of customer behaviour, affordability metrics etc.; and 

▪ For wholesale exposures: information obtained by periodic review of customer files including review of 

audited financial statements, analysis of market data such as prices of credit default swaps (CDS) or quoted 

bonds where available, assessment for changes in the financial sector in which the customer operates etc. 

The Group uses credit risk grades as a primary input into the determination of the term structure of the PD for 

exposures. The Group collects performance and default information about its credit risk exposures analysed by 

jurisdiction or region and by type of product and borrower as well as by credit risk grading. The information used is 

both internal and external depending on the portfolio assessed. The table below provides a mapping of the Group’s 

internal credit risk grades to external ratings. 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.2 Significant increase in credit risk (continued) 

Risk grade  Description   Moody’s rating 
1  Low to fair risk   Aaa 
2+  Low to fair risk   Aa1 
2  Low to fair risk   Aa2 
2-  Low to fair risk   Aa3 
3+  Low to fair risk   A1 
3  Low to fair risk   A2 
3-  Low to fair risk   A3 
4+  Low to fair risk   Baa1 
4  Low to fair risk   Baa2 
4-  Standard monitoring   Baa3 
5+  Standard monitoring  Ba1 
5  Standard monitoring  Ba2 
5-  Standard monitoring  Ba3 
6+  Watch and special monitoring B1 
6  Watch and special monitoring B2 
6-  Watch and special monitoring B3 
7+  Watch and special monitoring Caa1 
7  Watch and special monitoring Caa2 
7-  Watch and special monitoring Caa3 
8  Default: Substandard  Ca - C 
9  Default: Doubtful   Ca - C 
10  Default: Impaired   Ca - C 
 
The Group uses different criteria to determine whether credit risk has increased significantly per portfolio of assets. 

The criteria used are both quantitative changes in PDs as well as qualitative. The table below summarises certain 

indicative qualitative indicators assessed. 

  Qualitative indicators assessed 

Retail lending  Internal rating downgrade, changes in performance behaviour of borrower or portfolio 

(past due days), LTV ratio (for mortgage loans), extension to the terms granted, actual or 

expected forbearance or restructuring, blacklisted employers or loss of job, adverse 

change in economic conditions, uncollateralised bullet payment loans. 

Wholesale lending  Significant change in operating results of a borrower, significant adverse change in 

regulatory, economic or technological environment, actual or expected forbearance or 

restructuring, early signs of cash flows and liquidity problems, past due days, internal 

ratings downgrade, significant increase in exposure at default due to change in collateral 

value, uncollateralised bullet payment loans. 

Due from banks  Significant increase in credit spread, external credit ratings 

Debt instruments  Significant increase in credit spread, external credit ratings 

Financial guarantee 

contract 

 Increase in credit risk of other financial instruments of the borrower 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.2 Significant increase in credit risk (continued) 

Loan commitments are assessed along with the category of loan the Group is committed to provide, i.e. 

commitments to provide mortgages are assessed using similar criteria to mortgage loans, while commitments to 

provide a wholesale loan are assessed using similar criteria to wholesale loans. 

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset 

has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due 

unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise. 

The Group has monitoring procedures in place to make sure that the criteria used to identify significant increases in 

credit are effective, meaning that significant increase in credit risk is identified before the exposure is defaulted or 

when the asset becomes 30 days past due. The Group performs periodic back-testing of its ratings to consider 

whether the drivers of credit risk that led to default were accurately reflected in the rating in a timely manner. 

39.1.3 Incorporation of forward-looking information 

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of an 

instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. The expected credit 

losses have been determined using two forward-looking scenarios – Baseline and Adverse. The ECL is calculated for 

each scenario and weighted by the likelihood of that scenario occurring. 

Based on the historical data on key macroeconomic indicators provided by governmental body and monetary 

authority, the Group formulates a 'base case' view of the future direction of the economic outlook that drives the 

default rates of each portfolio of financial instruments. The baseline scenario represents a most-likely outcome and 

is aligned with information used by the Group for other purposes such as strategic planning and budgeting and other 

business activities. The adverse scenario represent more pessimistic outcomes.  

The Group redeveloped macroeconomic models to address the deficiencies identified in the existing models. Using 

robust macroeconomic modelling methodology, Group identified and documented the key macroeconomic factors 

that drives the change in default rates of each portfolio of financial instruments. Following macroeconomic data and 

forecasts published by governmental bodies and monetary authorities such as the CBUAE, IMF, and World Bank 

have been utilized by the Group to incorporate forward-looking information into the PD term structure of each of 

the scenario. 

▪ Real estate AD (average residential price, AED/m2) 

▪ ECI (year-on-year % change) 

▪ Oil Production (thousand barrels per day) 

▪ Average oil price per barrel (USD) 

▪ Inflation, average consumer price index (year-on-year % change) 

▪ Emirates interbank offer rate: EIBOR 

▪ Dubai stock price index: Dubai Financial Market General Index  

▪ Annual UAE real investment (AED billion 2010 prices) 

▪ Annual UAE imports (AED billion 2010 prices) 

▪ Annual UAE real consumption (AED billion 2010 prices) 

Predicted relationships between the key macroeconomic indicators and default rates of respective portfolios of 

financial assets have been developed based on analyzing historical data over the past 8 years. Models are reviewed 

and monitored for appropriateness at the end of each reporting period. 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.3 Incorporation of forward-looking information (continued) 

The table below summarises the principal macroeconomic indicators included in the economic scenarios used at 31 

December 2021 for the years 2022 to 2024, for the UAE, which is the country where the Group operates and 

therefore is the country that has a material impact on ECL. 

December 2021 

       2022  2023  2024 
            
Real estate AD (average residential price, AED/m2)         
▪ Base scenario       10,292  10,682  11,106 
▪ Adverse scenario       8,761  9,275  9,728 

            
ECI (year-on-year % change)         
▪ Base scenario       3.26%  3.31%  3.30% 
▪ Adverse scenario       0.05%  3.14%  3.14% 

            
Oil Production (thousand barrels per day)         
▪ Base scenario       2,840  2,912  2,99 
▪ Adverse scenario       2,655  2,721  2,803 

            
Average oil price per barrel (USD)         
▪ Base scenario       59.75  60.00  61.20 
▪ Adverse scenario       37.47  41.83  48.25 

            
Inflation, average consumer price index (year-on-year % change) 
▪ Base scenario       2.00%  2.00%  2.00% 
▪ Adverse scenario       1.36%  1.63%  1.95% 

            
Emirates interbank offer rate: EIBOR         
▪ Base scenario       0.69%  1.00%  1.46% 
▪ Adverse scenario       0.36%  0.60%  0.88% 

            
Dubai stock price index: Dubai Financial Market General Index 
▪ Base scenario       2,843  3,004  3,154 
▪ Adverse scenario       1,488  1,635  1,831 

            
Annual UAE real investment (AED billion 2010 prices)         
▪ Base scenario       50.12  51.51  52.93 
▪ Adverse scenario       41.36  42.26  43.35 

            
Annual UAE imports (AED billion 2010 prices)         
▪ Base scenario       282.68  290.65  298.79 
▪ Adverse scenario       238.52  244.06  250.54 

            
Annual UAE real consumption (AED billion 2010 prices)         
▪ Base scenario       125.14  128.66  132.26 
▪ Adverse scenario       107.13  109.68  112.61 

 
The table below summarises the principal macroeconomic indicators included in the economic scenarios used at 31 

December 2020 for the years 2021 to 2023, for the United Arab Emirates, which is the country where the Group 

operates and therefore is the country that has a material impact on ECL. 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.3 Incorporation of forward-looking information (continued) 

December 2020 
 

       2021  2022  2023 
            
Real estate AD (average residential price, AED/m2)         
▪ Base scenario       9,889  11,253  11,453 
▪ Adverse scenario       8,091  9,240  9,499 

            
ECI (year-on-year % change)         
▪ Base scenario       1.30%  2.20%  2.60% 
▪ Adverse scenario       1.17%  1.72%  2.56% 

            
Oil Production (thousand barrels per day)         
▪ Base scenario       3,035  3,144  3,092 
▪ Adverse scenario       2,686  3,054  3,090 

            
Average oil price per barrel (USD)         
▪ Base scenario       44.01  45.66  64.11 
▪ Adverse scenario       37.41  38.81  60.15 

            
Inflation, average consumer price index (year-on-year % change) 
▪ Base scenario       1.50%  2.00%  2.00% 
▪ Adverse scenario       0.50%  1.53%  1.85% 

            
Emirates interbank offer rate: EIBOR         
▪ Base scenario       0.79%  1.92%  3.74% 
▪ Adverse scenario       0.94%  2.30%  4.49% 

            
Dubai stock price index: Dubai Financial Market General Index 
▪ Base scenario       2,104  2,434  2,451 
▪ Adverse scenario       1,619  1,623  1,634 

            
Annual UAE real investment (AED billion 2010 prices)         
▪ Base scenario       44  50  52 
▪ Adverse scenario       37  41  42 

            
Annual UAE imports  (AED billion 2010 prices)         
▪ Base scenario       247  283  291 
▪ Adverse scenario       212  239  244 

            
Annual UAE real consumption (AED billion 2010 prices)         
▪ Base scenario       110  125  129 
▪ Adverse scenario       95  107  110 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.3 Incorporation of forward-looking information (continued) 

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis on how ECL on the main portfolios will change if the key 

macroeconomic indicators used to calculate ECL change by 5%. The table below outlines the total ECL per portfolio 

as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, if the assumptions used to measure ECL remain as expected 

(amount as presented in the statement of financial position), as well as if each of the key assumptions used change 

by plus or minus 5%. The changes are applied in isolation and are applied to each probability weighted scenario used 

to develop the estimate of expected credit losses. In reality, there will be interdependencies between the various 

economic inputs and the exposure to sensitivity will vary across the economic scenarios. 

 
Retail 

lending  
Wholesale 

lending  
Due from 

banks  
Investment 

securities 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

December 2021 
       

        
Real estate AD (average residential price, AED/m2)        
▪ +5% (884)  -  -  - 
▪ -5% 1,008  -  -  - 

        
Real GDP (year-on-year % change)        
▪ +5% (224)  -  -  - 
▪ -5% 204  -  -  - 

        
Average oil price per barrel (USD)        
▪ +5% (0.28)  (3,105)  (46)  (-171) 
▪ -5% 0.40  4,483  66  245 

        
Oil Production (thousand barrels per day)        
▪ +5% (40)  -  -  - 
▪ -5% 50  -  -  - 

        
Annual UAE real investment (AED billion 2010 prices)        
▪ +5% (0.39)  (5,424)  (81)  (300) 
▪ -5% 0.36  5,547  82  304 

        
Annual UAE imports (AED billion 2010 prices)        
▪ +5% (0.16)  (1,755)  (26)  (97) 
▪ -5% 0.22  2,476  37  135 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.3 Incorporation of forward-looking information (continued) 

 
Retail 

lending  
Wholesale 

lending  
Due from 

banks  
Investment 

securities 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

December 2020 
       

        
Real estate AD (average residential price, AED/m2)        
▪ +5% (956)  -  -  - 
▪ -5% 1,135  -  -  - 

        
Real GDP (year-on-year % change)        
▪ +5% (449)  (1)  -  - 
▪ -5% 422  1  -  - 

        
Average oil price per barrel (USD)        
▪ +5% (1)  (1,341)  (3)  (89) 
▪ -5% -  1,153  3  77 

        
Oil Production (thousand barrels per day)        
▪ +5% (50)  -  -  - 
▪ -5% 62  -  -  - 

        
Annual UAE real investment (AED billion 2010 prices)        
▪ +5% (5)  (12,297)  (25)  (765) 
▪ -5% 6  16,194  33  1,003 

        
Annual UAE imports (AED billion 2010 prices)        
▪ +5% -  (20)  -  - 
▪ -5% -  24  -  1 

 
If the weightage assigned to base scenario is changed by 20%, the impact on ECL would range between AED 10 

million to AED 15 million.  Retail lending and wholesale lending in the table above include loan commitments and 

financial guarantee contracts. 

39.1.4 Measurement of ECL 

Following risk parameters have been used by the Bank to measure the ECL: 

▪ probability of default (PD); 

▪ loss given default (LGD); and 

▪ exposure at default (EAD). 

As explained above these parameters are generally derived from internally developed statistical models and other 

historical data and they are adjusted to reflect probability-weighted forward-looking information. 

PD is the predicted probability that a pool of obligors will default over the predefined future time horizon. For each 

portfolio of financial instruments, PDs are estimated using robust statistical models – rating models for wholesale 

facilities and roll rate models for retail facilities. These statistical models are based on internally compiled data 

comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors. Macroeconomic adjustment of the PD has been carried out as 

described above to reflect forward-looking information 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.4 Measurement of ECL (continued) 

LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. The Group estimates the LGD based on the difference between 

contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from 

any collateral. The LGD models for secured assets consider forecasts of future collateral valuation taking into 

account sale discounts, time to realisation of collateral, cross collateralisation and seniority of claim, cost of 

realisation of collateral and cure rates (i.e. exit from non-performing status). LGD models for unsecured assets 

consider time of recovery, recovery rates and seniority of claims. The calculation is on a discounted cash flow basis, 

where the cash flows are discounted using the original EIR of the loan. 

EAD is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected changes in the exposure 

after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, and expected drawdowns on committed 

facilities. The Group’s modelling approach for EAD reflects expected changes in the balance outstanding over the 

lifetime of the loan exposure that are permitted by the current contractual terms, such as amortisation profiles, 

changes in utilisation of undrawn commitments and credit mitigation actions taken before default. The Group uses 

EAD models that reflect the characteristics of the portfolios. 

The Group measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period (including extension 

options) over which the entity is exposed to credit risk and not a longer period, even if contract extension or renewal 

is common business practice. However, for financial instruments such as credit cards, revolving credit facilities and 

overdraft facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment component, the Group’s contractual ability 

to demand repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment does not limit the Group’s exposure to credit losses to 

the contractual notice period. For such financial instruments the Group measures ECL over the period that it is 

exposed to credit risk and ECL would not be mitigated by credit risk management actions, even if that period extends 

beyond the maximum contractual period. These financial instruments do not have a fixed term or repayment 

structure and have a short contractual cancellation period. However, the Group does not enforce, in the normal 

day-to-day management, the contractual right to cancel these financial instruments. This is because these financial 

instruments are managed on a collective basis and are cancelled only when the Group becomes aware of an increase 

in credit risk at the facility level. This longer period is estimated taking into account the credit risk management 

actions that the Group expects to take to mitigate ECL, e.g. reduction in limits or cancellation of the loan 

commitment. 

39.1.5 Groupings based on shared risks characteristics 

When ECL are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared risk 

characteristics such as instrument type, credit risk grade, utilisation band and collateral type. The groupings are 

reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that each group is comprised of homogenous exposures. 

39.1.6 Credit quality 

Credit risk concentrations 

An analysis of the Group’s credit risk concentrations per class of financial asset, subject to impairment, is provided 

in the following tables. The amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts. For loan commitments and 

financial guarantee contracts, the amounts in the table represent the amounts committed or guaranteed, 

respectively. 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.6 Credit quality (continued) 

Concentration by sector   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

Balances with Central Banks      
Central banks   3,244,596  1,445,477 

      
Deposits and balances due from banks      

Other banks   98,984  79,961 
Loans and advances to customers      
Retail lending      

Mortgages   802,912  937,741 
Unsecured lending   464,257  678,675 

   1,267,169  1,616,416 
Wholesale lending      

Real estate   556,277  2,666,704 
Construction   2,782,264  740,800 
Trade   1,962,327  1,553,648 
Manufacturing   665,741  512,257 
Transport, storage and communication   129,718  238,681 
Gas, electricity and water   942,703  511,003 
Other   3,960,784  2,814,700 

   10,999,814  9,037,793 
Islamic financing and investing assets      
Wholesale lending      

Real estate   175,467  165,508 
Construction   82,184  42,481 
Trade   93  17,887 
Manufacturing   47,006  51,867 
Transport, storage and communication   -  - 
Other   322,720  318,564 

   627,470  596,307 
Receivables and other assets      

Construction   55,051  92,383 
Trade   2,708,665  1,998,558 
Manufacturing   242,261  143,510 
Other   232,506  234,052 

   3,238,483  2,468,503 
Investment securities measured at amortised cost      

Sovereign   1,265,069  1,367,439 
Other   73,045  169,639 

   1,338,114  1,537,078 
Loan commitments, letters of credit and financial guarantee contracts      

Retail lending   173,265  213,922 
Real estate   92,405  271,851 
Construction   2,425,561  2,603,861 
Trade   307,615  520,751 
Manufacturing   348,367  463,013 
Transport, storage and communication   32,523  62,192 
Gas, electricity and water   30,183  58,184 
Other   758,628  712,171 

   4,168,547  4,905,945 
   24,983,177  21,687,480 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.6 Credit quality (continued) 

Concentration by region 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
The UAE   23,308,511  19,594,829 
The GCC   1,128,940  816,928 
Other Arab countries   2,674  11,798 
Europe   68,020  58,642 
The USA   45,280  15,331 
Asia   280,063  932,063 
Other   149,689  257,889 
   24,983,177  21,687,480 

 
Credit risk exposure per class of financial asset, internal rating and stage 

An analysis of the Group’s credit risk exposure per class of financial asset (subject to impairment), internal rating 

and stage without taking into account the effects of any collateral or other credit enhancements is provided in the 

following tables. These amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts. For loan commitments and financial 

guarantee contracts, the amounts in the table represent the amounts committed or guaranteed, respectively. 

▪ Balances with Central Banks 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI   

  
12 months 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

31 December 2021           
Low to fair risk  3,244,596  -  -  -  3,244,596 
Gross carrying amounts  3,244,596  -  -  -  3,244,596 
ECL allowance  -  -  -  -  - 
Carrying amount  3,244,596  -  -  -  3,244,596 

           
31 December 2020           
Low to fair risk  1,445,477  -  -  -  1,445,477 
Gross carrying amounts  1,445,477  -  -  -  1,445,477 
ECL allowance  -  -  -  -  - 
Carrying amount  1,445,477  -  -  -  1,445,477 

 
▪ Deposits and balances due from banks 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI   

  
12 months 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

31 December 2021           
Low to fair risk  98,985    -  -  98,985 
Gross carrying amounts  98,985  -  -  -  98,985 
ECL allowance  (1,143)  -  -  -  (1,143) 
Carrying amount  97,842  -  -  -  97,842 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.6 Credit quality (continued) 

▪ Deposits and balances due from banks (continued) 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI   

  
12 months 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
           

31 December 2020           
Low to fair risk  79,961  -  -  -  79,961 
Gross carrying amounts  79,961        79,961 
ECL allowance  (98)  -  -  -  (98) 
Carrying amount  79,863  -  -  -  79,863 

 
▪ Loans and advances to customers - retail lending 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI   

  
12 months 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

31 December 2021           
Low to fair risk  1,008,251  -  -  -  1,008,251 
Standard monitoring  52,639  -  -  -  52,639 
Watch  -  98,626  -  -  98,626 
Substandard  -  -  7,093  -  7,093 
Doubtful  -  -  6,445  -  6,445 
Impaired  -  -  94,115  -  94,115 
Gross carrying amounts  1,060,890  98,626  107,653  -  1,267,169 
ECL allowance  (10,794)  (15,562)  (20,646)  -  (47,002) 
Carrying amount  1,050,096  83,064  87,007  -  1,220,167 

           
31 December 2020           
Low to fair risk  782,303  -  -  -  782,303 
Standard monitoring  28,010  -  -  -  28,010 
Watch  -  702,297  -  -  702,297 
Substandard  -  -  54,691  -  54,691 
Doubtful  -  -  7,725  -  7,725 
Impaired  -  -  41,390  -  41,390 
Gross carrying amounts  810,313  702,297  103,806  -  1,616,416 
ECL allowance  (9,041)  (41,263)  (20,773)  -  (71,077) 
Carrying amount  801,272  661,034  83,033  -  1,545,339 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.6 Credit quality (continued) 

▪ Loans and advances to customers - wholesale lending 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI   

  
12 months 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

31 December 2021           
Low to fair risk  2,989,024  -  -  -  2,989,024 
Standard monitoring  3,931,402  -  -  -  3,931,402 
Watch  -  1,986,748  -  -  1,986,748 
Substandard  -  -  240,335  -  240,335 
Doubtful  -  -  896,344  -  986,344 
Impaired  -  -  955,961  -  955,961 
Gross carrying amounts  6,920,426  1,986,748  2,092,640  -  10,999,814 
ECL allowance  (53,295)  (113,247)  (896,091)  -  (1,062,633) 
Carrying amount  6,867,131  1,873,501  1,196,549  -  9,937,181 

           
31 December 2020           
Low to fair risk  1,766,802  -  -  -  1,766,802 
Standard monitoring  3,604,063  -  -  -  3,604,063 
Watch  -  1,942,183  -  -  1,942,183 
Substandard  -  -  701,463  -  701,463 
Doubtful  -  -  74,295  -  74,295 
Impaired  -  -  948,987  -  948,987 
Gross carrying amounts  5,370,865  1,942,183  1,724,745  -  9,037,793 
ECL allowance  (28,041)  (120,540)  (656,192)  -  (804,773) 
Carrying amount  5,342,824  1,821,643  1,068,553  -  8,233,020 

 
▪ Islamic financing and investing assets - wholesale lending 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI   

  
12 months 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

31 December 2021           
Low to fair risk  63,628  -  -  -  63,628 
Standard monitoring  372,541  -  -  -  372,541 
Watch  -  191,301  -  -  191,301 
Gross carrying amounts  436,169  191,301  -  -  627,470 
ECL allowance  (3,960)  (2,087)  -  -  (6,047) 
Carrying amount  432,209  189,214  -  -  621,423 

           
31 December 2020           
Low to fair risk  79,907  -  -  -  79,907 
Standard monitoring  516,400  -  -  -  516,400 
Gross carrying amounts  596,307  -  -  -  596,307 
ECL allowance  (2,822)  -  -  -  (2,822) 
Carrying amount  593,485  -  -  -  593,485 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.6 Credit quality (continued) 

▪ Receivables and other assets 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI   

  
12 months 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

31 December 2021           
Low to fair risk  2,559,738    -  -  2,559,738 
Standard monitoring  634,196    -  -  634,196 
Watch    44,551  -  -  44,551 
Gross carrying amounts  3,193,934  44,551  -  -  3,238,485 
ECL allowance  (3,131)  (1,476)      (4,607) 
Carrying amount  3,190,803  43,075  -  -  3,233,878 

           
31 December 2020           
Low to fair risk  1,499,818  -  -  -  1,499,818 
Standard monitoring  966,034  -  -  -  966,034 
Watch  -  2,651  -  -  2,651 
Gross carrying amounts  2,465,852  2,651  -  -  2,468,503 
ECL allowance  (2,328)  (67)      (2,395) 
Carrying amount  2,463,524  2,584  -  -  2,466,108 

 
▪ Investment securities measured at amortised cost 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI   

  
12 months 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

31 December 2021           
Low to fair risk  797,865  -  -  -  797,865 
Standard monitoring  540,249  -  -  -  540,249 
Gross carrying amounts  1,338,114  -  -  -  1,338,114 
ECL allowance  (4,338)  -  -  -  (4,338) 
Carrying amount  1,333,776  -  -  -  1,333,776 

           
31 December 2020           
Low to fair risk  1,005,343  -  -  -  1,005,343 
Standard monitoring  531,735  -  -  -  531,735 
Gross carrying amounts  1,537,078  -  -  -  1,537,078 
ECL allowance  (3,002)  -  -  -  (3,002) 
Carrying amount  1,534,076  -  -  -  1,534,076 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.6 Credit quality (continued) 

▪ Loan commitments, letters of credit and financial guarantee contracts 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI   

  
12 months 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

31 December 2021           
Low to fair risk  1,863,354  -  -  -  1,863,354 
Standard monitoring  1,853,678  -  -  -  1,853,678 
Watch  -  435,406  -  -  435,406 
Substandard  -  -  15,851  -  15,851 
Doubtful  -  -  256  -  256 
Impaired  -  -  2  -  2 
Gross carrying amounts  3,717,032  435,406  16,109  -  4,168,547 
ECL allowance  (12,874)  (11,989)  (7,001)  -  (31,864) 
Net exposure  3,704,158  423,417  9,108  -  4,136,683 

           
31 December 2020           
Low to fair risk  2,182,538  -  -  -  2,182,538 
Standard monitoring  2,505,566  -  -  -  2,505,566 
Watch  -  192,273  -  -  192,273 
Substandard  -  -  3,780  -  3,780 
Doubtful  -  -  600  -  600 
Impaired  -  -  21,188  -  21,188 
Gross carrying amounts  4,688,104  192,273  25,568  -  4,905,945 
ECL allowance  (12,210)  (4,421)  (4,988)  -  (21,619) 
Net exposure  4,675,894  187,852  20,580  -  4,884,326 

 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets at fair value (not subject to impairment) as disclosed in note 

38 best represents the assets’ maximum exposure to credit risk. 

Expected credit loss allowance 

This table summarises the ECL allowance/impairment allowance at the end of reporting period by class of financial 

asset. 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Deposits and balances due from banks   1,143  98 
Loans and advances to customers - retail lending   47,002  71,077 
Loans and advances to customers - wholesale lending   1,062,633  804,773 
Islamic financing and investing assets - wholesale lending   6,047  2,822 
Receivables and other assets   4,607  2,395 
Other financial assets measured at amortised cost   4,338  3,002 
Contingencies and commitments   31,864  21,619 
   1,157,634  905,786 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.6 Credit quality (continued) 

The tables below analyse the movement of the ECL allowance during the year per class of financial assets. 

▪ Deposits and balances due from banks 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI   

  
12 months 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
           

As at 1 January 2021  98  -  -  -  98 
Change in credit risk  1,045  -  -  -  1,045 
As at 31 December 2021  1,143  -  -  -  1,143 

           
As at 1 January 2020  -  -  -  -  - 
Financial assets derecognised  98  -  -  -  98 
As at 31 December 2020  98  -  -  -  98 

 
▪ Loans and advances to customers - retail lending 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI   

  
12 months 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

           
As at 1 January 2021  9,041  41,263  20,773  -  71,077 
Transfer to stage 1  19,624  (19,624)  -  -  - 
Transfer to stage 2  (396)  2,767  (2,371)  -  - 
Transfer to stage 3  (110)  (1,638)  1,748  -  - 
Change in credit risk  (16,362)  2,715  9,250  -  (4,397) 
Write-offs  (159)  (8,333)  (8,705)  -  (17,197) 
New financial assets recognised  486  368  124  -  978 
Financial assets derecognised  (1,330)  (1,956)  (173)  -  (3,459) 
As at 31 December 2021  10,794  15,562  20,646  -  47,002 

           
As at 1 January 2020  13,091  19,405  34,148  -  66,644 
Transfer to stage 1  3,221  (3,136)  (85)  -  - 
Transfer to stage 2  (4,857)  11,176  (6,319)  -  - 
Transfer to stage 3  (361)  (1,644)  2,005  -  - 
Change in credit risk  (202)  19,269  10,009  -  29,076 
Write-offs  (410)  (4,946)  (18,735)  -  (24,091) 
New financial assets recognised  82  1,385  -  -  1,467 
Financial assets derecognised  (1,523)  (246)  (250)  -  (2,019) 
As at 31 December 2020  9,041  41,263  20,773  -  71,077 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.6 Credit quality (continued) 

▪ Loans and advances to customers - wholesale lending 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI   

  
12 months 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

           
As at 1 January 2021  28,041  120,540  656,192  -  804,773 
Transfer to stage 1  3,428  (3,428)  -  -  - 
Transfer to stage 2  (2,064)  2,064  -  -  - 
Transfer to stage 3  (59)  (17,780)  17,839  -  - 
Change in credit risk  7,097  16,412  219,678  -  243,187 
Write-offs  -  -  -  -  - 
New financial assets recognised  22,012  1,429  5,744  -  29,185 
Financial assets derecognised  (5,160)  (5,990)  (3,362)  -  (14,512) 
As at 31 December 2021  53,295  113,247  896,091  -  1,062,633 

           
As at 1 January 2020  24,927  91,888  623,306  -  740,121 
Transfer to stage 1  7,834  (7,834)  -  -  - 
Transfer to stage 2  (4,825)  20,409  (15,584)  -  - 
Transfer to stage 3  (237)  (10,234)  10,471  -  - 
Change in credit risk  1,925  28,092  352,421  -  382,438 
Write-offs  -  (824)  (314,292)  -  (315,116) 
New financial assets recognized  120  -  -  -  120 
Financial assets derecognized  (1,703)  (957)  (130)  -  (2,790) 
As at 31 December 2020  28,041  120,540  656,192  -  804,773 

 
▪ Islamic financing and investing assets - wholesale lending 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI   

  
12 months 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

           
As at 1 January 2021  2,822  -  -  -  2,822 
Transfer to stage 1  (200)  200  -  -  - 
Change in credit risk  1,126  1,887  -  -  3,013 
New financial assets recognized  215        215 
Write-offs    -  -  -   
Financial assets derecognised  (3)  -  -  -  (3) 
As at 31 December 2021  3,960  2,087  -  -  6,047 

           
As at 1 January 2020  2,726  -  -  -  2,726 
Change in credit risk  (691)  -  -  -  (691) 
Write-offs  971  -  -  -  971 
Financial assets derecognised  (184)  -  -  -  (184) 
As at 31 December 2020  2,822  -  -  -  2,822 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.6 Credit quality (continued) 

▪ Receivables and other assets 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI   

  
12 months 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

           
As at 1 January 2021  2,328  67  -  -  2,395 
Transfer to stage 1  -  -  -  -   
Transfer to stage 2  -  -  -  -   
Change in credit risk  956  179  -  -  1,135 
New financial assets recognized  2,134  1,297  -  -  3,431 
Financial assets derecognised  (2,287)  (67)  -  -  (2,354) 
As at 31 December 2021  3,131  1,476  -  -  4,607 

           
As at 1 January 2020  2,963  17  -  -  2,980 
Transfer to stage 1  8  (8)  -  -  - 
Transfer to stage 2  (256)  256  -  -  - 
Change in credit risk  (389)  (198)  -  -  (587) 
New financial assets recognized  2  -  -  -  2 
As at 31 December 2020  2,328  67  -  -  2,395 

 
▪ Investment securities measured at amortised cost 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI   

  
12 months 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
           

As at 1 January 2021  3,002  -  -  -  3,002 
Change in credit risk  1,479  -  -  -  1,479 
New financial assets recognised  622  -  -  -  622 
Financial assets derecognised  (765)  -  -  -  (765) 
As at 31 December 2021  4,338  -  -  -  4,338 

           
           

As at 1 January 2020  2,937  -  -  -  2,937 
Change in credit risk  371  -  -  -  371 
New financial assets recognised  310  -  -  -  310 
Financial assets derecognised  (616)  -  -  -  (616) 
As at 31 December 2020  3,002  -  -  -  3,002 

 

  



 

 

76 Commercial Bank International P.S.C. 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  

39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.6 Credit quality (continued) 

▪ Loan commitments, letters of credit and financial guarantee contracts 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI   

  
12 months 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  
Life time 

ECL  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

           
As at 1 January 2021  12,210  4,421  4,988  -  21,619 
Transfer to stage 1  234  (234)       
Transfer to stage 2  (2,230)  2,247  (17)  -  - 
Transfer to stage 3  (3)  (309)  312  -  - 
Change in credit risk  2,012  6,296  1,400  -  9,708 
New financial guarantees and 

commitments recognised  3,820  72  318  -  4,210 
Financial guarantees and commitments 

derecognized  (3,169)  (504)    -  (3,673) 
As at 31 December 2021  12,874  11,989  7,001  -  31,864 

           
As at 1 January 2020  12,923  6,679  4,479  -  24,081 
Transfer to stage 1  557  (557)  -  -  - 
Transfer to stage 2  (172)  177  (5)  -  - 
Transfer to stage 3  (230)  (142)  372  -  - 
Change in credit risk  (1,075)  (1,735)  145  -  (2,665) 
New financial guarantees and 

commitments recognised  696  -  -  -  696 
Financial guarantees and commitments 

derecognized  (489)  (1)  (3)  -  (493) 
As at 31 December 2020  12,210  4,421  4,988  -  21,619 

 
More information about the significant changes in the gross carrying amount of financial assets during the period 

that contributed to changes in the loss allowance, is provided in the table below: 

▪ Balances with the Central Banks 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
           

As at 1 January 2021  1,445,477  -  -  -  1,445,477 
Change in exposure  1,799,119  -  -  -  1,799,119 
As at 31 December 2021  3,244,596  -  -  -  3,244,596 

           
           

As at 1 January 2020  2,327,982  -  -  -  2,327,982 
Change in exposure  (882,505)  -  -  -  (882,505) 
As at 31 December 2020  1,445,477  -  -  -  1,445,477 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.6 Credit quality (continued) 

▪ Deposits and balances due from banks 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
           

As at 1 January 2021  79,961  -  -  -  79,961 
Change in exposure  19,024  -  -  -  19,024 
New financial assets recognized  -  -  -  -  - 
Financial assets derecognised  -  -  -  -  - 
As at 31 December 2021  98,985  -  -  -  98,985 

           
           

As at 1 January 2020  190,313  -  -  -  190,313 
Change in exposure  (112,928)  -  -  -  (112,928) 
New financial assets recognized  5,849  -  -  -  5,849 
Financial assets derecognised  (3,273)  -  -  -  (3,273) 
As at 31 December 2020  79,961  -  -  -  79,961 

 
▪ Loans and advances to customers - retail lending 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

           
As at 1 January 2021  810,313  702,297  103,806  -  1,616,416 
Transfer to stage 1  426,989  (426,989)  -  -  - 
Transfer to stage 2  (15,443)  24,426  (8,983)  -  - 
Transfer to stage 3  (8,496)  (27,056)  35,552  -  - 
Change in exposure  (111,092)  (18,196)  (3,029)  -  (132,317) 
Write-offs  (3,866)  (38,877)  (18,914)  -  (61,657) 
New financial assets recognised  79,637  3,883  260  -  83,780 
Financial assets derecognised  (117,152)  (120,862)  (1,039)  -  (239,053) 
As at 31 December 2021  1,060,890  98,626  107,653  -  1,267,169 

           
As at 1 January 2020  1,831,549  175,602  101,390  -  2,108,541 
Transfer to stage 1  35,499  (35,314)  (185)  -  - 
Transfer to stage 2  (659,321)  674,897  (15,576)  -  - 
Transfer to stage 3  (43,195)  (20,967)  64,162  -  - 
Change in exposure  (164,452)  (73,905)  (3,966)  -  (242,323) 
Write-offs  (10,664)  (17,310)  (41,578)  -  (69,552) 
New financial assets recognised  9,630  11,674  -  -  21,304 
Financial assets derecognised  (188,733)  (12,380)  (441)  -  (201,554) 
As at 31 December 2020  810,313  702,297  103,806  -  1,616,416 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.6 Credit quality (continued) 

▪ Loans and advances to customers - wholesale lending 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

           
As at 1 January 2021  5,370,865  1,942,183  1,724,745  -  9,037,793 
Transfer to stage 1  185,826  (185,826)  -  -  - 
Transfer to stage 2  (832,465)  832,465  -  -  - 
Transfer to stage 3  (6,537)  (318,390)  324,927  -  - 
Change in exposure  120,010  (115,617)  41,311  -  45,704 
Write-offs  -  -    -  - 
New financial assets recognised  2,698,044  31,276  7,235  -  2,736,555 
Financial assets derecognised  (615,317)  (199,343)  (5,578)  -  (820,238) 
As at 31 December 2021  6,920,426  1,986,748  2,092,640  -  10,999,814 

           
As at 1 January 2020  6,842,027  1,880,300  1,500,222  -  10,222,549 
Transfer to stage 1  317,933  (317,933)  -  -  - 
Transfer to stage 2  (708,041)  774,351  (66,310)  -  - 
Transfer to stage 3  (284,649)  (118,520)  403,169  -  - 
Change in exposure  74,584  (229,995)  203,874  -  48,463 
Write-offs  -  (4,285)  (316,210)  -  (320,495) 
New financial assets recognised  42,837  -  -  -  42,837 
Financial assets derecognised  (913,826)  (41,735)  -  -  (955,561) 
As at 31 December 2020  5,370,865  1,942,183  1,724,745  -  9,037,793 

 
▪ Islamic financing and investing assets - wholesale lending 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

           
As at 1 January 2021  596,307  -  -  -  596,307 
Transfer to stage 2  (179,254)  179,254  -  -   
Change in exposure  8,945  12,047  -  -  20,992 
New financial assets recognized  32,917  -  -  -  32,917 
Financial assets derecognised  (22,746)  -  -  -  (22,746) 
As at 31 December 2021  436,169  191,301  -  -  627,470 

           
As at 1 January 2020  243,821  -  -  -  243,821 
Change in exposure  36,715  -  -  -  36,715 
New financial assets recognized  323,207  -  -  -  323,207 
Financial assets derecognised  (7,436)  -  -  -  (7,436) 
As at 31 December 2020  596,307  -  -  -  596,307 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.6 Credit quality (continued) 

▪ Receivables and other assets 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

           
As at 1 January 2021  2,465,852  2,651  -  -  2,468,503 
Transfer to stage 1  -    -  -  - 
Transfer to stage 2      -  -   
Change in exposure  5,172    -  -  5,172 
New financial assets recognized  2,964,999  44,551      3,009,550 
Financial assets derecognized  (2,242,089)  (2,653)  -  -  (2,244,742) 
As at 31 December 2021  3,193,934  44,549  -  -  3,238,483 

           
As at 1 January 2020  2,178,467  1,898  -  -  2,180,365 
Transfer to stage 1  867  (867)  -  -  - 
Transfer to stage 2  (30,215)  30,215  -  -  - 
Change in exposure  548,297  (28,595)  -  -  519,702 
Financial assets derecognised  (231,564)  -  -  -  (231,564) 
As at 31 December 220  2,465,852  2,651  -  -  2,468,503 

 
▪ Investment securities measured at amortised cost 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

           
As at 1 January 2021  1,537,078  -  -  -  1,537,078 
Change in exposure  (2,829)  -  -  -  (2,829) 
New financial assets recognised  179,978  -  -  -  179,978 
Financial assets derecognised  (376,113)  -  -  -  (376,113) 
As at 31 December 2021  1,338,114  -  -  -  1,338,114 

           
As at 1 January 2020  1,240,351  -  -  -  1,240,351 
Change in exposure  (79,312)  -  -  -  (79,312) 
New financial assets recognised  576,777  -  -  -  576,777 
Financial assets derecognised  (200,738)  -  -  -  (200,738) 
As at 31 December 2020  1,537,078  -  -  -  1,537,078 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.6 Credit quality (continued) 

▪ Loan commitments, letters of credit and financial guarantee contracts 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

           
As at 1 January 2021  4,688,104  192,273  25,568  -  4,905,945 
Transfer to stage 1  31,113  (31,113)    -  - 
Transfer to stage 2  (381,177)  381,553  (376)  -  - 
Transfer to stage 3  (209)  (9,393)  9,602  -  - 
Change in exposure  (452,326)  (42,994)  (64)  -  (495,384) 
New financial guarantees and 

commitments recognised  1,188,519  7,923  69  -  1,196,511 
Financial guarantees and commitments 

derecognised  (1,356,992)  (62,843)  (18,690)  -   (1,438,525) 
As at 31 December 2021  3,717,032  435,406  16,109  -  4,168,547 

           
As at 1 January 2020  5,314,114  327,833  19,200  -  5,661,147 
Transfer to stage 1  153,150  (153,131)  (19)  -  - 
Transfer to stage 2  (58,337)  59,236  (899)  -  - 
Transfer to stage 3  (42,295)  (12,536)  54,831  -  - 
Change in exposure  (914,684)  (28,520)  (47,525)  -  (990,729) 
New financial guarantees and 

commitments recognised  237,977  -  -  -  237,977 
Financial guarantees and commitments 

derecognised  (1,821)  (609)  (20)  -  (2,450) 
As at 31 December 2020   4,688,104  192,273  25,568  -  4,905,945 

 
As discussed above in the significant increase in credit risk section, under the Group’s monitoring procedures a 

significant increase in credit risk is identified before the exposure has defaulted, and at the latest when the exposure 

becomes 30 days past due. This is the case mainly for loans and advances to customers and Islamic financing and 

investing assets and more specifically for retail lending exposures because for wholesale lending and other 

exposures there is more borrower specific information available which is used to identify significant increase in 

credit risk. The table below provides an analysis of the gross carrying amount of loans and advances to customers 

and Islamic financing and investing assets by risk grade and past due status. 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.6 Credit quality (continued) 

▪ Past due but not impaired Loans and advances to 
customers  

Islamic financing and 
investing assets 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
        
Low to fair risk        
Past due up to 30 days 23,018  22,525  -  - 
        
Standard monitoring        
Past due up to 30 days 511,448  254,271  -  - 
Past due 31 - 60 days   -  -  - 
        
Watch        
Past due up to 30 days 60,049  164,457  -  - 
Past due 31 - 60 days 124,907  100,349  -  - 
Past due 61 - 90 days 74,864  288,427  -  - 
Past due 91 - 180 days -  4,237  -  - 
Past due of more than 180 days 583,268  256,651  -  - 
 1,377,554  1,090,917  -  - 

 

▪ Neither past due nor impaired Loans and advances to 
customers  

Islamic financing and 
investing assets 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
        
Low to fair risk 3,974,368  2,526,582  62,702  79,908 
Standard monitoring 3,483,744  3,380,872  376,682  516,400 
Watch 1,724,416  1,830,358  188,086  - 
 9,182,528  7,737,812  627,470  596,308 

 
Modified financial assets 

As a result of the Group’s forbearance activities financial assets might be modified. The following tables refer to 

modified financial assets where modification does not result in derecognition. 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Financial assets (with ECL allowance based on lifetime ECL) modified 

during the period      
Gross carrying amount before modification   536,266  780,587 
ECL allowance before modification   (10,863)  (56,179) 
Net amortised cost before modification   525,403  724,408 
Net modification gain/(loss)   -  - 
Net amortised cost after modification   525,403  724,408 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.6 Credit quality (continued) 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Financial assets modified since initial recognition at a time when ECL 

allowance was based on lifetime ECL      
Gross carrying amount of financial assets for which loss allowance has 

changed in the period from lifessstime to 12-month ECL cost after 
modification   -  - 

 
39.1.7 Identification of SICR event 

As explained in note 40.1.2, if there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group measures 

the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL i.e. financial assets are migrated from stage 1 to 

stage 2. A SICR event occurs when there has been a significant increase in the risk of a default occurring, over the 

expected life of a financial instrument. The Group continuously reviews its portfolio for other indicators of 

unlikeliness to meet its financial obligations, any financial deterioration beyond temporary liquidity stress and 

whether it is likely to be short term, because of Covid-19, or longer term.  

Reasonableness of Forward-Looking Information and probability weights  

As noted in the CBUAE guidance on Treatment of IFRS9 Expected Credit Loss in the context of the Covid-19 crisis, 

dated 27 October 2020, Group has re-introduced the macroeconomic scenarios in ECL with an effective date of 30 

September 2020. As explained in note 39.1.3, through robust modelling technique, the Group has identified key 

macroeconomic variables influencing credit risk of each portfolio. Forecasts for these economic variables (for both 

baseline and adverse economic scenario) are obtained from governmental bodies and monetary authorities such as 

the CBUAE, IMF, and World Bank, which reflect the current and forecasted economic impacts in the fallout of Covid. 

In line with the Joint Guidance, the Group has applied judgmental overlays on the forecasts to commensurate with 

economic impact observed so far, with the near-term outlook and with the ongoing nature of the pandemic. 

Additionally, Expert judgmental overlay has been exercised on wholesale portfolio in line with the CBUAE guidance 

to incorporate uncertainty in measuring ECL. 

The bank has not extended any TESS relief to customer as at 31 December 2021. 

39.1.8 Collateral held as security and other credit enhancements 

The Group holds collateral or other credit enhancements to mitigate credit risk associated with financial assets. The 

Group holds financial instruments of AED 5,241 million (2020: AED 5,206 million) for which no loss allowance is 

recognised because of collateral at the end of the reporting period. The estimated value of collaterals held at end 

of the reporting period is AED 10,308 million (2020: AED 10,145 million). This value of the collateral is only 

considered to the extent that mitigates the credit risk. There was no change in the Group’s collateral policy during 

the year. The main types of collateral and the types of assets these are associated with are listed below. 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.8 Collateral held as security and other credit enhancements (continued) 

Derivatives 

The Group enters into derivatives bilaterally under International Swaps and Derivative Association (ISDA) master 

netting agreements.  ISDA master netting agreements give either party the legal right of offset on termination of 

the contract or on default of the other party. No financial instruments subject to master netting agreements are 

setoff in the statement of financial position. The Group executes a credit support annex in conjunction with each 

ISDA agreement, which requires the Group and each counterparty to post collateral to mitigate credit risk. Collateral 

is also posted daily in respect of derivatives transacted. The collateral posted with regards to open derivatives is 

cash or marketable securities. 

Reverse sale and repurchase agreements (Reverse REPO) 

Reverse sale and repurchase agreement (Reverse REPO) lending are collateralised by marketable securities. These 

lending agreements require the Group and each counterparty to post collateral to mitigate credit risk. Collateral is 

also posted daily in respect of shortfall in value of collaterals. The collateral posted with regards to Reverse REPO is 

cash or marketable securities. 

Mortgage lending 

The Group holds residential properties as collateral for the mortgage loans it grants to its customers. The Group 

monitors its exposure to retail mortgage lending using the LTV ratio, which is calculated as the ratio of the gross 

amount of the loan, or the amount committed for loan commitments, to the value of the collateral. The valuation 

of the collateral excludes any adjustments for obtaining and selling the collateral. At 31 December 2021 the net 

carrying amount of credit impaired mortgage lending was AED 87.1 million (2020: AED 69.0 million) and the value 

of the respective collateral was AED 128.4 million (2020: AED 83.2 million). 

Personal lending  

The Group’s personal lending portfolio consists of unsecured loans and credit cards. 

Wholesale lending 

The Group requests collateral (including properties, equity shares and cash margins) and guarantees for wholesale 

lending (including loan commitments and financial guarantee contract). The most relevant indicator of wholesale 

customers’ creditworthiness is an analysis of their financial performance and their liquidity, leverage, management 

effectiveness and growth ratios. For this reason, the valuation of collateral held against wholesale lending is not 

routinely updated. The valuation of such collateral is updated if the loan is put on “watch-list” and is therefore 

monitored more closely. 

For credit-impaired loans the Group obtains appraisals of collateral to inform its credit risk management actions. At 

31 December 2021 the net carrying amount of credit impaired loans and advances to wholesale customers was AED 

2,123.1 million (2020: AED 1,747.5 million) and the value of the respective collateral was AED 2,050.1 million (2020: 

AED 1,086.3 million). 

Investment securities 

The Group holds investment securities measured at amortised cost. The investment securities held by the Group 

are sovereign bonds which are not collateralised. 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.1 Credit risk (continued) 

39.1.8 Collateral held as security and other credit enhancements (continued) 

Assets obtained by taking possession of collateral 

The Group obtained the following financial and non-financial assets during the year by taking possession of collateral 

held as security against loans and advances and held at the year end. The Group’s policy is to realise collateral on a 

timely basis. The Group does not use non-cash collateral for its operations. 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Property   -  258,791 
   -  258,791 

 
39.2 Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group does not have sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as they 

fall due, or will have to do so at an excessive cost. This risk arises from mismatches in the timing of cash flows which 

is inherent in all banking operations and can be affected by a range of Group-specific and market-wide events. 

39.2.1  Management of liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is managed by the Treasury in line with the regulatory and internal policies and guidelines. 

The Group's approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it has adequate funding from diversified sources 

at all times and that it can withstand any major shocks to its liquidity position. Funds are raised using a broad range 

of instruments including customer deposits, money market instruments and capital. The Treasury monitor the 

liquidity profile of financial assets and liabilities and the projected cash flows arising from existing and future 

business. Treasury maintains a portfolio of short-term liquid assets and inter-bank placements to ensure that 

sufficient liquidity is maintained. The daily liquidity position is monitored and regular liquidity stress testing is 

conducted under a variety of scenarios covering both normal and abnormal market conditions. The Group's liquidity 

policy is set by the Board of Directors and is subject to annual review. Adherence to the policies is monitored by the 

Group Risk Management Department and Assets and Liability Committee (ALCO). 

39.2.2  Exposure to liquidity risk 

The key measures used by the Group for measuring liquidity risk are advances to stable resources (which is a 

regulatory measure) as well as the ratio of net liquid assets, i.e., total assets by maturity against total liabilities by 

maturity. 

The Bank performs product-wise behavioural analysis for its financial instruments (including financial guarantee 

contracts) in order to analyse and ascertain appropriate level of liquidity requirements. 

The following table summarises the maturity profile of the cash flows of the Group’s financial assets and financial 

liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on their carrying amounts. The amounts disclosed in the table are 

determined on the basis of their earliest possible contractual maturity.  

Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as if notice were to be given immediately. However, the 

management expects that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date the Group could be 

required to pay and the table does not reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Group’s deposit retention 

history. 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.2 Liquidity risk (continued) 

39.2.2  Exposure to liquidity risk (continued) 

▪ As at 31 December 2021 

 
Less than 3 

months  
3 to 6 

months  
6 to 12 

months  
More than 

1 year  
No fixed 
Maturity  Total 

 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
Non-derivative financial assets 
Cash and balances with 

the Central Banks 3,235,539  67,741  -  -  -  3,303,280 
Deposits and balances 

due from banks 98,985  -  -  -  -  98,985 
Loans and advances to 

customers including 
Islamic financing and 
investing assets 1,645,692  588,675  870,505  7,026,584  2,769,948  12,901,404 

Receivables and other 
assets 671,080  1,164,660  1,402,743  -  -  3,238,483 

Investment securities at 
fair value  -  -  -  -  256,995  256,995 

Investment securities 
measured at amortised 
cost 43,880  -  -  1,294,234  -  1,338,114 

 5,695,176  1,821,076  2,273,248  8,320,818  3,026,943  21,137,263 
Derivative financial assets 812  -  177  15,928  -  16,917 
 5,695,988  1,821,076  2,273,425  8,336,746  3,026,943  21,154,178 

            
Non-derivative financial liabilities 
Balance due to the 

Central Banks 16,182  -  -  -  -  16,182 
Deposits and balances 

due to banks 1,343,339  366,341  97,657  455,317  -  2,262,654 
Customers’ deposits 

including Islamic 
customers’ deposits 5,640,576  2,952,650  3,831,847  149,097  -  12,574,170 

Payables and other 
liabilities 608,344  1,184,909  1,413,900  632  -  3,207,785 

 7,608,441  4,503,900  5,343,404  605,046  -  18,060,791 
Derivative financial 

liabilities 957  -  -  17,019  -  17,976 
Issued financial guarantee 

contacts 1,488,379  408,331  284,560  74,264  -  2,255,534 
Loan commitments 620,310  134,105  291,376  720,987  -  1,766,778 
 9,718,087  5,046,336  5,919,340  1,417,316  -  22,101,079 

Liquidity gap (4,022,099)  (3,225,260)  (3,645,915)  6,919430  3,026,943  (946,901) 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.2 Liquidity risk (continued) 

39.2.2  Exposure to liquidity risk (continued) 

▪ As at 31 December 2020 

 
Less than 3 

months  
3 to 6 

months  
6 to 12 

months  
More than 

1 year  
No fixed 
Maturity  Total 

 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
Non-derivative financial assets 
Cash and balances with 

the Central Banks 1,522,628  -  -  -  -  1,522,628 
Deposits and balances 

due from banks 79,961  -  -  -  -  79,961 
Loans and advances to 

customers including 
Islamic financing and 
investing assets 2,279,348  782,972  866,749  4,816,103  2,505,344  11,250,516 

Receivables and other 
assets 987,112  1,018,472  462,919  -  -  2,468,503 

Investment securities at 
fair value (restated) -  -  -  -  167,735  167,735 

Investment securities 
measured at amortised 
cost 165,198  15,328  195,588  1,160,964  -  1,537,078 

 5,034,247  1,816,772  1,525,256  5,977,067  2,673,079  17,026,421 
Derivative financial assets 33,506  -  -  -  -  33,506 
 5,067,753  1,816,772  1,525,256  5,977,067  2,673,079  17,059,927 

 
Non-derivative financial liabilities 
Balance due to the 

Central Banks 306,048  -  -  -  -  306,048 
Deposits and balances 

due to banks 152,300  367,314  330,584  367,315  75,474  1,292,987 
Customers’ deposits 

including Islamic 
customers’ deposits 1,992,559  2,465,502  2,863,678  85,271  3,074,445  10,481,455 

Payables and other 
liabilities 947,678  1,021,025  466,986  16,885  -  2,452,574 

 3,398,585  3,853,841  3,661,248  469,471  3,149,919  14,533,064 
Derivative financial 

liabilities 35,584  -  -  -  -  35,584 
Issued financial guarantee 

contacts 1,614,988  489,837  266,227  75,418  -  2,446,470 
Loan commitments -  -  1,913,809  269,326  -  2,183,135 
 5,049,157  4,343,678  5,841,284  814,215  3,149,919  19,198,253 

Liquidity gap 18,596  (2,526,906)  (4,316,028)  5,162,852  (476,840)  (2,138,326) 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.2 Liquidity risk (continued) 

The table below presents a maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities. The sum of the balances depicted in 

the maturity analysis do not reconcile with the carrying amount of the liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated 

statement of financial position. This is because the maturity analysis incorporates, on an undiscounted basis, all cash 

flows relating to principal and future interest payments. 

 
Less than 3 

months  
3 to 6 

months  
6 to 12 

months  
More than 

1 year  
No fixed 
Maturity  Total 

 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
31 December 2021 
Non-derivative financial liabilities 
Balance due to the Central 

Bank of the UAE 16,182  -  -  -  -  16,182 
Deposits and balances due 

to banks 1,343,339  366,341  97,657  455,317  -  2,262,654 
Customers’ deposits 

including Islamic 
customers’ deposits 5,640,576  2,952,650  3,831,847  149,097  -  12,574,170 

Payables and other 
liabilities 625,781  1,211,650  1,514,374  12,515  -  3,364,320 

 7,625,878  4,530,641  5,443,878  616,929  -  18,217,326 
Derivative financial 

liabilities 957      17,019  -  17,976 
Issued financial guarantee 

contacts 1,488,379  408,331  284,560  74,264  -  2,255,534 
Loan commitments 620,310  134,105  291,376  720,987  -  1,766,778 
 9,735,524  5,073,077  6,019,814  1,429,199  -  22,257,614 

 
31 December 2020 
Non-derivative financial liabilities 
Balance due to the Central 

Banks 306,048  -  -  -  -  306,048 
Deposits and balances due 

to banks 152,301  370,410  336,433  377,733  75,474  1,312,351 
Customers’ deposits 

including Islamic 
customers’ deposits 1,996,838  2,489,684  2,903,112  89,480  3,074,445  10,553,559 

Payables and other 
liabilities 947,678  1,021,025  466,986  16,885  -  2,452,574 

 3,402,865  3,881,119  3,706,531  484,098  3,149,919  14,624,532 
Derivative financial 

liabilities 35,584  -  -  -  -  35,584 
Issued financial guarantee 

contacts 1,614,988  489,837  266,227  75,418  -  2,446,470 
Loan commitments -  -  1,913,809  269,326  -  2,183,135 
 5,053,437  4,370,956  5,886,567  828,842  3,149,919  19,289,721 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.3 Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices, foreign exchange rates and 

credit spreads will affect the Group’s income and/or the value of the financial instrument. The Group manages its 

market risk in order to achieve an optimum return while maintaining market risk exposure within prudent limits. 

39.3.1  Management of market risk 

The Board of directors has set risk limits based on sensitivity analysis and notional limits which are closely monitored 

by the Risk Management Department, reported frequently to Senior Management and discussed monthly by the 

ALCO. 

The Group separates its exposure to market risk between trading and non-trading portfolios with overall 

responsibility vested in the ALCO. The Risk Management Department is responsible for the development of detailed 

risk management policies and for the day to day review of their implementation subject to the review and approval 

by ALCO. 

39.3.2  Exposure to interest rate risk 

The principal risk to which interest bearing financial instruments are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in 

the future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates. The Group 

manages the risk principally through monitoring interest rate gaps, matching the re-pricing profile of assets and 

liabilities. The ALCO monitors compliance with these limits and is assisted by the Risk Management Department for 

day to day monitoring of activities. The table below analyses the Group’s interest rate risk exposure on financial 

assets and liabilities. The Group’s assets and liabilities are included at carrying amount and categorised by the earlier 

of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates. 

▪ As at 31 December 2021 

  
Less than 3 

months  
3 to 6 

months  
6 to 12 

months  
More than 

1 year  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

Interest sensitive financial assets 
Cash and balances with the Central 

Banks  2,822,127  67,728  -  -  2,889,855 
Deposits and balances due from banks  -  -  -  -  - 
Loans and advances to customers 

including Islamic financing and 
investing assets  7,112,828  1,129,496  -  -  8,242,324 

Investment securities measured at 
amortised cost  39,567  -  -  1,298,547  1,338,114 

  9,974522  1,197,224  -  1,298,547  12,470,293 
Interest sensitive financial liabilities           
Deposits and balances due to banks  1,337,045  367,305  99,172  459,131  2,262,654 
Customers’ deposits including Islamic 

customers’ deposits  3,417,229  2,899,138  3,799,141  144,401  10,259,909 
  4,754,274  3,266,443  3,898,313  603,532  12,522,562 
Effect of derivatives held  (1,064)        (1,064) 
Net interest gap  5,219,184  (2,069,219)  (3,898,313)  690,676  (53,333) 

Impact on profit and loss if interest rates 
had been 200 bps higher  92,340  (26,078)  (20,293)  33,095  79,064 
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.3 Market risk (continued) 

39.3.2  Exposure to interest rate risk (continued) 

▪ As at 31 December 2020 

  
Less than 3 

Months  
3 to 6 

months  
6 to 12 

months  
More than 

1 year  Total 
  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

Interest sensitive financial assets 
Cash and balances with the Central Banks  400,000  -  -  -  400,000 
Deposits and balances due from banks  -  -  -  -  - 
Loans and advances to customers 

including Islamic financing and investing 
assets  5,705,061  905,947  -  -  6,611,008 

Investment securities measured at 
amortised cost  165,198  15,328  195,587  1,160,965  1,537,078 

  6,270,259  921,275  195,587  1,160,965  8,548,086 
Interest sensitive financial liabilities           
Deposits and balances due to banks  (1,292,987)  -  -  -  (1,292,987) 
Customers’ deposits including Islamic 

customers’ deposits  (2,982,342)  (2,415,680)  (2,820,455)  (74,697)  (8,293,174) 
  (4,275,329)  (2,415,680)  (2,820,455)  (74,697)  (9,586,161) 
Effect of derivatives held  (1,312)  -  -  -  (1,312) 
Net interest gap  1,993,618  (1,494,405)  (2,624,868)  1,086,268  (1,039,387) 

Impact on profit and loss if interest rates 
had been 200 bps higher  25,106  (18,834)  (13,664)  43,629  36,237 

 
39.3.3  Exposure to currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange 

rates and arises from financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency. The Group's functional currency is 

the AED. The Board of Directors has set limits on positions by currency. Positions are closely monitored to ensure 

positions are maintained within established limits. At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following 

significant net exposure denominated in foreign currencies: 

 Net spot position  Forward position  Total 
 2021  2020  2021  2020  2021  2020 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

Currency            
USD (360,243)  (185,503)  (79)  (3,145)  (360,322)  (188,648) 
GBP 81  1  -  40  81  41 
JPY 322  90  -  -  322  90 
EUR 169  (948)  751  900  920  (48) 
BHD 159,100  -  -    159,100  - 
Other 1,149  2,096  (670)  70  479  2,166 
 
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% adverse change in the relevant foreign currency position 

against AED both for a long and short position in order to assess the impact of loss on profit and loss.   
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 

39.3 Market risk (continued) 

39.3.3  Exposure to currency risk (continued) 

   2021  2020 
   AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
GBP   8  4 
JPY   32  9 
EUR   92  5 
BHD   15,910  - 
 
There are no exchange rate risks relating to financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in USD, which is 

pegged to the AED. 

39.3.4  Other price risk 

The Group is exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments. Equity investments are held for strategic 

rather than trading purposes. The Group does not actively trade these investments.  

Equity price sensitivity analysis 

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the end of the 

reporting period. 

If equity prices had been 5% higher/lower, profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year would have 

been higher/lower by AED 7.4 million (2020: 6.4) and AED 5.9 million (2020: AED 5.9 million) respectively. 

40. Fair value of financial instruments 

This note provides information about how the Group determines the fair value of various financial assets and 

financial liabilities. 

40.1 Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 

recurring basis 

Some of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting 

period. The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows: 

▪ Fair value of all quoted investments measured at fair value through profit or loss and at fair value through 

other comprehensive income (note 12) are based on quoted bid prices in an active market; 

▪ Fair value of all unquoted equity investments and unquoted investment funds measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income (note 12) is mainly based on market approach based valuation 

technique using price/book value multiple of trading peers and precedent transactions. These price/book 

values multiples and precedent transactions are unobservable inputs. Fair value of investment in MURJAN 

is calculated by taking proportionate share of the fair value of its assets (real estate) and liabilities; and 

▪ Fair value of all derivatives (note 41) is calculated using discounted cash flows. Discounted cash flow 

analysis is performed using the applicable yield curve for the duration of the instruments for non-optional 

derivatives, and option pricing models for optional derivatives. Derivatives are measured using quoted 

rates and yield curves derived from quoted rates matching maturities of the contracts. 
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40. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

40.1 Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 

recurring basis (continued) 

The table below summarises the Group’s financial instruments fair value according to fair value hierarchy: 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 
 2021  2020  2021  2020  2021  2020 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
            

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
Equity shares 15,279  13,752  -  -  92,420  102,478 
Investment funds -  -  -  -  1,391  2,695 
            
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Equity shares -  -  -  -  147,865  129,269 
Positive fair value of 

derivatives financial 
assets -  -  16,915  33,506  -  - 

            
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
Negative fair value of 

derivatives financial 
liabilities -  -  17,976  35,584  -  - 

 
For level 3 fair valuation measured using price/book value multiple, the higher the unobservable input of price/book 

value multiple, the higher is fair value. The price/book value multiple used in valuation ranges between 0.90X to 

0.91X (2019: 0.91X to 0.95X). For level 3 fair valuation of MURJAN measured using proportionate share of the fair 

value of its assets (real estate) and liabilities, the higher the net asset value, the higher is fair value. 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. 

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets 

 2021  2020 
 AED ’000  AED ’000 
   (restated) 
    
Balance at January 1 234,442  116,270 
Total gains/(losses) in profit or loss 18,596  129,269 
Total gains/(losses) in other comprehensive income (10,219)  (11,097) 
Redemption (1,143)  - 
Balance at December 31 241,676  234,442 

 
The financial liabilities subsequently measured at fair value are classified as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. There 

are no financial liabilities classified at fair value as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. 

All gains and losses included in other comprehensive income relate to FVTOCI (quoted investments or unquoted 

investments) held at the end of the period and are reported as changes in ‘Investment revaluation reserve’. 

40.2 Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at amortised cost 

Except as detailed below, the directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recognised at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values. 
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40. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

40.2 Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at amortised cost 

(continued) 

 Carrying amount  Fair value 
 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

        
Investment securities measured at amortised cost 1,333,776  1,534,076  1,352,409  1,574,703 

 
Investment securities measured at amortised cost are quoted instruments and categorised as level 1 in the fair value 

hierarchy. The fair value is determined using unadjusted quoted market prices. 

41. Derivative financial instruments 

Derivative financial instruments are utilised by the Group primarily to satisfy the requirements of its customers and 

are also used to a limited extent to manage the Group's own exposure to currency, interest rate and other market 

risks. The derivatives most frequently used by the Group are as follows: 

Swaps 

Swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. For interest rate swaps, counter-parties 

generally exchange fixed and floating rate interest payments in a single currency without exchanging principal. For 

currency swaps, fixed interest payments and principal are exchanged in different currencies. For cross-currency rate 

swaps, principal, fixed and floating interest payments are exchanged in different currencies. 

Foreign exchange forwards contracts 

Foreign exchange forwards contracts are contractual agreements to either buy or sell a specified currency at a 

specified price and date in the future. Forwards are customised contracts transacted in the over-the counter market. 

The table below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments, which are equivalent 

to the market values, together with the notional amounts. The notional amounts, which provide an indication of the 

volumes of the transactions outstanding at the year end, do not necessarily reflect the amounts of future cash flows 

involved. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at the year end and are indicative 

of neither the market risk nor the credit risk. 

 
Foreign exchange 
forward contracts  Interest rate swaps  Total 

 2021  2020  2021  2020  2021  2020 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
            

Positive fair value 2  1  16,915  33,505  16,917  33,506 

Negative fair value -  3  17,976  35,581  17,976  35,584 

            
Maturity of notional amount 
Upto 3 months 1,587  11,553  -  -  1,587  11,553 
3 to 6 months -  -      6,329  -  6,329  - 
6 to 12 months -  -  239,330  140,000  239,330  140,000 
1 to 5 years -  -  557,140  59,260  557,140  59,260 
More than 5 years -  -  -  309,004  -  309,004 
 1,587  11,553  802,799  508,264  804,386  519,817 
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42. Capital management 

The Group's lead regulator, the Central Bank of the UAE, sets and monitors regulatory capital requirements.  

The Group's objectives when managing capital are:  

▪ To safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to increase returns for shareholders; 

and  

▪ To comply with regulatory capital requirements set by the Central Bank of the UAE.  

In implementing current capital requirements, the Group calculates its capital adequacy ratio in accordance with 

the Basel III guidelines issued by the Central Bank of the UAE. Under these regulations, minimum capital 

requirements are monitored at three levels, namely Common Equity Tier 1 (‘CET1’), Tier 1 (‘T1’) and Total Capital. 

42.1 Regulatory capital 

The Bank calculates its Capital Adequacy Ratio in line with guidelines issued by the Central Bank of the UAE.  

The Group’s regulatory capital is analysed into different tiers: 

▪ Common Equity Tier 1 Capital, which includes Common shares issued by a bank, Share premium resulting 

from the issue of instruments included in CET1, retained earnings, legal reserves, statutory reserves, 

accumulated other comprehensive income and other disclosed reserves, minority interest, which are 

eligible for inclusion in CET1 and regulatory adjustments applied in the calculation of CET1; 

▪ Additional Tier 1 Capital (AT1); 

▪ Tier 1 capital, which is the total of Common equity Tier 1 (CET1) Capital and Additional Tier 1 (AT1) capital; 

▪ Tier 2 capital, which includes general provisions (Collective allowance for impairment subject to a limit of 

1.25% of credit ‘Risk Weighted Assets’ (RWA)), perpetual equity instruments not included in Tier 1 capital 

and Instruments which are eligible for inclusion of Tier 2 e.g. subordinated loan. 

The additional capital buffers (Capital Conservation Buffer (CCB) and Countercyclical Capital Buffer (CCyB) - 

maximum up to 2.5% for each buffer) introduced under Basel III guidelines are over and above the minimum CET1 

requirement of 7%. 

For the purpose of Basel III capital adequacy reporting, only financial subsidiaries are consolidated. Commercial 

subsidiaries are excluded from consolidated reporting. 

The bank’s RWA are weighted as to their relative credit, market, and operational risk. Credit risk includes both on 

and off-balance sheet risks. Market risk is defined as the risk of losses in on and off-balance sheet positions arising 

from movements in market prices and includes interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, equity exposure risk, 

commodity risk, and options risk.  Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed 

internal processes, people or systems, or from external events. The bank is following the standardised measurement 

approach for credit, market and operational risk, as per Basel Requirements.   

The Group has complied with all externally imposed capital requirements throughout the period. 
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42. Capital management (continued) 

42.1 Regulatory capital (continued) 

The Group’s regulatory capital position at the end of reporting period under Basel III is as follows: 

 2021  2020 
 AED ’000  AED ’000 
Capital base    
Share capital 1,737,383  1,737,383 
Statutory reserve 269,376  269,376 
General reserve 3,368  3,368 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (71,772)  (61,915) 
IFRS transitional arrangement: Partial addback of ECL impact to CET1 2,146  46,271 
CBUAE Regulatory deductions: (e.g. amount exceeding Large Exposure threshold) -  - 
Accumulated losses (304,210)  (244,320) 
Non-controlling interests 311  200 
CET1 capital (prior to regulatory deductions) 1,636,602  1,750,363 
Intangible assets (40,177)  (53,382) 
Total CET1 capital 1,596,425  1,696,981 
    
Additional Tier 1 (AT1) Capital 459,125  459,125 
Total AT1 capital 459,125  459,125 
Total Tier 1 Capital 2,055,550  2,156,106 
    
Eligible general provision 175,059  158,761 
Total Tier 2 (T2) Capital 175,059  158,761 
Total capital base 2,230,609  2,314,867 

    
Risk weighted assets    
Credit risk 13,686,012  12,700,872 
Market risk 9,838  8,468 
Operational risk 1,366,301  1,489,725 
Total risk weighted assets 15,062,151  14,199,065 

    
CET1 capital ratio 10.60%  11.95% 
Tier 1 capital ratio 13.65%  15.18% 
Total capital ratio    14.78%  16.30% 
 
42.2 Capital allocation  

The Group also assesses internally its capital requirements taking into consideration its growth requirements and 

business plans and quantifies its regulatory and risk/economic capital requirements within its integrated ICAAP 

Framework. Risks such as interest rate risk on the banking book, concentration risk, stress testing, strategic risk, 

legal and compliance risk, and reputational risk are all part of the ICAAP. The Group also calculates Risk Adjusted 

Return on Capital (RAROC) for credit applications that are priced on a risk-adjusted basis. 

43. Related party transactions 

The Group enters into transactions with companies and entities that fall within the definition of a related party as 

contained in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures. Related parties comprise companies under common ownership and/or 

common management and control, their shareholders and key management personnel. Transactions with associate 

and other related parties are made on substantially the same terms, as those prevailing at the same time for 

comparable transactions with external customers and parties.  
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43. Related party transactions (continued) 

 Terms  2021  2020 
 %  AED ’000  AED ’000 

      
Balances at the end of the reporting period      
Subsidiaries      
Financial guarantee contract   5,009  5,000 
      
Associate      
Loans and advances to customers 3.3  93,130  92,576 
Receivables and other assets -  16,910  16,910 
      
Key management personnel (including directors)      
Loans and advances to customers 2.85 - 3.0  17,245  13,778 
Customers’ deposits 2.5  7,399  7,722 
      
Other related parties      
Loans and advances to customers -    - 
Deposits and balances due from banks -  135  - 
Deposits and balances due to banks -  53,111  31,501 
Customers’ deposits -    - 
Interest rate swaps (Notional amount) -  36,750  36,730 
Tier 1 Capital Securities 6.5  459,125  459,125 
      
Transactions during the reporting period      
Associate      
Interest income   3,100  3,850 
      
Key management personnel (including directors)      
Interest income   617  519 
Interest expense   122  117 
Directors’ expenses   81  233 
Compensation of key management personnel (i)   17,785  21,166 
      
Other related parties      
Interest income   -  - 
Interest expense   -  - 
Interest paid on Tier 1 Capital Securities   -  - 
 
(i) These include long-term benefits amounting to AED 0.75 million (2020: AED 1.7 million) and termination benefits 

of Nil million (2020: Nil million). 

44. Operating segments  

Operating Segments are identified on the basis of internal reports about the components of the Group that are 

regularly reviewed by the Group’s CEO in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance. 

The Group’s reportable segments under IFRS 8 are therefore as follows: 

▪ Wholesale banking; 

▪ Retail banking; 

▪ Treasury; 

▪ Real estate; 

▪ Other 
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44. Operating segments (continued) 

The segmental information provided to the Group’s CEO for the reportable segments for the years ended  

31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 were as follows: 

 
Wholesale 

banking  
Retail 

banking  Treasury  
Real 

estate  Other      Total 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

            
Year ended 31 December 2021            
Net interest income from external 
customers 271,402  55,160  50,643    (1,130)  376,075 
Inter-segmental net interest income (42,523)  17,125  47,844  (6,909)  (15,537)  - 
Fee and commission income 118,933  17,013  18      135,964 
Fee and commission expense (1,426)  (12,964)  (421)    (9)  (14,820) 
Other operating income, net 73,750  2,056  4,492  2,156  50,976  133,430 
Impairment losses and provisions, 

net (178,968)  (22,232)  1,971  1,674  98  (197,457) 
General and administrative expenses 
excluding depreciation and 
amortisation (162,454)  (82,243)  (17,252)  (1,924)  3,270  (260,603) 
Depreciation and amortisation (17,467)  (19,692)  (2,051)  (2,824)    (42,034) 
Profit/(loss) for the period 61,247  (45,777)  85,244  (7,827)  37,668  130,555 

            
As at 31 December 2021            
Assets 13,841,347  1,220,166  4,859,512  251,535  601,528  20,774,088 

Liabilities 13,728,316  1,859,779  2,296,812  394  273,894  18,159,195 

 
Non-current asset held for sale and associated liabilities are presented in ‘Wholesale banking’ segment. 
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44. Operating segments (continued) 

 
Wholesale 

Banking  
Retail 

banking  Treasury  
Real 

estate  Other  Total 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

            
Year ended 31 December 2020 
Net interest income from 

external customers 284,585  70,344  63,718  -  (1,045)  417,602 
Inter-segmental net 

interest income (5,383)  21,125  5,462  (6,936)  (14,268)  - 
Fee and commission 

income 136,638  24,641  32  -  -  161,311 
Fee and commission 

expense (1,908)  (12,646)  (817)  -  (9)  (15,380) 
Other operating income, 

net 39,075  3,457  3,482  130,161  415  176,590 
Impairment losses and 

provisions, net (366,792)  (57,010)  1,045  (14,074)  (170)  (437,001) 
General and administrative 

expenses excluding 
depreciation and 
amortisation (127,150)  (89,709)  (13,203)  (1,238)  7,464  (223,836) 

Depreciation and 
amortisation (21,399)  (13,873)  (1,886)  (3,126)  -  (40,284) 

Share of results of 
associates (5,324)  -  -  -  -  (5,324) 

Loss from discontinued 
operations -  -  -  -  -  - 

Profit/(loss) for the period (67,658)  (53,671)  57,833  104,787  (7,613)  33,678 

            
As at 31 December 2020 (restated) 
Assets 11,151,704  1,545,339  3,208,539  397,268  825,679  17,128,529 

Liabilities 10,592,572  2,166,200  1,634,619  480  244,144  14,638,015 

 
Non-current asset held for sale and associated liabilities are presented in ‘Wholesale banking’ segment. The Group 

conducted all of its operation in the UAE, there is no operation outside the UAE apart from non-current asset held 

for sale and associated liabilities.  

45. Transfer of financial assets 

The Group enters into transactions resulting in transfers of financial assets. As explained in note 3.28.10, a transfer 

of a financial asset may result in derecognition of the asset in its entirety, recognition of the Group’s retained interest 

in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay, or continued recognition of the financial asset 

in its entirety and recognition of a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 

Transfers of financial assets that are not derecognised in their entirety 

When the transfer does not result in derecognition, it is viewed as a secured financing transaction, with any 

consideration received resulting in a corresponding liability. The Group is not entitled to use these financial assets 

for any other purposes. The most common transactions under which the Group has continued involvement of the 

transferred assets are: 

▪ Sale and repurchase agreements: under these agreements the Group may sell securities subject to a 

commitment to repurchase them. The securities are retained on the balance sheet as the Group retains 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. The consideration received is accounted for as a financial 

liability at amortised cost. 
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45. Transfer of financial assets (continued) 

 
Carrying amount  Fair value 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
        
Assets transferred 511,873  342,939  543,610  364,931 
Associated liabilities 381,257  305,000  381,257  305,000 
Net position 130,616  37,939  162,353  59,931 

 
46. Restatement  

During 2018, the Group acquired, by means of settlement of a debt by a customer, ACDL, an investment vehicle 
which owns 80% of issued share capital of ACADL, exclusively with a view of subsequent disposal and classified the 
investment as ‘non-current asset held for sale’ and ‘Liabilities associated with non-current asset held for sale’ under 
IFRS 5. However, the disposal of the investment did not happen as anticipated. During the period, the Group 
reassessed control over ACADL and determined that it does not control ACADL (see note 26.1.1) and consequently 
concluded that the investment by ACDL in ACADL is a financials asset within the scope of IFRS 9. As per IFRS 5, such 
financial assets are outside the scope of the standard and should be accounted for under IFRS 9. 

The Group has applied change in classification of the financial asset using the full retrospective approach, with 
restatement of the comparative information. Additional critical judgement in applying the Group’s accounting 
policies and financial impact of change in restatement is described below. 

46.1 Critical judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies 

46.1.1 Control assessment of ACDL over ACADL 

The Group has an 80% interest in the share capital of ACADL. When the Group performed its control assessment, it 
has determined that it is unable to direct the relevant activities of the entity and therefore does not control the 
entity.  

ACADL holds land in Antigua and in accordance with an agreement with the Government of Antigua and Barbuda is 
required to commence development of this land prior to April 2023. The Group is unable to comply with the 
requirements of this agreement because of certain restrictions contained in the UAE Banking Regulations preventing 
it from developing this land. Therefore, the Group has determined that it is unable to direct the relevant activities 
of ACADL and therefore does not control the entity. The Group has classified its investment in ACADL as a financial 
asset in accordance with IFRS 9. 
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46. Restatement (continued) 

46.2 Financial impact of restatement 

The table below shows the amount of adjustment for each financial statement line item affected by restatement for 
prior periods. 

   
As previously 

reported  Restatement  As restated 
   AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 

As at 1 January 2020        
Impact on assets, liabilities and equity         
Investment securities measured at fair value   50,286  80,459  130,745 
Non-current asset held for sale   93,782  (93,782)  - 

Net impact on total assets   18,607,308  (13,323)  18,593,985 

        
Liabilities associated with non-current asset held for sale   13,323  (13,323)  - 

Net impact on total liabilities   16,135,518  (13,323)  16,122,195 

        
Reserves   481,884  (2,218)  479,666 
Accumulated losses   (206,914)  2,218  (204,696) 

Net impact on total equity   2,490,514  -  2,490,514 

 

As at 31 December 2020        
Impact on assets, liabilities and equity         
Investment securities measured at fair value   167,735  80,459  248,194 
Non-current asset held for sale   92,665  (92,665)  - 

Net impact on total assets   17,140,735  (12,206)  17,128,529 

        
Liabilities associated with non-current asset held for sale   12,206  (12,206)  - 

Net impact on total liabilities   14,650,221  (12,206)  14,638,015 

        
Reserves   424,774  (2,218)  422,556 
Accumulated losses   (192,094)  2,218  (189,876) 

Net impact on total equity   2,471,790  -  2,471,790 

 
There is no impact of restatement on income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of cash 

flows and earnings per share. 

47. Net gain from derecognition of financial asset measured at amortised cost 

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group sold certain financial assets measured at amortised cost. The 

table below summarises the carrying amount of derecognised financial assets measured at amortised cost and the 

gain/(loss) on derecognition. 

 Carrying amount  
Gain/(loss) from 

derecognition 
 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000 
        

Loans and advances to customers 69,623  -  58,864  - 
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48. Impact of the initial application of Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 

In the current year, the Group adopted the Phase 2 amendments Interest Rate Benchmark Reform—Amendments 

to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16. Adopting these amendments enables the Group to reflect the effects of 

transitioning from interbank offered rates (IBOR) to alternative benchmark interest rates (also referred to as ‘risk 

free rates’ or RFRs) without giving rise to accounting impacts that would not provide useful information to users of 

financial statements. The Group has not restated the prior period. Instead, the amendments have been applied 

retrospectively with any adjustments recognised in the appropriate components of equity as at 1 January 2021.  

Both the Phase 1 and Phase 2 amendments are not relevant to the Group because it does not apply hedge 

accounting to its interest rate benchmark exposures. 

The amendments are relevant for lease liabilities which reference LIBORs and are subject to the interest rate 

benchmark reform all of which extend beyond 2021 lease liabilities which reference LIBORs and are subject to the 

interest rate benchmark reform. 

The application of the amendments affects the Group’s accounting in the following way:  

When a lease is modified as a direct consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform and the new basis for 

determining the lease payments is economically equivalent to the previous basis, the Group remeasures the lease 

liability to reflect the revised lease payments discounted using a revised discount rate that reflects the change in the 

basis for determining the contractual cash flows. 

 
49. Approval of the financial statements 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 were approved by the Board of 

Directors and authorised for issue on 31 January 2022. 
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Glossary of abbreviations 

ACADL  Al Caribi Antigua Development Limited 
ACDL  Al Caribi Development Limited 
AED  United Arab Emirates Dirham 
AKPI  Al Khaleejiah Property Investments LLC 
ARZAQ  Arzaq Holdings (Private J.S.C.) 
AT1  Additional Tier 1 
Basel III  Basel III: International regulatory framework for banks 
CBI  Commercial Bank International PSC 
CBUAE  the Central Bank of the UAE 
CDs  Certificates of Deposit 
CDS  Credit Default Swaps 
CEO  Chief Executive Officer 
CET1  Common Equity Tier 1 
ECL  Expected Credit Losses 
EIR  Effective Interest Rate 
EPS  Earnings Per Share 
EUR  Euro 
FVTOCI  Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income 
FVTPL  Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 
GBP  British pound sterling 
IAS  International Accounting Standard 
IASB  International Accounting Standards Board 
IASs  International Accounting Standards 
IFB  International Financial Brokerage LLC 
IFRIC  International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
IFRS  International Financial Reporting Standard 
IFRSs  International Financial Reporting Standards 
JPY  Japanese yen 
LGD  Loss Given Default 
LLC  Limited Liability Company 
MURJAN  Al Murjan Real Estate LLC 
OCI  Other Comprehensive Income 
PD  Probability of Default 
POCI  Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired 
SCA  Securities and Commodities Authority of the UAE 
SIC  Standard Interpretations Committee 
SICR  Significant Increase in Credit Risk  
SPPI  Solely Payments of Principal and Interest on the principal amount outstanding 
SPV  Special Purpose Vehicle 
T2  Tier 2 
the GCC  the Gulf Cooperation Council 
the UAE  the United Arab Emirates 
the USA  the United States of America 
TRE  Takamul Real Estate LLC 
USD  United States dollar 
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